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ABSTRACT

LEADERS AND LEADERSHIP AMONG THE IROQUOISs NATIVE
POLITICS AND RELATIONS WITH THE ENGLISH,
1748 - 1764

Michael W. lMcConnell
Master of Arts

YToungstown State University, 1978

Throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, the Irogueis Con-
federacy, or I'ive Nations, exercised great influence and power on the northe
ern colonial frontier. Pecause of thelr geographic location, military prowe
ess, and ability teo inﬂumoe other Indian groups, the Irequois became an ime
portant element in the colonial peliclies of France and England. Yet, by the
end of the eighteenth century, the once=powerful Five Nations were a broken,
powerless people. Historians, in dealing with the relations of the Irogqueis
to the colonial powers, particularly kngland, have tended to emphasize the chrone
ological extremes of a twoecenturies-long relationzhip. Thus, on ene hand,
studies have dealt with the causes and.v consequences of the expansive period of
Iroquois history in the early seventeenth century. On the other hand, historians
have chronicled the decline and dislocation of the Five lations during and after
the American Reveolution. What has been lacking in the histeriegraphy of Iroquois-
English relations, however, has heen an Irequoigecentered study of the period be=-
tween the height of I"ive Nations pewer, in 1701, and the decline of the Confed-
eracy after 1777. MNore specifically, little has been done to ascertain how ree
lations between the Five Nations and the English colonies changed ever time and

the reasons for the decline of the Confederacy.

WILLIAM F. MAAG |IBRART

VNDIIANCCOCTMAIN COCTATE HIMNWNEDRDC



Within the past decade, political anthropologists and ethnohisterians
have developed tools and methods useful in a study of Iroquois-inglish relae~
tions from the perspective of the rFive llations. Two of theses a political
approach 4o ILroquois history, and an emphasis on interest group interactioen,
seem particularly well suited for such a study. By focusing on the irequois
political process, much can be learned about the nature and i‘unetion of local
and Confederacy decisionemaking as it applied to relations with the colonies.
By emphasizing interest group behavior, Irequois politics and leaders can be
placed in 2 cultural context wherein issues, leaders, and definitions of leadere
chip can be assessed and changes due to native perceptions of Uritish pelicies
identified and explained. By the application of these methods to a behavioral
gtundy of Iroquols responses to two crises in relations with the English in the
eighteenth century, changes in policies and attitudes are revealed that help ex=
plain both the nature of Iroquois politics at a critical time and the decline of
Five Nations power late in the ecentury, '
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CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTIONs A POLITICAL APPROACH TO
MID -« EIGHTEENTH CENTURY IROQUOIS HISTORY

The five confederated Iroquois tribes of Central New York have long
been the subject of varied and intensive study by scholars. Of particular
interest has been the relationship of the Five Nations to the several Eng-
1lish colonial govermments and the imperial government in London, However,

a survey of the literature of Iroquois-English relations demonstrates that
several significant aspects of the subject have either been ignored or
dealt with in a superficial manner.

Historians who have dealt with the nature of Iroquois-English relations
have followed essentially two lines of investigation: chronelogical and
motivational. On one hand, much of the material focuses on the extremes of
a two century-long relationship. Beginning with George T. Hunt's influential
The Wars of the Iroquois, a number of studies have shed much light on, and
added much confusion to, the seventeenth century competition for control of
the fur trade.! On the other hand, recent works by Barbara Graymont and
Anthony F. C, Wallace, among others, have shifted historical attention to
the late eighteenth century. Specifically, these studies have concentrated

YGeorge T. Hunt, The Vars of the Iroguois (Madisom University of Wis-
consin Press, 1972). On the subject of. tho fur tndo in the seventeenth cen-
tury, see alsos Peter Wraxall, An Abridgment of India 2
Howard McIlwain (Cambridges Harvard n!.v Prou 15), and Arthur H.
Mﬂngton. "The Policy of Albany and mu-h Huturd lixpu.ndon" Missis-

Sippt Valley Historical Review 8 (1922), 327-366.




on the btreak-down and dispossession of :ho Iroquois as a result of the
American Revolution and their cultural rebirth through the religious re-
vival of Handsome Lake,>

Of a2 more complex and often confusing nature has been the attempt to
identify and explain the motives for the militant expansion of the Imoquois
in the seventeenth century and the reasons for their decline in the late
eighteenth, Hunt and Charles McIlwain initiated a lively debate over Iroquois
motives in the seventeenth century by suggesting, separately, that the wars
worthohmtmhwmtgoromltoftholnqmnudroumm
niddleman’s position rdﬁéin to the French and, later, English fur markets.
This view was challenged by, ameng others, Allen Trelease, who suggested that
the underlying cause of the Beaver Wars was Five Nations insistence en con-
trolling the fur rich western lands. While each side differed over points
of detall, each reflected a similarity of epinien by assigning an economic,
somewhat deterministic, motive to Iroquois policy toward Europeans and other

Graymont suggested that the
League of the Iroquois finally collapsed because it could not accommedate to
stresses and pressures placed upon it by the Anglo-American conflict. Striv-

ing to maintain its historic neutrality, the Confederacy succumbed to the
diplomatic pressures of both sides and split apart, inaugurating a perioed of

Syracuse University Prus. 197 3 p l". G. o.
birth of the Seneca (New Yorks Random House, 1969).




cultural and political decline.’ The nature of the decline and revital-
ization that followed has been dealt with by Wallace. Concerned primarily
with the processes of revitalization among the Seneca, Wallace concentrates
on the historical and cultural events surrounding the message of Handsome
hko.’

While recent scholarship has added much to an understanding of the
Iroquois and their relationship to Inglhh:_ settlements and empire, it has
also served to illustrate what is still lacking in the histery of Iroquois-
English relations. Specifically, three aspects of this subject have been
given little attention by historians: two of these are cultural, the third
is chronological.

First, there is a marked lack of anything approaching a study of the
nechanics of decision-making within and among the Five Nations. That is not
to say that historians of the Iroquois have completely ignored the political
process., Both Graymont and Wallace nuru_u themselves to the political struc-
ture and, in their estimation, the major issues that influenced the Five
Nations in thelr actions and policies. What has been lacking is a behave
ioral approach te Iroquois politics and the forces that shaped the political
process., Such an approach has the advantage of focusing on Iroguolg polit-
ical processes, both intra~ and inter-tribal, rather than simply Indian
reaction to Eurepean initiatives. That abundant sources exist for such a
study was demonstrated by William H. Fenton in "Collecting Materials for a




Political History of the Six latienn".6

Two articles have recently appeared that suggest the value and possi-
bilities of 2 political approach to the history of Indian-European re~
lations, In "Who Should Rule At Home: Native American Polities and Indian-
White Relations", P, Richard Metcalf has offered the political approach as a
solution to a fundamental problem in writing Indian historys the need for a
unifying theme. Borrowing from political anthropology, Metcalf has defined
the political process in btroad terms to include any kind of competition con-
cerning policy, goals, and the distribution of power within a mup.7 As
applied to the study of American Indian history, there is a certain logic
and usefulness to such a definition. In_ tribal socleties, such as the Iro-
quols, the various elements of community life were tightly integrated, not
departmentalized as in western socleties. Thus, a broadly-based political
approach allows the historian to deal with Indian groups as they functioned;
as integrated units, where religious, nd._d. political, and military issues
were all interrelated, According to Metcalf, this approach "requires his-
torians to treat Indians as multidimengional figures, ugh connections to a
political context within their own community as well as to the context of

white onmaehmt."a

6ia114an 1, Fenton, “Oollmtng nuuuns for » Politieal m:tory of

7P, Richard Metealf, "Who Should Rule At Homes Native American Politics
and Indlan-ihite Relations", Journal of American History 61 (1974), 65l.

8rma,



Metcalf further suggests that a political appreach to Indian-white re-
lations necessitates going beyend the “"tribe" as the fundamental political
unit of Indian soclety. Depending on clrcumstances, the unit within which
decisions were reached or problems solved could be larger than, or smaller
than, the tribe.” Anthony Wallace and Fenton have alse demonstrated that, in
fact, the e‘ncoyt of the tribe may be largely artifickal and not accurately
reflective of the realities of Indian social and political organization,?

Robert Berkhofer, whose article “The Political Centext of a New Indian
History" preceded Metecalf's, goes further in suggesting uses of a political
approach to’:Indim-uhtto relations. Such a focus, in Berkhofer®s view, can
help historians deal with two seemingly contradictory themes in Indian his-
toryr the simltaneous existence of forces creating change and the persist-
ence of traditional folkways. By looking at decisionemaking processes over
time, a perspective on the forces causing changes and the nature of persist-
ence can be obtained., In addition, Berkhofer emphaszlizes the study ef the
phenomenon of factionalism within Indian society. A cleser leok at the
nature and o:d,gins of factionalism can reveal information abeut political
processes, issues, and stresses within Indian communities, both native and
European~initiated. 11

%1v1d., 651-52.

10g¢e Anthony F. C. Wallace, "Political Orguuntton and Land Temure Among
the Northeastern Indians, 1600-1830", Southwe: , logy 13
(1957), 3033113 and William H, Fenton, "Locallty

Dcnlmont of Iroquoia Sod.d Shuc'hn'o" 1n William H. Fenton, ed.,

Local . ) Bureau of American
ihdungton. D.c.a

g -7 Institution, 1951), 35-53.
150vert Berkhofer, "The Politicsl Context of a New Indian History”,

in Norris Hundley, ed., W (santa Barbara: American Bibli~
Ographical Center-Clio Press, Inc., 1 » PP« 101-126,



Both authors point to weaknesses in this method., Of special signife
icance is the tendency to couch Indian behavior in terms of native responses
and reactions to Buropean initiatives. Metecalf points to the traditional
emphasgis on "pagan=Christian" or "Progressive~Conservative" themes in the
12 0f equal importance ie the
fallure to see Indian political processes during contact as dynamlc attempts

study of factionalism and reservation life.

to respond to change. It must be recognized that, within a given contact
situation, Indians as well as Buropeans were confronted with alternatives
and were not merely victims of forces beyond their contrel.l3

The second naglected aspect of Iroquois-inglish relations is, in part,
related to the first. Scholars have tended to accept the existence of a
"League of the Iroquois" as a political and diplomatic entity as well as a
cultural expression, However, little has been done to investigate the dy=
namics of the League in a political context to determine whether it served
as an arena for working out problems of leadership, roh.hona with Buropeans,
intra~League unity, or the distribution ef power. One fundamental error
appears to have beaen the acceptancs of eizhteenth century European views of
the League as a coercive govermmental body able to reach decisions and apply
sanctions in a Buropean sense. The danger here is one of distortinz Indian
institutions by defining and studying them in western, rather than Indian,
terns,

Finally, there is the issue of chronology. As has been previously
demonstrated, the bulk of studies relating to Iroquois-white relations have
dealt either with the era of the trade wars and Iroguois expansion in the

124eteals, "Who Should Rule At Heme", 652,
1v1a., 652-65.



seventeenth century, or the decline of the Confederacy at the end of the
elghteenth, From the time of the inception of the famous "play-off" system
in 1701 to the western uprisings of 1743, there is a period of sixty years
that has been virtually ignored by histortans,l*
this study to suggest reasons for that neglect, but rather to suggest some

It 1s not the purpose of

poseibllities in dealing with this period. The problem becomes obvious
after a survey of the literature. In 1701, the Iroquolis emerged as one of
three “great powers" on the frontier; the diplomatic and military equals of
France and ingland. In 1783, they were politically and socially shattered,
living in enclaves in western Canada and New York at the mercy of the Eng=
lish and American govermments, How did such a transition take place? A
study of the neglected years from 1701 to 1763 may offer some tentative
explanations. Specifically, it is suggested that a study of Iroquolis~Eng=-
lish relations with regard to the western frontier between 1748 and 1764,
stressing Ircquols political processes, may reveal many ef the problems and
issues that accounted for the fracturing and docnn? of the Confederacy in

9

-

the late eighteenth century.
The 1748«1764 period produced a number of changes in the relationship
of the Five Nations to the English colonies and home govermment., During
this time, the old Covenant Chain relationship, which had bound the Iroquois
and English closely together, was weakened and drastically altered. The

. DPlay-off system, essential to Iroguois autonomy, was shattered., Irequeis

“'lhe ons significant exception is Randolph C. Downes
(Pittsburghs University of Pittsburgh P:..'ul. 1%5
e to see the period from 1720 to 1795 from the Indian's
Perspective, Downes concentrates largely on European policy and decision=



power, in real terms, declined. Westward expansion, after a comparative
lull of sixty years, again posed grave threats to Iroquols security and
prosperity., In short, the perlod offers a number of critical situations
that acted on Iroquols-English relations simultaneously, These situations
offer a context within vwhich to examine the political processes ¢f the Five
Hations and in which to ascertain the nature of the Iroquels "League".

A study of Iroquois-English relations in the west from 1748 to 1764
suggests several specific questionss what men and issues, both Indian and
English, shaped the decision-making processj what were the motives dehind
Irogquois actions and stated policles; did the Five Nations successfully
adapt to changes in frentier diplomacy; in what ways did the Iroguois de=
cicion-making strueture and process change, and what elements persisted
‘thrnghcut the period? In the decisionemaking process, who were the leadersg
how did the definition of "leader" change over time? Finally, what was the
rature of the Iroquois League? ihat kinds of functions did it perform?

Did 4t chntribute to the Iroguois ability to adapt to the changing context
of relations with the British colonies?

The fifty yeers prior to 1748 had witnessed a continuous, indecisive,
sparring between France and England in North America. This conflict was at
once economic, geographical, and political., The magstay of the French
colonial ecomomy in North America had long been the fur trade, By the end
of the seventeenth century, French Uanadians had been forced to go farther
West in order to obtain prime pelts in sufficient quantity to support the
trade,15 1In Bnglich New York end Wew England the trade was also an important,

provene

5me Canadian trade and the problems it created for France are examined
in Willian J, Eccles, France in America (New Yorks Harper & Row Publishers,
1972), and William J. Eecles, (A1tuquerques
University of New Mexico Press,



but by no means vital, businoas enterprise. Iu order to protect its trade
from dnglish competition, France found it necessary to prevent the penctrae-
tion of the Great Lakes reglon and the 1llinols country by English traders
and settlers:s Yo do this it was necessary to Control the river systems
that led to these reglons. Through the use of mission stations and forti-
fied trading posits, the French eventually galned control over the dlagara
portage, the strait at Detroit, and the lower Ohlo Valley. The object was
to create an arc of settlements and military posts from Quebec to the Gulf
of Mexico which would prevent English penetration beyond the Appalachian
‘Mountains, Such a program seemingly reached fruition when, in 1718, Hew
Crleans was established at the mouth of the Mississippl Rivex.

Politically, the struggle centered on galning contxol, or at least in-
fluence, ovar the several dozen Indian groups ooeui:,yina the disputed lands.
These people held the key to the success of elther Vrench or English policy
relative to the west, for these Indlans supplied the furs essential to the
trade and effectively occupied the lands both powers sought.

The Iroquols of ceutral New York had always played & significaant role
in this imperial contest. By virtue of thelr geographic location, they
stood between the French in Canada and the English in New York and to the
south, Further, the western member of their confederacy, the 3eneca, occupied
both sides of the Nlagara portage, the strategic link between the St. Law=
Trence Valley and the upper Great Lakes,

The Irogquois dealt ereatively with the changing circunmstances of the
early phases of the struggle. In fact, thelr involvement began as an ex=
tension of the half century=long trade wars, during which they had attempted,
albeit unsuccessfully, to drive the French and French-allled Indians from




the fur hunting grounds of the eastern Great Lakes. English solicitation
of Iroquois military ald after 1689 allowed the Five Nations to pursue
thelr own ambitlions wlth the support of English weapons and manpower.
Recognizing their strategic location relative to the two European
powers, the Iroguois were able to gain substantial concessions from each
gide in line of trade, weapons, and guarantees of security and alliance.
This attenpt to balance French and English power in the west was institution-
alized in 1701 through a smeries of negotiations which culminated in two
treatiecsy one signed at Montreal, the other at Albany. These treaties
established the "play-off" aystem, whereshy the Five Mations sought to main-
tain their own power and security by meintaining a state of armed neutrality
in the face of Duropean expansion and ccmﬂ.‘.ts‘c.16 This amounted to a dip=~
lomatic revolution, making the Troqueis not only the diplomatic equals of
the Buropeans, but the indispensible partners of both sides. To the French,
the Five Nations promised neutrality and a willingness to allow western Ine
dlans passage through Iroguols lands in order to trade at Montreal and other
posts, To the English, their traditional trading partners, the Iroquois
pledged cooperation in bringing western tribes to Albany for twrade and, in
8 move of some significance for later events, oceded for defensive purposes
their western lands, These lands, especially those in the upper Chio Valley,
would, in the courze of the next fifty years, become the focal point of a
Protracted and decislve conflict between Tngland and France,

i

16por the details of the 1701 treaties and Iroquois policy at that
tine, ses Anthony F. C. Wallace, "Origins of Iroquois Neutrality:s The
Grand Settloment of 1701", Pennsylvenia History 2% (1957), 223-235.



The Iroquois policy of armed neutrality worked well during the succeed-
ing four decades of international competition over the trans-Appalachian
west, During Queen Anne's War and again during King George's War, the Five
Nations, much to the consternation of their English allies, "remained on
their mats" and allowed the Furopean powers to wage war on each other.

There was little that the colony of New York or the royal governmment could
do. Any attempt to force Irequois participation could alienate the very In-
dians who protected the colony's western frontier.

During the period from 1701 to 1748, treaty relations with the Tnglish
became more complex, This is best illustrated by tracing the evolution of
a treaty institution known as the Covenant Chain, This term was used mete
aphorically to describe the special relationship that had developed sinee
the mideseventeenth century between the Five Nations, Dutch, and English
govermments of New York, Under this system, the Buropeans rcoognhéd the
Iroguois as the dominant Indian group in the region and supported them in
their control over the Mahicans, other so-called "River Indlans”, and later
the Delawares and Shawnee. In return, the Iroquols were expected to guard
the western frontier, using their dependent tribes as auxiliaries, and to
police the west for their Duteh, and later, English partaers.t’

By the middle of the eighteenth century, this Covenant Chain had been
enlarged and extended to include other colonies, notably Pennsylvania, In
1731 that colony institutionalized its earlier dealings with the Iroquois by
inviting representatives of the Five Mations to Philadelphia. A council fire

l?l"or the historical development of the Covenant Chaln idea, see
"l‘uwis Jonnings. “The Gonstituﬂ.om svelutlon of the Covenant (haln',

dety 115 (1971), 88-96.




vwas symbolically created and a treaty negoiiated whereby the Quaker coleny,
at the behest of its Indian agent, James Logan, entered the Chain of Friend-
ghip. The reasons were similar to those outlined above: recognition of
Iroqueis claims of conquest over other tribes and lands in return for Five
Nations help in managing the frentier. Such management was necessary for
the profitable maintenance of the fur trade and land speculation schemes.'®
As a result of this arrangement, the Pennsylvania offfclals acknowledged
Iroquois dominion over the Susquehanna and Chio Valley lands and contrel
over the Indians occupying those lands. To the Five Nations, this meant
sinply recognition of the traditional patterns of mutual obligations that
had been worked out over several decades between the Confederacy and tribes
who, for a variety of reasons, had placed themselves under Iroquois pro-
tection and nominal control. To Englishmen, this arrangement meant the
simplification of Indian relations by placing all negotiations in the hands
of the Iroquois council at Onouhgs.r What this meant in practical texms can
be illustrated by the now famous 1742 Philadelphia conference, held to settle
differences that had arisen over the 1737 Walking Purchase. When the Delawares
balked at consummating the questionable purchase, the Five Nations were
btrought in. With no little amount of prompting from Logan's agents, they
publically warned the Delawares to vacate the deeded land and remove to a
spot designated by the Onondaga council,l’

Bynthony F. C. Vallace, 1 : onist
and Mohawk (Philadelphia: Univer of Pennsy. Press, 1945), passinm.

190r a traditional explanation of this event, ses Julian P. Boyd,
"Indian Affairs in Pennsylvania, 1736-1762", in Carl Van Doren and Julian P.
Boyd, eds., Indian Treaties Printed by Benjamin Franklir 6=1762 (19383
Teprint Ann Arbor: University Microfilms, 1977), pp. xxviii-xxxiil. For a
Sonflicting ethnohistorical perspective, see Francis Jennings, "The Delaware
M'o Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Bilography 89 (1965). 174-198,
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Coupled with the widening scope of the Covenant Chain was a shift in
Iroquois population during the first four decades of the eighteenth century.

Particularly after 1730, large mumbers of Iroquois people had migrated into

the umnr Ohio Valley, settling at Cuyahoga, Logstown, and along the upper

" Allegheny. The reasons for this migration are still unclear, but food short-

ages at home has been suggested as one possitle explanation.?® The result of
this transplanting of Iroquois people was the slow, but perceptible, develop-
ment of a new Iroquois "nation", the Mingo. The term as used on the frontier
came to define any and all of the Iroquois then residing on the Ohioc. What
was to be more significant was the degree of political and cultural autonemy
that developed along with the new identity. While still nominally subordinate
to the Iroquois in New York, the Mingo habitually stressed their independence
and had become, by the time of the Revolution, a separate people.

The circumstances that had governed Iroquois-English relations for
half a century suddenly changed in the closing years of the seventeen forties.
Beginning with King George's War, events took place that shook the founda-
tion on which rested the complexity of relationshipe that secured Iroquoie
power and independence. Two decades later, in 1768, at the treaty grounds
near Fort Stanwix, the Five Nations would face an entirely different set of
circumstances from those that had prevailed since 1701,

Much of Iroquois culture during the fifty years before 1748 had survived
intact, and the Five Nations still reflected much of their traditional customs,
beliefs, and 1ifestyles. At the same time, sustained contact with Europeans
had wrought a mmber of changes, both in material culture and in attitudes

——

®pownes, Gouncil Pires, p. 4.
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and secial structure.

While accurate figures for the perioed prior te 1768 are lacking, in-
dications are that Iroqueis population remained relatively stable throughout
the early eighteenth century. Estimates made by anthropolegists and ethno-
graphers have placed Iroquois population for the peried at between 3,500
and 15,000 people.” In 1763, Sir William Johnson, Indian Superintendent
for the northern colonies, sent an emumeration of all tribes within his de-
partment to the Board of Trade. This list shows the Five Natiens, exclusive
of listed dependents, to have a total of 1,950 warriors, which would place
the total population at between 8,000 and 10,000 people.>> Further, sizable
nunbers of Iroquois had migrated westward to the Ohio Valley and Lake Hrie.
Conrad Welser placed their number at 306 fighting men, or a tetal population
of perhaps 1,200 people.>

These 9,000 to 11,000-0dd Iroqueis were living in a large number of
villages, varying in size from small hunting camps to semi-permanent towns
such as Canajoharie and Genesee., By the middle of the eighteenth century,
the classic longhouse had given way to smaller dwellings in most towns, and
stockaded villages were a thing of the past.?’ lritten evidence tends to in-

2ly1111an H. Fenton, wm;m.num . unummu.n-
eock and Nancy Oestreich Lurie, eds., Nert A 4.
Berspective (New York: Random House, 15
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dicate that the Iroqueis were living in a widely scattered state, or at
least it appeared so to security-minded Englishmen. There are repeated
rdcpnogs at treaty conferences of requests that the Five Nations go back

to the old ways of living tegether in large, fortified, villages, and step
living in such a decentralized condition. The contimuing necessity ef
hunting for furs may partly explain this tendency as might also the suggest-
ion that famine, or at least local food shortages, were plaguing the Five
Fations at this time.”” French mission stations and trading posts such as
those at Oswegatchie and Niagara also had the effect of drawing some Iroqueis
awvay from the more settled areas.

These villages and thelr occupants stood at the center of a vast expanse
of Iroquois-owned, or dominated, territory. Aside from the traditional
homelands along the Mohawk and Genesee Rivers, the Irogqueis lald clair to the
Susquehanna Valley, the Ohio Valley as far as the Great Kanawa River, the
southern shore of Lake Erie, and to settlements near the Bay of Quinte on
the northern shore of Lake Ontario. Te the north, their lands extended te
the St. Lawrence River and the mountains of Vermont. Much of this land had
cone to the Five Nations through the trade wars of the previous ecentury, or
through claims supported by interested English govermments as part of the
Covenant Chain relationship. These lands were occupied by a variety of Ine
dian people, representing parts or all of tribes whe had been dispossessed
by the combined effects of disease, war, and land-hungry Buropeans. While
@ifferent in terms of culture and history, these people were looked upon as
Rembers of the Iroquois Confederacy. They served as its "props" and, in

pr—

%>Report of Myndert Wemp, in Documents Relative, VII, pp. 101-102.
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return for helping to protect the Five Nations, they were given land, secur-
ity, and an opportunity to share in the Iroguois vision of a universal, peace~
ful community as taught by the prophet Deganawida. In terms of numbers and
the role played in the events of the peried, the Delawares and Shawnees
occupled a particularly important pesition as dependent tribes.

Materially, the Iroqueis in the 1740s were showing signs of a century
of contact with fur traders, merchants, farmers, and other elements of the
English community. BMuskets, plows, domestic animals, cloth, brightwork, and
household utensils were all common sights in Iroqueis villages by mid-century.
This adoption of Eureopean material culture had led to greater changes in
seme aspects of Iroqueis culture. As an example, warfare, once a localized
affair of limited impact, was now becoming Eurepeanized both in texms of
methods and objectives. The trade wars had an economic as well as a cultural
motive and had resulted in the destruction ef whole tribes, netably the Huron.
Guns had supplanted bows, and clubs had given way to steel hatchets. There
was also a revolutionary change in attitudes toward warfare. In chiding
their lnglish allies for a lack of military effort against the French, one
group of Iroquols suggested that the English should follow "our manner
[;hicﬂ is to destroy a natien and there's an end of 1t."z6

However, as Anthony Wallace has reminded us, adeption of Duropean goods
did not indicate that Mehawks, Onondagas, or Senecas were any less Iroquoian
in their attitudes and non-material oculture.>’/ Evidence suggests that many
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elements of Ivoquols culture had survived intact from pre-contact times.

Women contimued to play a central role in family life and the politiecal
life of the Five Nations. The clan gystem was still organized matrilineally,
with the mothers of each clan segment in 2 village selecting a representa=
tive to the village councils. Politically, there is evidence to suggest
that, as late as the 1750s, women were playing an influential role in coune
¢ils, deeision-making, and leader selection. In 1756, at one of several
councile held with Sir William Johnson, Searouady, the Ohlo llalf-king, re=
quested that Johnson bring the women up to date on events, "for their ine-
fluence is a matter of no small consequence with our fighters." Johnson,
hard pressed to keep the Irequois falthful and actively employed in the ing=
lish interest, willingly complied.”

The forms of decisionemaking appear to have survived relatively ine
tact into the middle of the century. The protoecel of the council, the use
of the condolence ceremony, and decisione-making through consensus are all
very much in evidence in the written records of the period. Uhat does appeax
to have been changing was the status of leaders and definitions of leader=
ship, Iroquois leadership often appeared confusing to Buropeans who talked
10 ore man while, in reality, negotiating with groups of men and women who
Tremained nameless and faceless throughout the negotiating process. Lvidence
indicates that by the 1740s negotiations with the English were being con=
Gucted by men other than the fifty sachems of the Confederacy council. These
men, the "Pine Tree Chiefs", were of less than sachem rank, selected by the
» Onondaga council as spokesmen or messengers. The criterion for seleetion
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appears to have been the nature of the Pine Tree Chief's relationship with
the English., Thus, village elders such as Hendrick Peter of Canajoharie, or
Red Head of Onondaga, acted as points of contact between their people and
fnglish officials.” What has not yet been determined is how far these
Pine Tree Chiefs went in acting independently of Onondaga or the village
councils, or whether they may have been partly responsible for the factional
disputes that arose within the Iroquois community during the eighteenth cen-
tury.

Factionalism, on an intraeconfedevacy and inter-tribel besis, wes very
much in evidence by the middle of the century. There was a recognizable
pro-French faction within the Seneca that had its roots in the imperial rival-
ries eerlier in the century,® A move obvious conflict, in terms of its
appearance in the recerds, was that between the Upper, or Canajoharie, Mohawks,
and the Lower, or Fort Hunter, Mohawk village. By the 1740s this conflict
seems to have become institutionalized to the peint where references to meet-
ings specifically identified the "Canajoharies and Mohawks." > The questiens
that rmin t0 be answered are to what degree such factionaliesm was long term
or short-lived, and whether it can be attributed te issues arising from con-
tqet. or from purely Iroquois sources.

29)‘on'tcm, "The Iroquois in History", p. 148,
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CHAPTER IX

CRISIS IN THE WEST: mm-mxms;
1748 - 1754 '

Writing to his colony's officlal interpreter in October of 1750,
Pennsylvania's Provincial Secretary, Richard Peters, noted that “Indian
affalrs are in a most lamentable conditlion, It seems to me that our only
geme to play 1ls with the Ohio Indians and Tﬂshtwns."3z This statement
wes Indicative of a dramatic change then teking place in Iroguois-English
relations in the Chio Country. This change was tased largzely on the dual
perceptions of an increased French threat te IEnglish commercial interests
in the Valley and 2 decrease in Iroqueis ability o redress the threatened
belance of power. Acting on these perceptions, Penugylvania sought to pro-
tect her interests by direct involvement in the affairs of the Ohio Valley
Indlans, ©Such a policy struck at the heart of the &Wmant Chalin relatlon=
ship by which the Five Nations were upheld as the sole bargaining agent and
political force in the region. The ultimate result of this shift in policy
Was an Anglo-French cenfrentstion in the Ohio Country, the disruption of
traditional Indian-Indian relations in the region, and the beginning of a
general conflict that threatened the security and integrity of the Iroqueis
Confederacy and its position relative to Ingland and France.

The story of the conflict on the Ohlo has been well documented and re=
%614, largely from the perspective of the Huropean participante. What has




been given far less attention is the position and actions of the Ohlio In-
dians and the Iroquois in the years prior teo the beginning of open warfare.
In particular, little has been sald on the questien of whether English pere
ceptions concerning Iroqueis power were correct. Further, there is a need te
understand Iroqueis pelicy in the Ohio Country in the years after 1748 te
determine why the Five Nations acted as they did in specific instances, or
why they chese net to act at all. Before pursulng this subject, it is neec-
essary to review conditions in the Ohie Country between 1748 and 1754 and
follow the behavier of the various participants as a crisis developed.

In 1748, the Ohio Valley was inhabited by a varlety of Indlans, many of
whom had only recently moved into the region. The Valley wes dominated, tech~
nically, by the Five Nations, who had laid claim to it as 2 result of their
victory over the Erie and other indigenous peoples in the seventeenth century.
While few Iroquols inhabited the region prier te the 1740s, they encouraged
its settlement by other bands and tribal greups in an effert to create an
effective buffer between the Confederasy proper and the westward moving peo-
ples of Pennsylvania, Maryland, and Virginia., Much the same situation pre-
valled in the Susquehanna Valley, where Delaware, Coney, Tutele, and Tuscarera
bands acted as 2 sereen between the Irequois and English settlements to the
south,

Many of the Indians who eventually settled irn the Ohio Country moved
there to escape the same kind ef English encroachment that the Iroqueis were
80 anxious to aveid., The most significant of these groups was the Delaware,
¥he began moving west in large mmbers in the 1730s, as their lands in the
- Delavare Valley were expropriated by the Penns, Another group was the co-

- ®alled Bastern Shawnee, who had migrated into Pemnsylvania frem the southern




Ohie Valley and had moved west after 1720, A cosmopolitan native population
wae further created by the presence of the Twightwees, or Miami, from the
Sandusgky and Detroit areas, some few bands of Ottawas, the Wyandot who move
ed eastward during King George's War, and settlements of Seneca, lohawk,

and Cayuga huzrl;eucs.33

ividence sugzests that Irequois political dominion over the Ohio Valley
and 1ts people was of recent origin and tenuous at best. In 17483, at a cone
ference held at Logstown on the Ohio, Conrad Weiser noted that he had been
approached by the Seneca Tanacharilson, who regquested some trade goods to be
used by him as presents, Tanacharison and his Onelda counterpart, Scarouady,
had been dispatched by the Onendaga council to uphold Iroguois interests in
the Ohio Valley and to act as speakersg for the officially mute "hunters" in
the region., Their appointment had be§n s0 recent, in fact, that they had
"nothing in their Council bag, « « « gither to recompense a lessenger or te
gt Wampum to do Dusiness, « o« +"

During the decade prior to 1748, fnglish traders, most of them from
Pennsylvania, had penetrated deep inte French dominated territery south of
 Lake Erie. Some of these men had simply fellowed their former customers as
they moved into the Ohie region. Others, principally Ceorge Croghan, sought
to penetrate the French trading empire and deal directly with Indians hereste-

iy 3301: the subjoct of the Indian mmunn en tho Otn.o. seet Dounes.



fore outside the English sphere of uﬂ.uenoo.” Backed by superior gquality
goods at checaper prices than the French were offering, Croghan and his
fellow businessmen were making a shambles of the French trading network,
driving French traders from the field and, far worse, drawlng local tribes
into the English trading establishment. 3Some groups, such as the Miami and
Wyandot, physically moved east from Detroit te settle in the Cuyahoga and
Miami River valleys, closer to British goods and British protection.

The result of this economic activity uu the transfermation of a previous=
ly peaceful region into a ceckpit of Anglo-French conflict for econonic and
political control of the area. With the sudden arrivael of mmerous, welle
supplied Dnglish traders, the delicate balance of power in the west had been
upset, TFaced vith fnglich invagion and the loss of thelr own western empire,
the Trench reacted guickly. Thelr reaction, like that of the Unglish as suge-
gested by Michavd Telers, was radically different from what bad been commen
in the peried prior Lo 1745, Instead of working diplomatically through the
Iroquois to vemove the Unglish trada'rs/a_m restore the balance of power, the
French determined on unilateral military action. Further, that action was
not aimed at restoring a former conditiong it was almed ai driving the Lnge
ligh from the area and extending French authority over the entire transe

- Appalachian region. The logic behind such a plan seens similar to that which
Proupted a shift 1o Dnglish policy at the same times the realization that the

~ Tive Nations could not or would not act effectively to maintain the balance

©f power in the west.” In 1743, as the Trench began meking plans for their

”An excellent summary of Pennsylvania's trading sctivity on the Ohle
Muma Le muuunmA. Hunter's "Traders on the Ohio: 1730",
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military sweep of the Ohio Valley, Pemnsylvania's officials were taking
their first, uncertain, steps away from the Covenant Chaln and toward & new

'. Indian poliey.

Tt may be argued that this change in Englich policy toward the Ohio Ine
dilans and the wes® wae unplanned and that Pennayl;ania. and later Virsicia,

-~ ginply took advantage of clreumstances as they develeped. The came nay be
sald of the Ohio Tndlans, who acted to =zecure the hest possible position for
themselves in the faece of a growing Anglo-French competition for a region
that these Indians st1ll saw an thelr owm. Just how far these people were
m1lling to go toward maintaining their owm seourity is 1llustrated by the
1747 conference held at Philadelphia. This meeting, vnplannad and %aking the

 Pnglish somevhat by surprise, was held at the reguest of the chiefe and ware

- ylors representing the various Ohlo Indians, including a substantial mmber
of Irvoquols, The speaker was Searouady, whose name appeared in the racords
for the first tima. Concerned about the war then golng on bhetween Tngland

' and France, Secarouady, speeking for the "younz men", sald that his people
- were unhappy with ths declsion of the "old men" to remain neutral and vere

willing to flzht with the English, 1f they could be glven something other
 #hen "sticks & Mickerles® with which to attack the Fremch,>! The "old men®
| referred to by Searousdy weme the sachens of Onendaga. Mot enly were the
Ohlo Tndian~ wi1ling to engage in the war in the homes of establishing s
Permanent fnglish trade in their region but, Scarovady hinted, they would
- @statlich theilr own couneil five the following year at Logstown and that the
English should couneil with them thers at that time.
The 1747 neeting evidenced a stri'ing amount of independence on the part

¥allace, Jonred Welser, p. 250.



of Indians who were, in the eyes of the Mive Nations, only "hunters" une
fit to act as Aplomatc or councilors. The willingness of these people

to take decisive action while the Irogqueis remained aloef from the con=
flicet prompted Pennsylvania to respond by sending a small present ‘o the
Ohio, to be followed next vear by a fll conference at Logstoim., The do=
eision vas not easily arrived at and prompted 2 debate between James Logan,
vho wished to maintain the 0ld relationship with the Treguois, and those,
including Welcer and Richard Peters, who saw the advantages of direct ine
tervention in the Ohio Valley. In the end, considerations of trade and
practicality won and Pemmsylvania began to shift 1ts longestanding pesition
relative to Onondsga and the western tribes. Iroquoels reaction to this
threat to the Covenant Chain was predictable, it muted. Prior %o departe
ing for Logstowm in 1748, Velser met with Shickellemy, Iroquols rerrescnta=
tive on the Susquehanna, Shickellamy sugzested that any dlrect necotiations
with the Ohio Indians were inmappropriate and would undermine the anthority
of the Onondaza council in its dealings with these and other dependent Ine
d1ans, 38 v

Before Weliser conld depart for Logstoym, another delegatlion of Indians

arrived. At Laneaster, in July of 1708, Scarousdy returned with a larse dele
egation of Twightwees who were seeking admissien inte the Covenant Chain,
They may have been prompted to do so by Croghan and other English traders
¥he had been active among these people for several years. Speakine through
Searcuady, the Twightwees held out the prospect of a lucrative trade in re=
turn for English protection., This protection vas all the more necessary

. —
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since the Twightwees had already btwroken with the French and had moved away
from Detreil. Lvents within the next four years would prove their concerm
for security correct. <The Hlami alliance offered dazzling opportunities for
Pennsylvania's traders and merchants. Indications were that a successful
treaty with the Ilwightuees would result in similar alliances with virtually
all the Ohio and Illinois trives. The offer was too good to refuse, On the
19th of July a treaty was concluded by which the Miamis were soleunly trought
into the Covenant Chain as the "lrothers” of the lnglish and Iroqueis.

“Two things should be noted here. Iirst, 1l was the colony that was inviting
in a new member to the Govenant, with the approval of the Ohio Iroqueis, but
without the immediate suppori of Onondaga. Second, the importance and ine
dependence of the Mlaml tribe was confimmed by their status as one of the
“oretheren” zather than as "ausphew" or “child", terms that reflscted dependent
status.

With Welsexr's arwival on the Ohle and participation ln the lightlng of
the council fire at Logsiown, Peunsylvania's change in policy was vivitually
complete. usconomic considerations, coupled with the apparent refussl of the
droguois to act in the colony's interest against the Freuch, made direct
alliances with the Uhio Indlaus both profitatle and strategically necessary.
N0 sooner had Pennsylvania made her move than the French began to reclainm the
Tegion for Louis i, Celeron's expedition of 1749 and the appcarance in the
Valley of the Joncaize trothers and other French agents twought the two sides
&nd the Iuddans closer to a renewal of the imperial conflict. ‘

Virginia provided another, albelt negative, incentive for the Ohic Ine
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dians to comstruct alliances with the Pemnsylvanians. While Welser was at
Logstovn, a group of gentlemen fiom Virginia were tueily organizing the

Chie Company for the greater exploitation of the Ohlo Valley and the greate
er profit for themselves, Within twoe years they had dispatched their ad-
vance agent, Christopher Gist, on a scouting mission into the Valley; a
mission whose purpose was the location of land sultable for sale and settle-
ment by the Company under previsions of its royal charter. Cist's appearance,
coinciding as it did with increased French military activity, increased feel=

ings of apprehension among the local Iudia.ns.~°

Among those loeking with
concerm at this stranger with the compass were the Ohio half-kings and the
Onondaga council. Word of Gist's mission was certainly mnmittod to Onon=
daga, Wis mission was certainly no secrch sinee, as he stated, he was question=-
ed closely by suspicious Indians about his presence in the Valloy.u Aoting
on behalf of Virginia, Conrzd Welser approached the Ononda.ga councll‘ with
an invitation to come to ths colony and formally clear Iregueis title to
the 1land Cist had selected; land that, in thg ovinion of the Virginia soverne
ment, wae already within the defined limits of the colony. This the Trequols
refumed to do, citing the fact that such a meeting was without precedent and
that pressing businesy prevented negotia*iens. Not to be undons by the seem-

~ ing intransigzence of one group of Indians, the Dhie Company had instrmcted
Gist o irvite the local tribes o Virginia for the same purpose, The pre=-

- valling opinion seemed to be that signatures were needed on a deed, it did

”Jermings. "Trdans® Revolution™, pp. 324=25,




not really watiter whose they were., AL any rate, the Ohlo Indians, speak=
ing through Tanacharison, indicated thelr reluctance to attend. >

By 1750 then, the Chio Valley ladians and thelxr nowminal overlords in
New fork were facing a arlsls. The reglon, long a safe haven against white
expanslon, was now the taxgel of Paunsylvanian, Viggiaslan, and rrench lue
terests. Thomas and Chavert Joncaire, Uhristopher Gist and company, and
the Yenusylvania traders wewre all competing for land, twade, and poliiical
favors from the local Indians. Sopcthing of the dilemma faced by these Lne
dians and the basic ambivalence of Iroquols policy ai the tlue cau be gather=
ed by examining the careers of the two Ohio haliekingss ‘lanacharison and
searouady.

Little iz knowm about either of these men prio:g ‘o thelr arrival in the
Chio Velley; in fact, any exact determination of that arrival iz difficult.
Tanacharison appears te have besn the senior of the two, at least in auther=
ity, being referred to most often as "the Half=king". Ocaroualdy inherited
the official title upon Tanacharison's death in l?fé. That both men were
recent arxrivals on the Ohio is testified to by ithelr exchange with Welser

in 1748, lwvidsnce suggests that they arrived elther in 1747 or shorily bee

fore., UCecarouady was present at the 1747 Fhilladelphia conference, which seems

%0 have been hls first appearance at such an ev«am;.!‘3

The title "half-king" applied to these men ie one exsmple of the LurBe

"'3ntth biographic information exists for elther Tanacharisen er
Searo Hm.ever, ugeful 1nfomation can be found ias Willlam A, Hunter,
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pean tendency to equate Indian ranks and functions in western terms. Neither
man was a king in any European sense. Their coersive power was severely
limited and much of their autherity came to rest on English, rather than
Indian, aid and acceptance, Rather, these men reflected the traditional In-
dian view of reciprocal obligations and consensual authority. Each man had
been dispatched to the Valley to reside with, and serve as Iroquois represent-
ative to, one of the twe major Indian groups in the area. Tanacharison was
mutmm.smumm,mmmumm.“
Their task appears to have been twofold: to act as the Irequois spokesmen
on the ground and to uphold decisions arrived at by the Onondaga council;
and to act as spokesmen for the local Indians who, by Iroquois definition,
were officially mute. Thus, in a real sense, cach man served two masters,
one in New York and another in the Ohie Valley. What complicated their posi-
tion was the intreduction of other men from Pemnsylvania and Virginia whe

would alse be masters. It should also be noted that the selection of these

men was not haphasard by any means. Tanacharison, a Seneca who may have
lived on the Ohio for some years, was selected as spokesman for the Delaware
since that tribe traditionally lecked to the Seneca as their special pro-
tectors of "fathers". The Oneida had a similar relationship with the Shaw-
nee who had migrated from the Susquehanna Valley. Thus the appeintment of
Scarouady, an Oneida, to act as spokesman for that tribe.

The primary responsibility of these men was to maintain the Ohio Valley
&8 a demilitarized region and one controlled by the Iroquois. This was nec-
essary in order to ensure the security of the dependent peoples and to pre- ‘
vent the Five Nations from being drawn into any Eurepean struggle. Increas- |
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ingly, this policy became untenable, with the Halfekings seeliing Hnglish

ald against what they saw as French military aggression. The reault uwas
preci‘sely what the Iroguols and local tribes had tried to avoids a DBuropean
conflict that threatened the gecurity of the region and the stability of
local political relations, To blane suo;h circungtances entirely on the Ohio
Half-kings is to ignere the mature of the situation in which they and their
folioweccs found themselves. The position that they were expected to maine
tain becane more and more difficult in view of COeleron's expedition and the
activities of the Ohio Cempany and English traders. Murther, they could net,
practically speaking, ignore the pelitical realities in the Ohio Uountry,
particularly the growing political and nilitary significance of the local
tribes. Finally, in the absence of direct Iroqueis interveniion in the afe
falre of the rezion, Tanzcharison and Scareuady were ultimately forced to act
alone in the best interests of their charges ﬁld themselves. They were cen=

sored and at times wepudiated by Onondaga, yet they did act positively and
creatively to protect the Ohio Country and its people from invasion.

Between 1748 and 175%, the Ohio Indians, through the Haif-kings. engaged
] in a mumber of conferences and treaties with the governments of Pennsylvania
| and Virginia. From the Indian point of view, these conferences sexrved to
mthepolitimlgspbdtmtholmhmdthdrmlmlm”tbe
Ohlo, They also served to emhance the newly declared independent status of
the Ohio Indians, perticularly the Mingo Iroquois. In addltion, these meei~
ngs are indicative of the contimuing effort by the Ohio Indians te work out
accomnodation with the Europeans while maintaining their independence.
€ considerations influenced these people to seek English aid against
French, tut vhe Indlans continued, on a local level, the larger play=off




system that had become characteristie of Indian diplomacy throughout the
peried. Kot until 1752 did the Ohio Indlans give taclit agreement to the
military occupation of the Valley and, even then, evidence suggests that
the agreement was more by way of a political expedient than a fundamental
change of pelicy.

The first, and in some ways most significant, of these conferences was
held at Logstown in the Fall of 1748. The meeting was held to confirm an
alliance created in July of that yeaxr between the Twightwees and the Fenne-
sylvanians and Ixroquois. At the same time, Conrad Welser, representing the
colony, was t0o give formal recognition to the new council fire at Logstowm,
as announced at the 1747 Philadelphia meeting. The lighting of this fire
vas a symbolic act of independence on the part of the OChie Indians. It
announced to all, including the Five Nations, their self-proclaimed status
8s councilors end diplomste able to conduct business in their own name.''”
Having seized the belance of power in the region by acting independently of
the Five Nations, the Ohio Indians, led by the Mingo Iroqueis, were free to
negotiate with Pennsylvania, Virginia, or the French as their own interests
dictated. They gratefully acoepted Welser's gift of 1,000 pounds sterling en
behslf of Pennsylvania and Virginia, but made no commitment other than promises
ummnmtnumunmmummm-.

Tt should be noted that the choice of Logstown as the new capital of the
Ohe Indians was no accident. Logstown was the home of Tanacharison and was
the major Iroquols community on the upper Ohio. It appears that the light~
ing of the council fire there served to enhance the power and prestige of
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that sachem as well as the people he represented. In fact, Tanacharison may
have been particularly sensitive about his position as leader of the Ohie In-
dians. Upon Welser's arrival in 1748, delegates from the Delaware villages
at Xuskuskis on the Mahoning River to the north asked that the council be
moved to that site. At Tanacharison's urging, Welser refused, saying that
Logstovn hed been selected as the proper site for the meeting.’® Thus it
appears that the Helf-king may have been struck by a sense of his own stature
as the lecal pover broker. For whatever reason, Tanacharison was henceforth
the acknowledged leader of the Ohio Indians, Iroquois and others, until his
death, Hic title, but not his power, them pessed to Scarousdy,

The French expedition into the Valley in 1749, led by Celeron de Blaine
ville, and subsequent rumers of increesed French military activity aimed at
the area, caused the local tribes to act in an increasingly independent
manner. This was particularly true of the Ohio Iroquois. Unahle to rely on
ascistance from the Five Natlions, who contimued to maintain a strict neutral-
ity in the affairs of the reglon, the Ohio Indians were forced to deal with
changing circumstances as best they could. This in turn encouraged mere in-
dependent action and a heightened sense of importance on the part of these
people. This feeling was given veice at a meeting held at Ceorge Croghan's
Aughwick settlement in 17%0. The Minges took the oppertunity at this gath-
ering to volce their dissatisfaction with the treatment accorded them by
their elders in Wew York, In particilar, they wished te recelve part of the

Price received by the Five Nations for recent land cessions. Such, they felt,
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was thelr due, sivce they were of the Five Natlons.! Purther, they served
notice that "We are now become a stronger body than when we received the
present from our Brothers the Governors of Virginia and Pennaylvania, and
have got many te Jjoin us, and are becoie a2 CGreat Dedy, and desire teo be
taken notice of as suchy and for ihis purpose our nations by us present
tids belt,"*

The arrivel of I'rench forces in the Ohioe Country alse alarmed intereste
ed English parties and spurred both Pennsylvania and Virginia to actien.
While the llingos were counselling with Croghan in 1750, Christopher Gist was
making his way inte the Valley to fulfill his instructions from the Ohlo

" Company. Gist's arrival couplicated the politics of the Ohio Indians and

for other Luropeans. For the Indians, Gist was a menace, representing as he
did men who wanted land, nct m.l@ To Fennsylvania, the presence of Vire
gluia agenis represented a threat to the colony's expanding tvade with the
western Indians. To the French, the projected setltlement of the Chie Country
by Virginia posed a serious strategie threat that had to be met immediately,
by force if necessary. Hach side took sieps to secure or enlarge its posie
ftﬂattheexpamoofthonthm. Tanacharisen and the Ohie Indians kept
‘thelr froedon of action by rvefusing an invitation in 1730 teo negotiate with
for the sale of Ohio lands. Their refusal may in pari be explaine
by their ambivalent relationship to the Five lations, who would not have
any land cession by local Indians. Certainly it was in the best

”md-. PPe 436=39,
i'*‘d‘. P. "’39.

| ”“anh:gs. "Indians® Hevelution", p. 325.




interests of the Ohie Indians to remain free of any commitments that might
jeopardize their position relative to the French, whose military strength
they respected, and Pemmsylvania, whosze trade they nesdod.

Governor iamilton of Pemnsylvania, reacting to Virzinia's noves, dlize
patched Croghan to the Ohio region in 1751 to detammine the attiitude of the
Indians towaxrd the conatruction of a trading pe2t and fort on the Ohle.
Uroghan's =ubseguant report, suggesting indian willingness to accept such
an establishment, was rejected ou® of hand by the pacifist Quaker Assembly,
thus effectively nullifying any active role for thelr colony in western
affairs. Political and military initiatives among the English new passed to
Virginh.fﬁ

The French, unwilling as yet to risk an open conflict with England over
the Ohio Country, seughi te persuade or force the Indians of the area to de-
fect from the English and seek protection and trade from the Great Lakes
posts. In particular, the French were interested in disrupting the increas-
IU English trade ameng the Hiamis at Pickawillany, which trade threatened
the French interest throughout the Illinois regien.

Virginia, for her pert, sought to establish her pesition in the Velley
by more than mere land titles. Having accepied Gist's repert eutlining the
lecation of suitable land, and anxious about the French presence in the

Tegion, Governor Dinwiddie took steps to cement a trading and military al-
liance with the Ohio Indians as a bulwark sgainst French ageression and to
111 the vacuum crested by Pennsylvania's departure from the field. The
Femult of these plans was the 1752 Treaty of Logstown, which marked a olimax
A Indlan-vhite relations in the Ohio Valley.

0.
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The Logstown conference in Jure of 1752 was held at Virginia's re=
quest to settle the longe=standing issue of a doundary between thai colony
and the Iroguois=conirolied areas in the Ohio Valley. Such a settlement
was all the more pressing in 1752 in view of the recent royal land grant to
the Onio Company and the continuing growth of Freneh influence on the Ohio.
There 1s also some indication in the treaty minutes that Virginia was also
trying to improve its trading position relative %o Pcnnsyhmrﬂ.a.i Aftexr
nearly two weeks of bargaining and talking, the Virginla commissioners left
with a treaty that, from their peint of view, opened the Valley to Virginia
traders, settlement, and which, for the moment, satlisfactorily settled the
boundary question.

The agreament was negotiated not with officlal delegates from Onondaga,
but with Tanacharison and other Ohio sachems. Only one delegats from the
Five Nations was present, and hls status caanot accurately be determined
from suxviving treaiy records.”> That Tanacharison was the recognized spokes=

man at the council camnot be denied; officlal talks did not begin until his -
arrival at Logstown on the 4th of June.”” In ome respect the treaty served
%0 underline the independent position being taken by the Chio Indians in nego=
tiations with the English. On the other hand, however, much ambigulty remaine
- ®d as to Jjust how much indepandence should or could be exercised and how far

- the Half-king's authority really went.

~ To the Five lations, there was never any question that the talks at Logs-

RoThe Treaty of Loge's Town, 1752", Vizs
s M8=45, (Hereafiexr cited as Legstown Tmty m.mtea
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town were invalid. Through some mishap, the belis prepared by Virginia to
sarve as the offlclal invitatlon to the Onondaga couneil to atiend the neete
ing were never delivered, Jamses Patlon, entrusted with these vells, had
turned them over Vo the Ohle Iroquols for delivery to Unoudage. The ircquols
clalmed laiar that they never arvived. Al any rale, the damege wag done;
without formal invitation, the Five fatlons refused to ackmowlaedge any couneil
held on the Qh:lo.‘% Yhether the Iroquols would bave aliended had the invita-
tlon been received iz open to speculation. A similar atiempt at negotlaiion
nade by Virgiala in 1750 was rejected by the Irxoquois. That ‘he Virginia
compi ssloners and Governor Uinwiddie bellieved they were going to be negoulate
ing with bonifide delegates of the Five Nations is demonstrated by the ine
structions 1smoed to the negotiators.”> As the tresty progressed, Tanachari-
son did rothing to directly disabuse them of this notion, although he did
adknowledge his limited bargaining power and that "We must aequaint our
Gouncll at Onondaga of the affair, end whatsoever they bid us do, we will
do."sé It mey also have been that the Halfeking was attempting to give the
problem to the Onendags council by refusing to take any independent action

on matters of such importance as land cessions and settlemente,

From Tanacharison's perspective, 2 limited alliance with Virginis could
serve several purposes., A power vacuum had been crezted when the Penneylvania
Assenbly had declded net to support a fortified trading establishment on ihe
Ohio. It was necessary to £111 this vacuum in order to offeset French active

S“Por the detalls of this matter, see Mulkearn, Mercer Papers, pp. 412-14,
55&0531:0!:1 Treaty Mimtes, 14752,
Frma,, 17,



ities. The presence oi axmed Virginians would be & guarantee of protection
to the Chio Indlans, who wers growing increasingly apprehensive about the
growth of French military power on the lLakes and in the I1linois vegion.

in addition, Virginia {rsders on the Ohle, competing with their Penngylvania
counterperts, would help keep trade prices down and increase the volume of
goode needed by the Indiens, On a more personsl level, Virginia covld also
aid in naintaining the status of the Half-king by recognizing him as the
sole representative of the surrounding Indians.

It did not teke the Virginia commissioners long o cut te the heart of
the matter, In their opening remarks, they brought up the propesal of an
English settlement on the "South East Side of Ohio"™, suggesting that such a
settlement could serve te:

supply you with Coods much Cheaper than ean at this Time be afiord=-

el they will be ready to Help in Case you shou'd ba allacked, and

sone good Men among them will be appointed with Authordity Lo pun=

ish & restrain the mary Injurles & huses too frequenily committed

there, by disovderly white Pecpla.j"?
Such a proposal seemed to offer just what Tanacharison had been looking fer.
He responded favorably by saying that "We therefore desire our Bretheren of
Virginia may build a strong House, at the Fork on the Hommalio[gig , to
keep such Goods, Powder, Leade & necessaries as shall be wanting, as sooun as
you pleases .« » ."58 Tanacharison wade s point of muggesting the militaxy
usefulness of such an establishment bty his specific reference to "Pewler,
Leede . , .", A caveful reading of the exchange reveals a fundamental probe
lem of semantics: Tanacharison's “strony House" was noi Virginia's “setile-

ment", To the Halfekinz, strone houses or foris were fine, settlements were

= —
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not. They would endanger ths security of the Valley's people as well ag
their independent bargaining pesition between the English and French., In
addition, it must be borne in mind that Tanacharisen was in constant cone
tact with Delaware and Shawnee peovle who knew 211 too well what "settle-
ment" meant for Indians. The commissioners immediately caught the difference
and asked, in a private meeting, whether Tanacharison meant “settlement" when
he said "strong liouse", "He answered in the Nega.tive."59 When, two days
latexr, the commiszioners again raised the subject of a seitlement and a
definitive Loundary, Tanacharison professed that "we have net the full Power
in our fands on Ohio te make sach concessions,*t

Circunstances might have remained as they were, with pledges of suppert,
exchanges of gifts and little else. The commissioners were, however, de=
termined to return with a treaty. To this end, “having dvawm up an Instrue
ment of writing for confirming the Deed made at lLancaster, & containing a

Promise that the Indians wou'd not molest our Settlements on the Sonth Hast
Side of Ohio", they instructed the adopted 3eneca and acting interpreter,
Andrew Montour, to "econfer with his Bretheren, the othar Sachems, in private,
on the Subject, to urge the lecessity of such a Settlement % the great Ade
vantage it wou'd be to them, as to thelr Trade or their Seeurity."‘l Nontour,
| recognized as a sachem by the Iroguols, did his job remarkably well, Within
&n hour he returned and announced that she sachems “were willing to sien &
seal in writing, which was done & witnessed by the Gentlemen then present. w62

—
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This having been accomplished, the commissioners hastened to conclude the
conference, deparilng on the sane h.y.63

#hat arguments Mentour used in persuading the Ohie sacheus to sign the
trealy or what rationale these men used in agreeing cannot be determiued
through any surviving rvecords of the conferemee. It may have been that lon-
tour warned the sachems of the consequences to the Valley should Virginia be
forced to leave the vegion %o the rench., Whether Tanacharison wes prevaile
ed upon to versuade his fellow sachems to sign the treaty in return for some
favor is oven to speculation. It should be noted, however, that for the next
three yearsg, he did act vigorously on Virginia's behalf both in attempting to
block the French military eccupetion in 1753 and in leading Ohio warriors
with ¥achinston's Vireinla force in 1754, By that time he was, at least to
Virginia, the unquestioned leader of the Ohio Indians. Indian cooperatien
msy 2lso have been simply a matter of practical necescity., A Virginian es-
teblichment on the Chie would have obvious zdvantazes that mizht far oute
velgzh the threats and complications of Englich cettlement, The Ohio sachems
may also have ecounted on the Onondaga council to make such adjustments in
the treaty as to prevent the immedizte sottlement of the Valley., The atiitude
seens to heve prevalled among the Chio Indians that onee the political balance
of power hed been restored, the Tnglish would give up plans for settlemwent
and continve te support the tnde.& For whatsver reasons, the Ohlo sachems
- committed themselves and their pecple to the support of Tnalish settlement
- On the Ohlo, They 414 so out of consideration for thelr own security and
Power, appavently sivinz 1ittle consideratlon to whal the reaction of the

‘3800 Ihid., 174, for a 1ist of the Indian signatorieé.
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Five Nations might be.

Iroquois reactions to the Logstewn treaty were universally negative.
Writing to Governmor Clinton of New York in March of 1753, William Johnson
noted that the Iroquois were particularly upset that "they had not recelv-
od any part of the Present /given by Virginia to consumate the agreement/,
but they heard it was given to some Indians living about Ohle, Shawnees &oi™,"”
He further explained that the Five Nations did not attend because the invita-
tion had never been received. Their protest went beyond hurt pride. Andrew
Montour, reporting to the governor of Pennsylvania after a trip to Onondaga
in the same year, noted that the Iroquois were demanding that both the Eng-
1ish and French remove their forces and settlements from the Ohie Country,
leaving only traders as had previously been the case. They went on to ex-
coriate those who signed the Logstown treaty, calling them "glddy men & chil-
dren." In effect, the Five Nations council at Onondaga was giving netice
that it had repudiated any such agreement and wished to maintain the status
m.“ At a conference at Winchester, Virginia, later in 1753, Scarouady,
speaking now for the Five Nations, warned that they would not tolerate either
French or English posts on the Ohio and would maintain the neutrality of the
Mcn.67

By the time these words and warnings were spoken, the Ohio had been
transformed into a potential battleground. Within two weeks of the conclusion

s
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of the Logstown councll, word arrived that the Twightwee settlement at Pickae
willany had been attacked by a French and Indian vaiding party and that La
Demoiselle, the Miami sachem, and several Pemnsylvania itraders had been kille
ed. The followinz Sprineg, the Sieur de Marin entered the Ohio Valler at the
head of nearly 3,000 troops and Indian auxillaries in order to establish
French dominion aver the region through the construction .of_ forts froam the
upper Allesheny to the Ohio, ‘hen Pennsylvania, thgn Virginia, failed io act
prouptly to counter this invasion, Tanacharison and Scarouady frantically ate
tempted to stop the Fremch., IWhile Scarvouady held counells at Carlisle and
Winchester to drum up support among the English, Tanacharison coufronted
Marin and ordered him, on behalf of the Five Natlons, to lsave the Vallay.
Marin ignored his threats: ULy refuging to accept the Half-king's messazge

belts, he symbolically signified that Tamacharison did not even exist. That
the Half-ki.ng's position was deteriorating is evidencsd by the oonciliatory
manner in vhich llarin was greeted by the Delaware and Shawnee who remdiatod
Tanacharison's nessage. The French invasion had driven a wedge between the
Ohio Iroquois and the people they were responsible for. Sensing that the
French weve ralning the upper hand, the Ohio Indians began to put as much dis-
tance between themselves and the Iroquols as possible. lioreover, the Five
Natlons contimed to remain apart from the crisis, later disavowing the stwong
Measures taken by dem-on.w Thus isolated from his own people, and
the support of the local Indians, Tanacharison's only hope for ase-
could come from his allies in Vl:;-sinu. That assistance, in the
™m of a diplomatic protest, then a ridiculous expedition to construct and




maintain o "fort" on the Ohio was woefully inadequate. By the summer of 1754,
Virginia had been driven frem the Valley, the Delawares and Shawnee ware mak-
ing a separate peace with the French, and Tanacharison and Scarouady had be-
come Half-kings without subjects.

Faced with the loss of the Ohio Valley and worried about the possibility
unmmzmdmmnmu,mmmmwmum
to induee the Iroqueis to give ald in protecting the western and nerthern
frontiers of British Nerth America. What made this task difficult, however,
was the deterierating state of Iroquois~-English relatiens. This condition
can be traced back to the period after the treaty of 1701. Since that time,
during Queen Anne's and King George's Wars, the Irequeis had been prompted
to aid in the defense of New York's border against French attack. The out-
come was always the sames the Iroquois did the protecting while the celony
linmited its actions to blandishments, promises and, occasionally, arms ship-
ments. More recently, fraudulent land cessions and uncentrolled liquer trad-
ing throughout Iroqueis territory had put the Five Nations in a less than
conciliatory nood.69 From the Iroqueis point of view, the Yorkers and thelir
New England partners had been less than ideal trading and military assoclates.
The French occupation of Niagara in 1720 had been countered only by threats
and the miserable stockade at Oswego. The colony of New York seemed to be
unable or unwilling to contrel land speculation that threatened te overrun the
Mohawks and Oneidas, the easternmost of the Five Nations. The only measure
Of control that the Iroquois had over these circumstances was their relation-
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ship with William Johnson, immigrahi trader and would-be land baron. Com-

nissioned "Colonel” of the Iroquois during the last Anglo-French war, John-

son had quickly assumed the position of intermediary between the Five Nations
and the New York govermment. However in 1750, Johnson, disgusted with the

handling of Indian affairs, resigned as Indian commissioner, to be replaced
by 2 five member board whose arrogance and ineptitude further alienated the

Iroquots.”’

In response to what appeared to be a lack of English interest in, and re-
gard for, the Iroquois, a delegation of Mohawks, led by the Canajoharie sachem
Hendrick Peter, arrived in New York in June of 1753. After voicing a vigereus
protest against repeated frauds and fallures on the part ef the celonial govern~
ment, Hendrick proceeded to announce that "the Covenant Chaln is bwoken be-
tween you and us. So brother you are net te expect to here of me any more,
and Brother we desire te hear no move of you."’* That Hendriek spoke these
words in the name of all the Five Nations gave the English cause for alarm.
Hendrick's speech and threat were not exactly what they appeared te be, how-
ever. In the first place, he could not have spoken for the Five Nations, be-
ing neither a Confederacy sachem nor embodied with any special powers en this
Occasion, Further, the Onondaga council, where coeler heads prevailed, later
Trepudiated his rash comments. This is not to detract from Hendrick's political
Judgement. On the contrary, he may well have made this speech in order to
test the depth of English commitment to the Irequols. If so, he was not dis-
appointed, Word of his breaking the Covenant Chain was sped to England, where

n“'lllﬂu Minutes, June 16, in Documents Relative, VI, p. 788.
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the Board of Trade took immediate steps to redress the situation. In a
letter to the newly appointed royal governor of New York, Sir Danvers
Osborne, the Board ordered the convening of a general councll te leok inte
and redress all grievences preszented by the Iroquols. At a time of in-
creasing French aggression on the frontier, Iroquels cooperation was es-
sential.’> In particular, Osborns was cautioned to limit further land
sales and end the fraud in Indian land cessiens.’” Osborne never had the
opportunity to carry out his orders, having committed sulelde within a
moath of reaching New York., iis successor, James de Lancey, president of
the colony's council, did take the necessary steps in arranging for a cone
ference to meet at Albany in June of 175%. To this meeting he irnvited the
governors or representatives of the colonles north of Virginia whose interests
in this matter were sinmilar to New York's.

Several groups and interests converged at Albany in the summer of 1754.
De Lancey, representing his own government as well as the crown, was primarily
concerned with colonial security and e renewed Iroquois alliance. Others,
however, had less abstract goals in mind., One of the visible results of the
confersnce was the competition between Connecticut and Pennsgylvania over
lands on the upper Susquehanna Riverj lands that had been held for nearly a
century by the Five Nations as a buffer against English expansion. In fact,
the land issue seems to have been the one compelling reason for Connecticut's

attendance at the conference. Finally, other men, particularly William
Shirley, governor of Massachusetts Day, saw the conference as a step toward

———
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a comprehenszive plan of colonial union as a defense against the French.
While Shirley did not attend, the colony's Chief Justice, Thomas Hutchine
son, d4id and in conjunction with Benjamin Franklin and others produced
the famous Albany Plan ef Union.

Putting the FPlan of Union and the Pennsylvania-Connecticut land cone-
flict aside, the central theme throughout the conference continued to be
the Irogquois alliance and the strengthening of the Covenant Chain. To these
ends the Albany Indian Commissioners suggested three points to be taken up
with the Iroquois early in the proceedingss get the Five lNations to reunite
in fortified villages and give up their present “dispersed state"; work to-
ward the return of large numbers of Iroquois who had lately resettled at the
French mission at Oswegatchle under the spiritual and political guidance of
abbe Plquet and; reduce tensions between traders moving to Oswego and the
Iroguols, particularly the Oneida.”® As the Iroguois delesations slowly
arrived late in June, it became apparent that the negotiations would be long
and difficult.”” Jealousies and factionalisn were evident among the Indians,
with the Mohawk feeling abused by their brethren for their pro-fnglish senti-
BNts. 7° Aq the ceunell epened, the Iroquels ismediately Degan veleing their
complaints and concerns and, in the process, took the moral high ground at
- the meeting, In oxder to ensure that their words were heard and taken account
 Of, the Mohawks invoked the Covemant Chain, one of whose provisions was that
"if there be any uneasiness on either side or any request to be made, that

‘ 7"'; York Indian Commissioners to de Lancey, June 15, 1754, in Ibid.,
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they shall be considered with hrotherly regard.” ! Of immediate cencern
was the contimued expansion of English settlers westward along the Mehawk
River. One speaker voiced the Iroquois concern when he noted that "we
Mlm.mlmbutthevcysptnunum.andhardlythat.‘”

Land was not the only issue on which the Five Nations voiced complaint.
Noting that "tis now three Years since we have been ecalled to any publick
Treaty", Abraham, brether of Hendrick Peter, complained about the neglect
chown them by the Albeny Commissioners.’’ To add insult to injury, he
suggested that the reason for this neglect was the inordinate amount of time
the Commissioners spent talking to and trading with the "Indians of Canada",
vho were known to be carrying on a lucrative contraband trade between Mont-
real and Albany., This situation could be rectified, and the Cevenant Chain
restored, if William Johnsen was restored as the sole agent for Irequois
affurs.so

The final issue to be debated at Albany, and the one to which beth
Iroqueis and Englishmen showed a great deal of sensitivity, was the growing
problem of French expansion into the Ohio Valley. In response to the Eng-
lish question of whether the French had entered the region with Iroqueis per-
mission, Hendrick Peter answered in the negative and stated that it was the
intention of the Irogquois to keep both French and English forces out of the

81
Valley. Hendrick further noted that "The Governer of Virginia and the
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Governor of Canada are both Quarreling abeut Lands which belong te us. And
wcba@crdasth&ammdinmhmmn."ez
The last sentence suggestis a strong deslre on the part of the Iroquols
to stay out of any future Anglo-French conflict, especially in view of the
past performance of their loyal allies frem Mew York and New England. In
making this assault on English and French actions, Headriek cenveniently
overlooked the ifact that the Ohio situation had been in part created Ly the
villingness of the Irequois te allew Buglish traders imto the reglon.”> The
English were quick te poiut out this contradictlen in policy, with Conxad '
Veiser giving a lengthy harangue on the history of Indianewhite relations
umoomcountn.” De Lancey also attempted to counter Ireguols opposi-
tion to an English pressnce in the Valley by citing French aggression aad
Bngland's desire o protect the region for Iandlans and traders. This was
undoubtedly Hendrick's points what did the English mean by “"protection"?
That the Five lNatlens were clearly attempting te remain abeve the Ohio cone
flict is further indigated by their epinicn of Tanacharison's actions of the
previous year, ia ordering the French to leave the Ohio. Ilendrick noted
that the Half-king had acted on behalf of the "United Nations at Ohio" with
B0 hiut of approval from Oncndsge. - lie further moted thet the other cone
ferences at the time, ai Carlisle and Winchester, were also held by local

tribes without the sanciion of the Five Ma:t.h'.uua.s6 Semething of the general
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attitude ef the Iroqueis toward their Ohlo clients can be gathered from
this exchange. The Iroquois accused the Buglish of a grave diplematic
faux pas in not conveying part of the 1752 Leogstown gift to Cnendaga, as
recognition of the Confederacy's dominion over the Ohio. That the English
did net do this is evidence of how far their own policies had changed
relative to the Irequols and the loeal tribes .nth.Ohl.o.87

This acrimenious debate continued until the end of the conference on the
Gth of July. Nelther side entirely comvinced the other of its sincerity and
neither was ultimately willing to accept total responsibility for the Ohio
mﬂiﬂwmﬂwmﬂmw&uthohmhﬂﬁcudtnure—'
lations at Oswege. In fact, the only creative program te come ont of the
Albany conference was the proposed Plan of Union, which had little to do
with any of the items on the conference agenda. The only people to profit
to any extent from the proceedings were the FPemnsylvania and Connecticut land=-
Jobbers who, in a confusing seriecs of clandestine meetings and intrigues,
had managed to purchase the same lands frem two different groups of Iroquels
sachens, thus opening the way to three decades of sults and occasionsl kill=-
ings on the upper Susquehanna.

While the fnglish did not get the commitments they had hoped for from
the Iroquois, especially in terms of military cooperatien, and though the
Five Nations returned hone leaded with gifts and doubts about their English
brothers, the conference was not as inconclusive from the Indian standpoint
&8 historians have made it seem. The Five Nations retained their freedom of
action, having made nothing more than vague pledges of future cooperation if

&nd when needed. They had aveided being divectly involved in the growing
——
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Angle~rench conflict on the Ohlo by professing neutrality and charging the
inglish to take some steps toward acting on the matter., In gelting a pledge
from de Lancey that William Johnson would be restered as mp«ciatmmt for
the Iroquols, the sachems had scored a victoxry of some significance. Of all
the New York public officials, Johnson was the one whom the Five Nations
could most directly influence and trust. His restoration to office meant

~ that the Iroquois had one of their own in the British councils, both a mouth=
plece and a pipeline of infermatliong something that had been noticeably lacke-
ing during the previocus four years. Perhaps the most significant gain for
the Five Nations, however, wac not material but psychelogical., The pro=
ceedings denoustrated, as nothing else could, the importance the English ocele-
nies and royal government still placed in the Iroquois and their diplomatic
ard military power. Admittedly, as events on the Ohlo had demonstrated, the
special position that the Iroguois had long held in inglish frontier diplemaey
was declindng in the face of changss in power in the west; lonetheless, the
Izoquols still compended major avenues into the west, avemies needed by Brit-
lsh armles. Further, the Five Natious could still exercise some influence

on the Indians who lived along the English frontier. Heundrick'’s gamble in
1753 seems to have pald off. The Iroquois, for the moment, were secure in
the knowledge that thelr English brothers needed them at least as much as the
Five Nations needed theu.



CHAPTER III

THE IROQUOIS AND THE GREAT WAR FOR THE EMPIRE,
1755 = 1760

The fEnglish need for an Iroquois alliance became increasingly apparent
as the French and Ffnglish colonies rapidly approached a show-down over the
fur trade and westward expansion. Even as the Iroguois and English delegates
exchanged views at Albany, Colenel George Washington, by a successful ambush
in the Ohlio CUountry, initiated a gemeral conflict as both sides rushed ‘e
gain advantages in the west, along the Champlaineiudson invesion route, and
in Nova Scotia. In 1755 the still largely celonial dispute was enlarged by
the almost simultaneous arrivals in Amerdca of British troops in Virgiunis
and French forces at Quebec.

The Five Nations were a vital part ef the British military plan for 1755.
One Snglish offensive was aimed at Magars and the upper St. Larence basin,
Iroquois cooperation was necessary to ensure the safe, rapid movement of
troops, under the command of Governor Shirley, to their objective. At the
other end of the Longhouse, William Johnson was trying to uild an army in
order to take French feris on Lake Champlain, preparatory to a move on Monte-
real, Finally, General Edward Braddock, in attempting to force the French
from the Ohio, needed auxiliaries and diplomats from the Five Hations to lead

hs army and negotiate with the Ohio Indians.
These tasic military plans, which were to occupy inglish and proviucial
&rmles for the next five years, led to s furious, expensive effort te My,



threaten, or coerce the Ivoquols out of thelr official neutrality and into

a conprehensive alliance with the crown. At no time were the Inglish ever
totally suecessMl in this venture, and not until 1760 did the Iroguels,
sensing Pritich victory and the advisability of pesitive aciion, participate
in the war in the manner envisioned by Fraddock in 1755, The Five Nations'
rerticipation was, rather, a history of carefMl negotlation, deliberate cone
sideration of options, and a marked lack of enthusiasm for engaging in a war
that only the Iroquois could logce.

From the outset, nesotiations with the Iroguois were im the hands of
¥4lliam Johncon and his subordinates. Johneon's mission smong the Five
Fations wae fmx'rroldt obtain as much active nilitery support as possible
from the Iroquols; promise and give protection 4o the Iroquolsy regulste
Jand zeles in order to eliminote any friction that would allenate the Indlans
and; cive safisfaction to complaints voiced at Albany.aa At least part of
Johnson®s task was made easier by the slaple fact that the war, which directe
1y threatencd the Mohawk Valley, precluded land speculation and setilement,

Powever, with the singuler erception of the Mohaik, Johnson was seldom able
- to enemre the participation of meny Ivoquol:z warrior:z untll very late in the
confliect, Rather, at the ceveral general councils and numerous smaller neet-
ings vith the Five Nations, Johnson wes met with hesitation, suspicion, and
8n insictonce on nmsutrality by the sachems and women of the Cenfedsracy.
The first of these general conferences was held at Johnson': home, from
the 21st of June until the 4th of July, 1755, Thls neeting had been ealled
12 order to obtaln Irequois support for Braddock's campaign on the Ohio, and

—
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Shirley's attempt on Nisgara. The highlight of the cenference would be the
delivering of a speech from Braddeck summoning the Iroqueis to take up the
hatchet for the king. The council also marked Johmsen's first efficlal aet
as newly sppointed crovn superintendent for Indian affalrs in the nowth.">
In meny vres y thils conference embodied many of the elements aad
behavior patierns, on both sides, that would appear again in future neete
ings. Johnson spared no efforts to solicit Iroquois military ald, and did
not scruple to stop short of coercion, bribery, and deceit. Afier assuring
the asgembled delegates that their interests had been of primary consideration
at the recently held council of war at Alexandria, Virginia, Johnson proceed=
ed {0 outline the present conference. In order to impress the Five Natlons
with the overwvhelming importance of what was to follow, Johneon suggested
that everyone, evean women and children, should attend the mmungs.%
Such a comment was well calenlated to impress the gathering., Throughout the
| council, Johnson wes caveful net to couch English reguests and statements in
terms that might imply that the Iroquols were a vital element in English plans.

Instead, he insisted that the Eaglish were only asking the Five Nations to act
the part of good brothers as had their forefathers, and that the war belt was
belng offered as a sign of friendship and twotherhood, net because the lng-

) !

lish armies really needed Ivoguois aid, Whether the assembled sachems and

Warriors really believed or accepted this explanatien iz deubtful. Certaine
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ly the expense and effort that the English were expending on them, and the
soon=to=be=proven ineptitude of British field commanders demonstrated that
Johnson's words carried little meaning.

As a further inducement to the Iroquois, Johnson delivered a speech
from Scarouady exhorting his brothers to follow his example and join the
inglish,”? Finally, Johnson suggested that any reluctance on the part of the
Five Nations would be seen by the British as a serious breach of faith and
would signify the breaking of the Covenant Chain,’>

At this point, Johnson was attempting to appeidl to the martial spirit
of the “young men™, in the hope that they would cease listening to the peace-
ful words of the sachems, whose traditional role was to lessen the need for
fighting. In this respect, Johnson was seeking to drive a wedge between two
conpeting factions within the Confederacy, hoping that the sachems would
vield to popular pressure and allow the warriors to decide the issue for
themnselves. As an added bit of diplomatic theatriecs, Johnson, when offering
the war belt, deliberately gave it to the lohawks of Canajoharie who, as the
most pro-fnglish, would be prone to accept the belt publieally. On accepting
the belt, the Canajoharies would be offering a challenge to the other nations

to do likewise.? Not content with these public exhortations and arm-tiiste
ings, Johnson resorted to private meetings with select sachems, among them
Hendrick Peter, hoping to solicit their support in influencing the village

- and clan councils to accept the belt, >

21v4d., p. 973.
Prvaa,
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These proceedings took place on the 24th and 25th of June, The formal
reply by the assembled sachems was not delivered until the 20th. Previous
to this not all the nations had taken up the war beit..96 When the council
did resume, the sachems made a point of offering an apology for the umuieual
delay. Their reason was the absence of several sachem= whe were drunk on
trader's whiskey at the tho.w Thiz may or may not have been true. It
should be noted that Johnson took special precavtions on this matter prior
to the conference by issuing a proclamation bamming llguor from the meeting
pl;a.oo.98 In light of subseguent procsedinze, it mey well have been that the
sachems were having a difficult time reachins 2 consenmus on the matier of
war, Further, in their apology, the sechems indicated that the "elder trothe
ers”s the Mohawk, Seneca, and Onendara, were ready to spesk, tut the delay
wvas caused by the Oneida and Ceyusa, the “younger bret!nms".”

For their part, the Ivoquois seem to have been somewhat less than over-
vhelned by Johnson's words, They bad =serious reservations about campaigne
ing against the French, lest they bde forced to kill thelr own peopla; in

“ this case the Caughnawasa Iroquoisz of Mentreal., Johnson gave assurances that
i he would seek their neutrality in the upcenming campalgns, Tt this lssuo con-

timed to canse the Pivae Nations same concern for the next sevaral years.mo
Finally, however, Johnson received the council's reply. On the 22th of June
Red Head, an Onondaga sachem recently won over from the French, stated in full

e
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council that "We the Confederated Nations here present agree to your request
m&ﬂlljouandassut!minmm.'ml

These words tend to imply a major shift in Iroqueis pelicy from neutral-
ity to partisan participation in the war. It should be noted, hewever, that
no specific commitments of aid or military action were made here. Further,
Red Head was speaking for the "Confederated Nations" as a whole. Decisions
reached in Confederacy councils were not necessarily binding on the many
Iroquois villages. Such a decision may well have been reached in an effort
to appease the warriors, who were demanding action. Further, there is at
least the hint that this agreement to some unspecified form of aid was mere
the result of backstairs persuasion than a free decision made by all the
sachems. At a private meeting on July lst, the Cayuga "confess/ed/ that your
[Johnson/ pressing us to take up the hatchet is somewhat sudden and for which
we were not prepared . . ." 92/emphasis added/ Did others among the Iroquois
delegates also feel "ﬁusd'? In addition, immediately after delivering
their reply to Johnson's war message, the warriors announced, much to John-
son's chagrin, that their first act would be to go home and secure their fam-
ilies before going to war. Besides, they said, there was no pressing need
to fight now, since it would take Braddock, Shirley, and Johnson some time
“wmwuumnda.ma

The Iroquois decision to commit themselves, however tenuously, to support
the English may have been triggered in part by a desire to put the British on

T
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the defensive. On July 3rd, the sachems offered a belt and demanded that all
rum traffic in their territery be stopped. Further, in response to repaated
requests that the Five Nations reunite inte large, fortified villages, the
sachems sald that this would be a good idea if the land was available, but
that recent cessions and frauds had left the Confederacy very little roem
for large villages. If Brother Johnson wanted their support in his war with
tho?rmeh.homlduvoulutlmhmom A final eminous note
was sounded just as the cenference was ending on the 4th of July. Red Head,
in his closing remarks, reminded the assembly that in the past, when the Five
Nations had fought with the English, things had not turned eut well. He ex-
pressed the hope that Johnson's leadership and power in English councils
would make a difference this tho.ms

With only slight variations due to time and circumstances, this con-
ference established something of a pattern for future meetings between John-
son and the Iroquoils., On one hand, Johnsen, using every possible means of
persuasion short of outright threats, attempted to oconstruct a military al-
liance with the Five Nations. For their part, the Iroquois, while at times
seeming to abandon their policy of nsutrality in the war, hesitated teo give
unequivocal support, and always stopped shoxrt of making any specific commit-
Rents of mon or actions. Further, as subsequent events would demonstrate,

ot all Irequois were interested or willing to take even these limited actionms.
The result of this internal division was a Confederacy that gave every appear-
8nce of dlscention. By late 1756, Johnsen was faced with a seemingly contra-
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dictory pattern of Iroquols behavior that led him to believe that the best
he or anyone else could hope for from the Confederacy was armed neutrality.

At least part of the reason for the shifting Irequois pelicy and lack
of commitment to their brethren is to be found in the ways in which the Eng-
1ish prosecuted the war. The ink was hardly dry on the council mimutes at
Mount Johnson when word began filtering in that semething had geone wreng on
the Ohio. As information became avallable about the fate of Braddock's
army, many Iroquois must have had serious second theughts about alding the
English. They knew, as did British seldiers and diplemats, that the Ohio
Country was now totally under French control. This situation beded 111 for
the Iroquois as well as for English settlers on the frontier. As if this was
not enough, the Five Nations had teo cope with the press-gang mentality ef
Sir William Shirley and his agents, who were btusily enlisting warriers for
the Niagara campaign.

Chief ameng the objects of Irequois complaint in this regard was John
Henry Lydius of Connecticut. He had played a leading role in engineering
the Connecticut deed to the Susquehanna Valley lands at Albany the previous
year. Now, acting on orders from Shirley, he was roaming around the Mehawk
Valley, bribing, threatening and, en eccasien, kidnapping Irequeis men te
sexrve with the western army., Complaints began te pour inte Johnsen's head-
uarters on Lake George from Tuscaroras, Oneidas, and Mohawks about their
Tough treatment at the hands of Shirley's m.mé To make matters worse, in
the resultant confusion, the Iroquels were staying away from Johnson's camp
%8 well. Evidence indicates that the activities of Lydlus were part of a

——
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larger feud between the two generals concerning jurisdiction and centrol of
Indian affairs., Johnson's commission as sole superintendent of Irequois
affairs had come from Braddock, while Shirley's position as commander-in-
chief was recognized by a royal commission. Lydius' aetions were part of
Shirley's scheme to undernine Johnson's sutherity among the Indians,’%7 Had
Shirley exercised more judgement or intelligence than he did, he would have
realized that such high command squabbling would have deone little to enhance
the English reputation among allies who were still apprehensive at best.
Johnson, writing to Lieutenant Gevernor de Lancey of New York, summarized
the Iroqueis feeling in the matter when he said that “"Their Sachems have sent
me down Werd that they are all in amagement, that they cannet comprehend what
is the meaning of these opposite Proceedings. They desire I will clear up &
explain matters to them, that their Castles are tore to pleces with discord
faction & riet &o. &o,"08 ‘
For all his activity among the Five Vations, Shirley's army barely
got to Oswego before the campaizning season ended. Johnson's motley collec-
tion of New England militis, bolstered by a good mumber of Mohawks under Hen-
drick Peter, had itz drive on Fort St. Frederic cut short when the Baron de
Dieskau's French army suddenly appeared near Johnson's cemp. In the result-
ant two day encounter, Dieckau's treops were roundly beaten and put te flight.
On the English side, Johnson's raw troops had taken a beating of their own and
aaong the dead was perhaps the best friend Johnsen or the English had ameng

e
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the Iroquois. Hendrick, old, infirm, and riding a horse loaned to him by
Johnson, was part of an English scouting party that blundered into an am=-
bush early in the fizht. The loss of this man, a sachem of Canajoharie and
a man of much influence with both the Onondaga and celonial oéundls. was a
severe blow. In addition, several other sachems uid warriors of the Mohawk,
Oneida, and Susquehanna Iroquois had died in the fight, Whatever enthusiasm
the Iroquois may have shovm for the war in June and July had waned by mid-
September as the dead were brought home and the condolences pea:fornod.mg
The combined effects of the Braddock disaster, Shirley's dictatorial
policies, and the killings at Lake George had a profound impact on the Iro=-
gquois and their attitudes toward the English and the war., Johnson's agents
were sent out to the several Iroqueis villages to perform condolences for
the dead and to recruit men for scouting parties on Leke CGeorge. Without
exception, they all reported a singular lack of response from the Five lNations.
Even the lohawk, usually so reliable, were wavering. The Reverend lir, John
Ogilvie and Sylbrant Van Schaick, sent to the Lower Castle to recruit, re=-
ported that the men there were “"averse to joining the Army again," 0 Their
reason was the fear that the English wanted “to swallow all our Fighters at
once . . ."M11 The Lower Castle refused to accept Johnson's war belt. Fart
of the reluctance of the lohawk to take the English part may be explained by
an extraordinary message they received from the upper four nations soon after
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the Lake George battle. The message stated that the upper nations would not
"intermeddle, 1o the English and French had a design to kill them all";

that 4if the Mohawk wished to act they could do so, 1f they chose to act,

the other tribes would "kick them from them and have no more to say to
tha.'nz This threat of sanction agalnst a member of the Confederacy speaks
volumes about the real concern felt by the Iroqueis about the war and their
o'm security,

1755 had been a bad year for the Iroquois and the English. The two
following years were even worses. The English saw thelr gateway to the Great
Lakes, Oswego, fall in August ¢f 1756, This defeat ended for the mement any
plans for the capture of Niagara. It also ended, permanenily, the American
career of William Shirley. In 1757 British losses were compounded by the
French capture of Fort Willlam Henry, which had guarded the northern appreaches
to the Mohawk Valley and Albany. Finally, Peansylvania and Virginia were em-
broiled in 2 frontier conflict with the Delaware, Shammee, and other Chio In-

dlans, These people had taken asdvantege of Braddock's defeat to settle many
13

e

0ld scores with the English.
For the Five llations, the situation was equally disturbing. The loss of
Oswago had opened the Mohawk Valley to French invasion, and had the potential
of turning all of westexn New York into a battleground., British military
ineptitude was underscored by the loss of Fort William Hemry, which surrende
ered while severzl thousand troops stood motionless only a short msrch away.

- In additlon to the usual pressures for military sid put on them by Johnson,

- the Irequois councils were also becieged with pleas and demande from Pennsyl-
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vania to take an active part in bringing its frontier war te an end. (learly,
the situation did not bode well for the Iroqueis and, during these years, the
Confederacy took steps to put some distance between itself and the English
until such time as the military situation became more clearly defined, and
European goals more apparent.

In February, 1756, Johnson held the second of his major wartime councils
with the Five Nations,'2* By the time the council convened, the Irequeis had
already been given a taste of what the year would held. Shirley had, since
early Jamuary, solicited their ald in stopping the ralds in Pennsylvania,
something the Irequois persistently refused to do. Further, the Senecas cir-
culated a black belt that had been sent by French officers warning the Five
Nations that they would be attacked if they interfered in the war. > On the
strength of this message, the Iroquels requested that reinforcementz be sent
to Oswego as soon as posd.hlo.ué

Iroquois concerms are amply evidenced by the exchanges at the Fort John-
son council, held from the 17th to the 29th of February. In replying to John-
son's opening remarks, Red Head, once again acting as the principal speaker,
reminded the superintendent of the mutual ebligations inherent in the Covenant
Chain, and expressed the hope that the English would hener théir commitments

to ald and protect the Iroq,uoia.n7 In response to Johnson's request that
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they take the initiative in disciplining the Ohio Indians, the Five Nations
remained non-committal., They defended this position by denying that they had
any special powers over these people. They further suggested that if Penne
sylvania had acted with greater circumspection, it would not now be suffere
ing from an Indian um:'.]':l8 This exchange also suggests that much of the Ire
oquois' power over client tribes was more a Buropean fiction than a reality
of Indian-Indien relations, Johnson contimied to press this issue, but wlthe
out getting any positive response from the assembled delegation.

Johnson also pressed the Iroquolis for mere active military invelvement
in the upcoming campaign. lHe cautioned them against "continuing any longer
in your past, lethargic, and supine state" and asked them to honer all their
comnnitnents heretofore made,’t’ To the Five Nations, however, no commitments
had been made beyond a vague promise made the previous year to keep faith
with the English and consider requests for aid. In response to this speech,

" Red Head again promised to consider Johnson's words, 2
The Iroquois, too, made requests at this meeting. The most recurring and,

to them the most important, was the need for forts in their country to pro-
tect the villages if and when the young men went out to war. The Five Nations
were taking no chancess active participation on their part meant adequate
Protection for families and farms by those whose work they were doing. Thie
theme of forts and demands for protection runs throughout this and subsequent
eouncils and indicates that the Five lations were in no way convinced of the
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inevitability of Englich victory 2

While Johnson was trying to elicit seme favorable response from the Iro-
quois sachenms, English military operatlons went shead es planned, Shizley
egain made an ascent of the lohawk Hiver to Usvege, but without much aid
from the local Indians. O©Of particuler conecern to the Iroquols was Penne
sylvania's deciclon to declare war on all those Indians within the colony
enrrently meking ralds against the cettlements. Apperently unsatisfied with
the Iroquels reply to requests for mediztion, the colony acted alone, withe
out consulting other officlalz. The result was confusion and alarm among
the Indlans, who saw the action as only the latest example of English double-
dealing. Johnson was particularly upset and vworried that the Five Wations
would take Penncylvania's action as further evidence of divided Tnglish coun-
ells, and would be even lese wlling to be drswn imto the var, o> _

fven as Johnson wrote in complaint to Shirley and others, the Irogquods
vere attenpting a diplomatic initiative of their own. At an upeoming Cone
federacy council at Onondaga, ﬁhqy planned to treat with the Ohio and Susque=-
hanna Indianz in an attempt to end 21l Indian involvement in what was, to‘
them, a white man's wa», What is curious, in view of their previous bshavior
on such occasions, was thelr attitude toward Johnson's attendance at this
affair, Johnson remarked that the Indians, "the Onondagas excepted, are very

warnly against my goinz to the mesting at (mtmda!@.."m3 While the Iroquois
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never gave a definite reason for their insistence on Johnsen's absence,
their behavior preveked mah dimsas.on. especlally between Johnson and his
informants ameng mm Tbo(h-mjoha.rto mamostodmmulm

- treachery as the reason for their approval of the invitatien, andaddnd
that the upper nations were not te be trustcd.lz. In view of the recent
French raid into the Mohawk Valley which had resulted in the destruction of
Fort Bull at the Onelda Carry, Johnson was prepared to believe the worst
about the loyalties of the four upper nations.

It may have been that the lroquois' warm opposition to Johnson's attend-
ance stemmed from both a fear of French power, made all the more real by the
Fort Bull raid, and their desire to avoid any further pressure from the ing-
lish to take up the hatchet, Such pressure was causing much internal dis-
sension as warriors and sachems divided over the advisabllity of going to
war., Since the French clearly dominated the fromtler, an attitude of dis- -
tmufronthomsushushthsnm.dthebostmdsdtwmuﬁ.
Johnson, however, refused all warnings and offers of compromise and cmbarked
for Onondaga on schedule.

The Ouendaga council, to which Johnson's presence must have been a great

embarracsment, did initlate steps toward settling Pemnsylvania's Indian war,
The Ohio Indians were given an opportunity to voice grievances, and those live-
ing on the Susquehanna agreed to cease fighting and follow the advice of their
uncles at Onondaga. A final resolution of this confliet did not occur until
the Baston Treaty of 1758, but the Iroquois initiative did get the process
started,

Mlitarily, 1756 was marked by little participetion by the Iroguois in
—

%dﬁ » D 462,




Inglish operations. Johnson managed to keep several lMohawk scouting parties
in the fleld, but for the most part the Five Natlions withheld ald., Aslde
from Dritish military reverses which cextainly iufluenced Irequois policy,
the suumer had been marked by a number of incldeuts beiween English treops
and Iroqueis warriors and farmers that resulted in arrests, exchanges of gun-
fire, and al least one unprovoked murder of an Iroguols near Schmactady.n5
Such inecidents could not have reinforced Iroquoels feelings of security at the
hands of the English govermment. In addition te¢ this, lack of participation
may have been the result of an economic crizis among at least zeme of the
Ivoquois. Myndert Wemp, sent by Johmson to the Seneca as an armorar and ine-
formant, returned from his post late in April complaining that "the scarelty
of Provisious was such amcngst them that he couldn't sublist."m Johnson
added yel another reason for Iroguois nen-pariicipation when, in a repori teo
the Board of Trade, he suggested that "the Six Nations are sensible thet the
deprivation of whatl they deem thelr property wlll be the consequence of d.ﬂur
we or the French prescriblug tevus te each other--and hence the chief cause
of thelr indifference 1ln oux Qzarrel."lz? flaborating further, he noted that
“our indisariminate avidity/Tor land/slarms them with jeslousy and ralses pre-
Judices against us, which are improved by Lhe Freuch. .128

In oxder to counter the 111 efisctz of the Oswego debacle, and to z1d the

125ngome Artiales for Loxrd Loudeuns eensidexation”, Albany, August 2, in
dohnson Papers, IX, pp. 490-91.

m‘Jmnn of Indian Proceedings", April 29, in Documents Relative,
VII, pp. 100-101.

127.Iohmaon to the Doard of Trade, Fort Jehuson, September 10, in

l-em_m II, ». 428,

128
Johnson to the Board of Trade, Fort Johnson, September 10, 4n
2 ve, VII, ppe 129=30.




€5

Five Nations of their indifference, Johnson called a council at Fort Johne
son in nid-Neovember, While not a major gathering, the council did reveal
the degree to which the Iroquoi= were becoming allenated from the Mnglish.
The treaty nimuntes are merked by exchanges that can only be described as
measured and cold., For their part, the Five Nations charged the English
with cupidity, for engaging in ta2lks with the Freach without informing the
Confederacy; of "stingyness" in giving out treaty gifts and trade goods; and,
in a2 stinging attack on Johmson's judgement and character, they suggested
that message belts sent by him to the upper nations had in faet been hidden
arnd then sent to Canada by Johnson's Indian nosssen@_ruu:-s.l'z9

Johnsen, in replying to these charges, could do little to seothehurt
feelings and drive away feelings of distrust. He d1d, however, insist in
gtrong terms that the Iroquois give hinm a clear, final statement of thelr
position on the war, warning thet anything less would be seen in English
couneils as a sign of unfriendlinesz. The assembled sachems declared that
sich a statement could enly come from a full council of the Cenfederscy and
promised to consider his reguest and deliver an ans;m- as soon as possible.

The Troquels reply, when it came, underscored both the divisions that
ware besinning to sppeer within the Longhouse and a general desire to ree
main apert from the Furopean conflict. At a series of counecils held in
March and April of 1757, the upper three nations made thelr feelings and
policy knsvm. In reply to Johnson's questien of the previous November, the
sachems sald "We are resolved to keep Friends on both Sides as long as possible
& rot meddle with the Hatchet, tut endesveur always to pacify the White People.

| —
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Cur Arms chall be between you endeavouring to keep You aeundcr."l” After
nearly three years of Fnglicsh requests and admonitions, the sschems of some
of the Five Natlors were making *thelr first formal dedmtim of policy.

It is worth noting that these tribes did net view their position 25 merely
one of neutrality. Rather, they were establishing themselves as peoace-makers,
in order to keep the ¥nglich and French "asunder". Such a position wouvld
accord well with traditional Iroquois policies and goals as established by
the prophet Deganawida at the time of the founding of the Confederacy. The
upper tribes also felt thet they hed the military and diplomatie power to aect
in such a capaclty.

The declaration of the Oneida and Mohawl sachems are not recorded in the
council mimtec, but their subsequent actions suggest that they 414 not accept
the polley of thelr western brothers, Indeed, these two nations, with come
Tuscaroras, provided nearly the entire Irogquois military contingent in the
British canmp until 1759, The reasons for such a3 Mvergence in policles 12
hard to determine, especially since the Mohawk in particular were taking most
of the Indizn losses as well ss many insulte from the English. Johnsen's re-
port hints at a growing rift between the two lower nations and the upper

tribes. The Mohawk warned Jelles Fonda and Thomas Putler not to set out for
the upper country in Jamuary becavse it was not safe and that they "wou'd
stand a chance to looss His scalp among thqn[ihe unper mtiong? ."131

The war was taking ite t0ll of the Troquois in other ways, Themas Butler

13°Iroqueis gpeech of March 28, in "Journal of Indian Affalrs", Fort
Johnson, March 19- April 5, in Johnson Papers, IX, p. 669.
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reported in Jamary of 1757 on the "lreat guantityes of Rum brought to" the
Oneidas, and of thelr constant stale of drunkemess. >~ Johnson alse expresse
ed his coneern at the large munber of Iroguois who came to his home looking
for mn.133 Such commentc became more frequent durdng 1757 as did com=
plaints by Indlans of illicit rum deslers. Compounding the social disrupt-
ilon caused by liguor was the shortage of food and clothing among the Five
138

liations. Finally, there was =mellpox. Johnson reperted in July that “I
have six of my People in the Small pox and several Ind® in ye out houses.
It rages verry much in this part of the country, and the Five Nationgs have
carried it with them. The two young fellows who took it at my House dyed
at the Carmen Flatts. viz® ye Bunt's son & Nimble Elste."™ > The fate of
Nimble Rists and others must have been on the minds of Iroquois men who
would have otherwlse been willing to serve in the Lnglish armies.

The war and the Iroguois attltude toward it were having a decided ine-
fluence on other Indianz who looked {0 the Five Nations for guidance. In

May, Johnson held a trief couference with a delegation of lanticokes, Conoys,

and Aghquages. These people expressed much concern over the behavior of the
Iroquois, observing that "We see that the 5 Fatlons are much divided amongst
themselves" and pressed Johnson to spare no efforts to keep the Five lations
loyal and 1“1‘.'4.9116.’1.3!.136
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Whether large-scale Iroquols invelvement in the 1757 campaign would have
made the critical difference to English forces is uncertain. What is cer-
tain is that the British military contimued to give ground before aggressive
French troops. The result was another resounding defeat at Fort William
Henry, one that convinced many Iroquois that neutrality was the wisest policy
to follow. The loss of this garrison stripped the English of their last out-
post north of Albany and made the nerthern New York region and the Mohawk Valley
vulnerable to French raids.

The military operations and Iroqueis diplomacy in 1758 were, in many ways,
repetitions of the previous year. The year began on a sour note as the Mohawk
of Fort Hunter complained about the vioclent treatment they had received from
the local garrison. For Johnson, this incident was more than the usual com-
plaints of beatings or bad words, since it directly involved Abraham, a sachem
of the vuhgo.l_”

As in past years, the Five lauonilndulldagm council at Onon-
daga to discuss matters relating to the war and other issues. Johnson, hav-
mroooivdmimtathnmmomu. planned to attend and use what-
ever influence he still had to gain Iroquois support for the summer campaign.
As had happened in 1757, the Iroquois expressed their disapproval of his go-
ing, tut this time the reasons and the manner of expressing them were more force-
ful and direct. Significantly, it was the village of Canajoharie, the most
Pro-English of the Iroquois villages, that offered the most stremious objec-
tions. The women of that village claimed that any invitation to a European
to attend a ful1 council at Onondaga was, in a sense, unconstitutional, since

——
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it vieclated anclient custem. They suggested that Johnson should be centent
to receive word of council decisions by messenger. In line with this, they
stated that any Oneida invitation was illegal and hinted that the invitation
vas, in fast, part of & plot te either kill Johnson o dlsupt the osuneid. ™
Johnson, impressed no doubt with beth the argument and the fact that the women,
the trustees of the political system, were speaking, declined the invitation.
Having decided to remain at home, Johnson turned his energies to collect-
ing Indlans for General Abercrombie’s planned drive toward the French forts
on Lake Champlain., In addition, he was concerned about the continuing Indian
war on the Pennsylvania frontier. Pacifying the Delaware became even more
inportant now that a second British army would be moving through the colony
on its way to the Ohio. That Iroquois feelings toward these campaigns had
not changed much is evidenced by Johnson's observations in a letter to Aber-
crombie. He blamed Iroquois coolness on the defeats at Oswegoe and Fort Wil-
liam Henry, and suggested that unless the English showed more military success,
the Five Nations would contimie te be neutral or worse, Jjoin the French. >
Johnson's negotiations resulted in some Iroquois participation in Aber-
eromble’s campaign. He was also able to m the Five Nations to support a
general peace council at Easton, Pennsylvania, that eventually led to a res-
olution of the frontier war.'® This Iroqueis participation had not been easily
Obtained. Johnson, facing a military time-table, insisted on having the war-

1381b14., pp. 111-12.

13930hnson to General James Abercrombie, Albany, May 10, in Johnsen
Papers, IX, pp. 901-902.
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George army, see Johnson Papers, IX, pp. 94=45. The Mohawk and Oneida
Frovided 240 of the 355 Iroquois warriers.



riors assembled as quickly as possible. The Iroqueis objected, claiming that
his "hurrying & peremptory messages" violated custom and were patently rude.
The Iroquols would consider and give ald on their ewn terms, they would net
be "drove to war." ™ Johnson need not have worried about arriving st the
battle on time, since his Irequois allies never got to within musket range of
Fort Carillon at Ticonderoga. Rather, they sat en the sidelines and watched
column after column of English get shot teo pleces in a vain attempt to storm
the French lines. For the third time, the Iroquois’ faithful allies had been
badly beaten.

On the Ohlio, however, the situation was somewhat different. After a
gruelling six month campalgn, John Forbes's collection of Scets, English, and
colonial treops retook the forks of the Ohio. While the Ohio Country could
not yet be called "English", Forbes and his army had made enough of an im=-
pression to cause the Delaware to come in for talks. His victory on the Ohio
mdubvobomumnd‘blof‘rudluouatuwumﬂum-.
especially the upper nations. For when Johnson again went among the Five
Nations to muster support for the 1759 campaigns, he was met by a markedly
different reception. At a council at Canajoharie in April, the Genesee Seneca,
heretofore so against an English alliance, proposed that the English strike
&t the French post at Niagara. The idea was obviously a good one, 50 good in
fact that Johnson and the new American commander, Sir Jeffrey Amherst, vied
With each other for the honor of its authership. The other Irequois soon join-
®d the Seneca in propesing such an operation. Johnson, apparently eager for

pan—
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another opportunity for military glory, wrote a lengthy proposal for such a
campaign., His ardour was somewhat lessened when he learned that Amherst
had chosen an English professional to lead the a.tta.ck.m

The reasons for the Seneca change in attitude had much to do with the
changing nature of the war. &Inglish forces on the Ohio gave evidence that
the Frenchman's days in the west were mmbered. The upcoming campaign might
well be declisive and it would be well to be on the winning side. Econemics
also seems to have played a part in changing the minds of the western Iroquois.
Johnson, in his report to Amherst, mentioned that the Seneea and "9 Nations
of the sald Foreign Indians" had sent a belt to the English for the purpose
of opening trade negotiations.)’> Such an interest in trade would mske sense
in view of the French inability to keep a supply of trade goods coming into
Canada due to the British naval blockade. This shortage of goods could
account for the sudden coolness on the part of the western Iroquelis toward
the French and their cooperative attitude toward the English, whose goods were
both plentiful and cheap. Fer whatever reasons, the Iroquois eagerness to
take an active part in the war was unmistakable. Johnson reported that he
could easily provide eight hundred warriors for the Niagara campaign. Even
allowing for a discount in numbers, Irequois participation was nonetheless
inpressive, 1™

As finally executed, the Niagare campaign formed part of a four-prong=
od English attack on Canada. With nearly nine hundred Indians in the ranks,
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General John Prideaux's army moved up the Mohawk Valley to Oswego, and from
there to Nizgara, After 1little more than two weeks of bombardment, Wiagsra
surrendered, Two months later, as Amherst wss consolidating his conquests
on Lake Champlain, James Wolfe stormed Quebec., By December of 1759, the war
wvas, for all practical vurposes, at an end,

The congquest of French Canada presented the English with 2 tremendous
opportunity. For the first time irn over a century, the Great Lakes region
was open to English traders and settlers, No sooner had the last French
troops laid down their arms at Montreal in 1760, than English efficlals on
both sides of the Atlantic began planning for an enlarged westernm trading
enpire based, not at Albany or Oswego, but farther west at Detreoit and Fort
Pitt on the Ohio. Western tribes such as the Ottawa, Illinri, Wyandet, and
Chippewa suddenly leomed large in British imperial plans. George Croghan,
¥illiam Johnson, and scores of other opportunists looked te the west as a
gource of wealth and power.

For the Five Nations, the English victery had a far different meaning,
¥ith English access to the west assured; the Iroquols position as favered
intermediaries with western tribes was placed in jeopardy. Further, the
entire play-off system that had allowed the Iroquois to preserve their au-
tenony and power for nearly a century was suddenly undens., Without the French,
Such a policy made no sense. In short, the English victery in Canada had mre-
Sented the Irogquois with a far greater crisis than the wer just ended. With
Rore limited options, and faced with a vietorious, expansion-minded English
Bedghbor, the Five Nations would have to work out a new sccommodation as the

Wv-t-mawunmdmdmmm.ns
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CHAPTER IV

CRISIS IN THE WESTs THE POST - WAR YEARS,
1760 - 1764

The conguest of Canada, completed in the Fall of 1760, marked the be=
ginning of a period of adjustment and transition in the relations of the
Five Nations and thelr English neighbors. The sudden departure of the French
from mainland North America created a crisis for both Englishmen and Iroquois.
In each case the crisis involved the neceusity of adjusting to new military
and political realities on the frontier. This adjustment btrought with it
conflict and a feeling of uneasiness and distrust on both sides, The west-
ern uprising of 1763, usually assoclated with the Ottawa chief, Pontiac, was
only one of the more violent and prolonged episodes in a larger pattern of
conflicts and confrontatlons.

For the English, the fall of Canada opened up for exploitatien a terri-
tory several times larger than the 0ld mainland colonies. But if the surrender
of Montreal wrought prospects of wealth and empire, it also placed England in
the uncomfortable position of the conquerer in a foreign, still hostile land. .
To say that Britain controlled Canada and its western territories from 1760
%0 1764 would be to overstate the case. lNot until the Summer of 1761 did
Permanent garrisons arrive at Detroit and Michilimackinac and the lesser posts
8long the Great Lakes. GHven then the mumber of treeps, approximately two com=
Pndes of infantry, was a token force unable to maintain control over such a
- Vast region, The settled parts of Canada, while occupied by several British



regiments, held a population that had yet to be reconciled to the new regime.

On the frontier, English control had not been recognized by the several
nations of Indians that maintained control over the lands south of the Great
Lakes. While the Ottawa and other Indians near Detreli welcomed the English
troops in 1761, they in no way surrendered thelr severeignty. Rather, they
hoped that the English would simply replace thalr former French trading part-
ners in maintaining a faverahle business relationship.

To the Iroquois, the English victory in America was a mixed blessing. On
one hand, the war, which had created hard feelings and tension within the Cone-
federacy, was virtually at an endy; and with it ended the constant dread that
had hung over the Five Hations conecerning their security., In the long run, how-
ever, the inglish conquest of Canads was to create more problems for the Five
Fations than it solved. The removal of Franch power from the continent de-
stroyed the diplomatie principle upon which the Iroquois had based their in-
dependence and power. Without a second Buropean power to balance against the
English, the Pive Nat!.éna faced a long pveriod of pressures for land and a de=
cline in prestize in tha eyes of thelir sometime allies.

That Irequois-English relations were takine a different turn 1s evidenced
by the mmerous exchanges, both private and publie, of the immediate postewar
Period. After 1760 relations between the two peoples wave marked by sharp
@sputes, bitterness, and distrust on both sides. Bven the 01d Agreement, or
Govenant Chain, was significantly altered, Prior to 1760, treaties and councils
had been held 1n a spirit of cooperation, however forced or contrived. The
English villingly accepted traditional Iroquels practices end protocol as
&2reed to in the original Covenant, After the conguest, the tone and purpese
f the councils changed. Sir Willlam Johnsen more frequently spoke in the




75

manner of a stern father than of a brother., His speeches were marked by
threats, demands for cospperation, and contimal reminders of the obligations
owed by the Five Nations to the Great King in England. His manner was rein-
forced by these of other royal officlals, most notably the American commanders,
Sir Jeffrey Amherst and Thomas Gage. While the Irequoils contimued to maine-
tain, in council, a spirit of unity and power, in reality their position had
changed much since the d=2ys of the Lake George campalsn and Niagara. The

very spirit of the councils after 1760 evidences a decline in Iroqueis power
and prestige relative to the English and the western Indians who had recently
been invited into the Covenant. :

This change in attitude toward the Iroquois on the part of British officials
in general, and Sir William Johnson in particular, stemmed from the nature of
England's frontier problem in 1760. The unsettled regions of Canada were in-
habited by Indians whe, for ever a century, had maintained close trade centacts
with the French and who, in many cases, had lately lifted the hatchet against
the English back settlements. These people saw English victory as a threat,
not only to their established economic patterns, but alse to their lands. The
treatment of the Delaware, Shawnee, and other berder tribes had given Indians
farther west cause for alarm., During the years immediately following the Eng-
lish conquest, the Indlanss Chippewa, Ottawa, Wyandet, Sauteurs, and Illineis
bands, became convineed that England's ultimate goal was to dispossess them
and eccupy the land, :

England's problem, therefore, was to establish and maintain sufficiently
800d trade relations with these people to guarantee a profitable trade in furs
&nd allow for the eventual settlement of the transwAppalachian region. This
Froblen was particularly acute when the fnglish military and financial situation
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is examined. Those troeps still in America had been reduced to minimal num-
bers throush hard campaigning, leaving few men for garrisen duty. Realise
tically, if the western tribes wished to wage war on the back settlements,
there was, for the moment, little the inglish military could do about it.
Financially, the ministry in London was eager to reduce the normal and extra=-
ordinaxry expenses associated with the American forces. Chief smong these

ware the thousands of pounds distributed by Johnson and his deputies for gifts
and condolences to the Iroquois and. other Indian allies. 'i'he AMonn comnande
er, Anmherst, was convinced that such practices must eventually siep, the soon-
ar the better, ' o o ' |

" The solution to these problens came to be embodied in a mmber of official
acts, unofficial policies, and stop-gap measures, which eventually became

known 25 the "Flan of 1764," Its originator was Sir William Johnson.*® o

 lessen the problens outlined above, Johnson proposed a new imperial Indian
policy. Such a policy, if successfully carried out, would lessen the causes
~ of conflict, thus reducing the need for troops and, hopefully, for costly
 gifts to Indlan leaders and peoples. Basically, Johnson's scheme consisted
Oto creating an enlarged and more powerful Indian Department which would have
eomplete powers to negotiate and control Indian affairs on the frontior, in-
dependent of the military; a guavantee to the western nations that the king
w:rotect them in their rightful claims to lands lying outside the settl-
84 regions of the colonies, ands the establishment of a well regulated, fair

u‘"«: an excellent summary of British Indian policy before the Revolue
See1 Peter Marshall, "Colonial Protost and Inmperial Fetrenchments

Policy 1764=1763", Journal of American Studies 1 (1971), 1-17. Also
Value ig Jennings, "Indians" Rwolution" pp. 3




trade with the western tribes in the hope of thus maintaining their friende
ship and cooperatien. It was in his efforts to bring these measures inte
being that Johnson began to ignore the Iroqueis and work for a new, quite
different Covenant Chain relationship.

In Johnson's scheme of things, the Iroquois would play an important,
though subordinate, role in the new Indian establishment. As England's old=
est and most powerful Indian ally, the Confederacy would be useful in supporting
crown policies and in influencing other tribes. Johnson would continue to
support Iroquois claims of control over the Ohio Valley in order to facilitate
negotiations and land transfers. The Five lNations could also serve as a use=
ful counterpolse to the numerous and latently hostile western tribes. All of
this was to be conducted, however, from a position of superioresubordinate,
not in the context of "brothers", although that texm continued to be employed
as a diplomatic nicety throughout the peried. Iroqueis prestige and independ=-
ence were also challenged, indirectly, from another point. Johnson clearly

‘: saw the new political and military realities on the frontier, one of which was

’L the potential power of the western nations. The Creat Lakes and lower Ohio

| Valley were now the centers of British interest, not the invasion routes into
the New Yorkeliew England region. As a result, Johnson spent much time and
energy courting the Ottawa Confederacy and relatively less time on the Iroguois.
In his view, the Five Nations, whose strategic and economic value were now

‘ linited, could conveniently be subordinated as part of a larger, imperial

Pattern of Indisn relations, Thus, the new Iroquois-English relationship

‘-11 be by nature contractural. The English would support the Iroguois and

clains only as long as the Five Nations could effectively act as a support

British imperial policies.



Whether the Mve Wations could adequately fulf11l their new role was an
open question in 1760, That the Mohawk and Oneida had suffered heavily dure
ing the wor can be attegted to by reveated wequests for food and clothing as
well as by The obeervations of visiting Mﬂ.e!nm.m Thare was alsc the
renewed pirohlem of land speculation in the Mohawk Valley., With the end of
the war, dozens of wouldebe land barons, including Johnson and the Iisutenant
Governor of New York, strove 4o Ty up large tracts of Troquels land. The
methods were often nothing short of rohbery and cansed the lower Iroquois much
concern for thelr Mture eeconomic securdity and secial integrity. imilor
schemes along the Wiagara River posed a threat to the wesfern Suma..m

Finally, there was the problem of the client itribes, especlally those on
the upper Chio Piver, The war had given tha Delawere and Shawmee the oppertunity
nesded to declare their independance from the Iroquois and conduct thelr own
diplomacy with the English and French, The fnglish had given mpport to this

movement hy negotiating directly with the Ohio Indisns in an effort to end
the costly and embarrassing frentier wear in Pemngylvania, The mngo were also
taking a more independent atiftude. Any loss of cooperation with these people
could further undermine Iroquols standing with the Engllsh, dnéothcmlmn
and royal covermments expected +the Five Natlons o control and negotiate for
these peorle, particularly in the matter of land <msrsiona.‘"'9
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The magnitude of the diplowatic changes then taking place on the fron=
tier and the level of dlscontent and concern felt by at least some Irogueis
can be seen in the events suxrounding the Detreit conference of 176l. This
mesting, from Septembexr 9ih to 17th, represented Jehnson's first attempt teo
nake a permanent peace with the Great Lakes nations end bring them into aa
erlarzed CGovenant Chain, whereln they would be linked with the Five Nations
to the Inglish in anm slliance that would guarantee future cooperation and a
orofitable trade. That Johnson underteek a leng and potentlally dangerous
trip from the lohawk Valley te the recemtly occupied Detrolt area suggests
the lmportance that he, and the English military command, placed in the west-
arn tribes.

As Johnson moved up the Mohawk toward Oswego early in July, he held seve
eral neetings with iroguofs delegetions, While the subject matter of these
encounters varied, they : included a trief explanation by Johnson of his

\ trip as an effort to atru:gthm the Confederacy by tringing it more allies.

b
In reply he received a steady stream of complaints about bad treatment frem

soldiers and expressions c:r conecarn over the sudden change in Engliczh pelicles.
At a meeting with a group of Missisaugas living in Iroquola, Johnson was ques=
tioned closely about the continued movement of treopz into the west now that
the fighting had swpped.lm The Onondaga expressed concexn over Johnson's
Jowrney to Detrolt, sinece it appeared to violate custon and threatened the
centrzl position of the Troguols council fire ln Frglish frontier diplomacy, ot
.
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At this same neeting, the OCnondagas complained about the plundering of one
of thelr hunters, Kanadacta, by troons moving to Oswogo.ua One of the most
persistent complaints, however, was over the @ dden shortare of anminition,
Nearly every group encountered asked why the eupply of lead and powder had
heen suddenly curtailed, and asked for esnough to sustain hmtins parties.lss
The ounpowder issme was 6f no amall importance, During the war, when the Ir-
omois were essential to Fnslish cperations, the amminition had been freely
and plentifully distritnted, Now, as fighiing ended, the Enplich seemed bhent
on totally disarming their allies., It must also he borme in mind that, for
many Troquois hunters, gunpowder had becone o baszle necessity, without which
families and whole villages might starve. The Enplish commander misht ration-
alize his rew policy of linmited allotments as 2n economy measure an?d onc da-
gimned to keep the Tndiansz under control, "o the Ivogquols, mich action could

only mean an attempt by +their brethers to snBdne them and take thelr lands,
Johrson could provide ne ready anawers to mﬁe complaints and attempted to
pacify hirt feelings hy maling monetary regtifviion for plundered goods and by
iswing, scains® orders, smell amounts of powlder and lesad 1o keep the young men

Having reached Detroit late in Auguct, Johnsen prepared for the coming
council., At the opening of the conference on September 9th, he took a step
- Of some significence when, symbolieally taking a brand from the Irequols council
fire, he 1it a2 council fire st Detroit for the western nations. In =o dolng,
Jehneon was taking the first step towerd the establishment of what later was
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to become a basic element of British frentier policy: dividing the Indians
into sevarate, Tival confederacies t0 lemsen the liklihood of military co-
o-pmtion.lsu

The bulk of the conference was taken up with the exchanze of good will
and promicses on both sides to hold firm to the Covenant Chain and to cooperate
in m2intaining peace., TFor his part, Johnson assured the assembled sachems
and warriors that the Enslish would provide ample trade and preserve Indian
lands, HMies speeches were stronzly seconded by a delegation of Mohawks, led by
Fickus of Canajoharie, whose presemce was intended to demonestrate Irequois
cupport for Johnson's actions.t?d

The conference ended with two symbolic acts, The Ottawa, who dominated
the immediate recion, gave 2 calumet to the Mohawk as 2 symbol of unien, in
the names of 211 the western nations., This act completed at least one of
Johneon's missionst the reunification of 2ll the tribes within the Covenant.
It is significant that threughout the conference, the western tribes were re-
ferred to as "bretheren" by beth Johnson and the Mohawks, and not in the in-
ferior term of "children". While such an slliance of tribes would ensure
greater efficiency in handling Indian affairs, Johnson was also aware of its
potential hazarde, Therefore, as his last officlal act in council, he appointe-
ed three Wyandot sachems to lead the so-called "Ottawz Confederacy®, to embrace

8ll of the western nations livineg near the Great Lakes, Just how mich of a
eonfederacy it was, or how cooperative its members were toward each other is
unclear, To Johnsen, however, its purpose was clear: it was to serve as a
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counterpoise to Troguois power in the east. Such a confederacy could help
ensure Iroquols cooperation hy it= coereive use. This confaederacy could alse
sarve to keep easterm and western nations a.paz*t.."s6
While Johnson was speaking to the Ottawa Confederacy, he mwas also itrye
ing to rather detalls coneerning a veported plot, involving a mmber of
tribes, to overthrow British military forces in the west., News of this plot
was first made Imowm throush a dlspatch from the Detroit commander, Ceptaln
Campball, to his superiors in New York, who then ferwarded it to Johnson.
According to Campbell, the Indians around Detroit were being stirred up a=-
gadnst the English by two Seneca who claimed to speak for all the Irequois.
These two men, Cuvasittha and Taheladorls, displayed beltis which, they claime
ed, had heen sent by the Onondaga couneil, The operation, z:- Canpbell undex-
stood it, was 1o consist of systematic attacks on the western posts, inclvde

1
ing Magara and Fort Pitt. 5 Once dlscovered, the plot, if such there was,

guickly evaporated., Johnson and Amherst, however, were mich concerned over
the very idea of an Indian assanlt, particularly one led or even planned by
the Five Tations.

While the nature of the plot, and the identity of the conspirators, is
uneertain, the circumstances surrounding it reveal mich 2bout Iroowols attie
tudes toward the Fnglish and their perceptions of what the future held for
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then and other Indiam.lsa Thal thore was indeed soume plan to drive the Lug=

lish out ol the wes! scems certaln, given the prevalling mood of the Jencca
and other Indians as well as informatlon provided Ly othexr obsme:cs.lsg
The nessengers appesr to have been either from the village of Genesee
or from the upper Ohlo. Whichever the case, they represenied people who were
the least accommodated of all the Iroquois te English intrusion inte the waat."‘o
That the Seneca had ample veagon for thelr hostile feelings toward the English
is quite clear. On the Ohio, British troops were busily establishing = chain
of posts from Forl Pitt Lo Lake lrie., Along the lisgara River, in the very
heart of Seneca territory, recently retired Dritish officers had been given ver-
rizesion %o establish farms and stvrt.til.cmem’cn;.“"61 All of this seemed to the Sen=
eca to be clear violation: of vepeated promieses made %o them by Johnson dure

ing the war, The Seneca themselves offered as thelr reasons for thelr anti-

Inglish feclings the disrespect shown to them by the garrisonsz and traders,

the suddon rednetion ef ammmition supplies, and their strong notion that these

ware evidence of an English attempt to "cut them off" and teke the land. The
tion apveared otwiouss strike before the Hnglish conld complete their

e 2% g explanstion was supperted by Mnglish shemvers,  Jobnstn weid

158Jc>hn.sxon assumed that the plotiers were from Genesee, hovever, Cuyasutia,
at least, was living on the Ohio., See: Campbell to Amherst, June 17, in

gy IIT, pp. 430=h0; Wallace, Indiang ip Pennsylvemis, ps 173.

159Nicholaq B. "a.im-mirht, ed.. “(eorre szgnn s Jourmal 1750-1763",
yivan agazine 3lesraphy 71 (19.7)0 Lo7-408.
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&Jm to Daniel (Qans, Castle Cumberland, May 20, in Johnson Pavers,
PP. 263-70,

"Copy of the Conferemee sent by Capt. (amble At a Council held at the
Town near Fort Detroit 3¢ July 1761 by the Deputy's of the six Nations

th :\‘fnﬁa "as, Wiandots, Chipewelighs, & Powtewetamis”, in Johnson Paners,



0 Amherst that "I f£ind of late thal all the Nations in Alliance with us &
those who might be hrought in to Ma Majestys Interest, are verry Jealous &
measy at the coolness & indifference ' they thin®: is shevm tovard them, and
above all at the want of ammnition, vhich they look upon to he done with a de=
slzn of 2alling upon them,*+o3

Any plans laid at Detroit, once dlscoverad by Captain Campbell, never
meterialized into a2 echersnt attempt to reslst Pritish power. Indeed, cive
omgtances surrounding the whole incident are incomplete and at times countra=
dictory as to the parties involved and the ultimate goals of any attack. The
Seneas nevew recponded to Johnson's repeated demands for en explemation in a
vay thet would reveal 211 of the details of 2 plot. This, however, is relative-
1y unimvortant, The importonce of any Senecs plot was its demonsiration that,

in 2t least a limited wey, many Indians were by no means willing to accept
~ the Pritirh definition of frontier relations and were willing to contemplate
gteps 4c actively remove this new threat from thelr territory.

Plote, and the poesibility of 8 frontier war after 1760, had not really
beer & major conrideration of the British government ss it developed its new
western poliecy. Imperial officlals complacently believed that the Tndiang, of
whatever group, would be more than happy to become second-clacs citimenc in
thelr own 12nd in exchange for the somewhat dublous advantzges thai trade and
~@1liance with Tnslend covld sive them. The revelation that 2 plot was indeed
2 reality, and thet 4t included large mumbers of England®s mpposedly leyal
| the Troquols, 1ed to worry and fear or the part of military and civil
ties ir the ecolomies, Throush the Winter of 1761, military and Indian

, u,JOhnsen to Amherst, Fort Johnwan, Juns 21, in Johnson Papers, X, p. 291,
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officlals wers engased in a contimous correspondence, the tople of which 'ms
the location and leadership of one plot after another, ranging from Mentreal
to the Ohlo. Chief amonz the hunters after conspirators was Major Henry Glade
win, stationed at Fort William Augustus, near Montreal., He repeatedly warned
of a massive attempt by the Northern Indlans to rise up and wipe out the Inge
1lish in Oamda..la In his zeal to root out such attempts, he even hecons some=
thinz of an intelligence agent, employing Canadian Indiansz as spies to seak in-

formation from their villages.lés

Johnson, in order to satisfy hisz own ques=
tions and doubts about Gladwin's information, finally ordered his deputy in
fanad2, Daniel Clans, to investigate the »mmors and warn the tribes of the con=
sequances of any bad ’Jeaua.v!.ar.‘lé6

¥hile there is little aevidence to glve credence to Gladwin's reports,

there 4s no doubt that, as 1762 opened, conditions on the frontier in genaral,

and anonz the Iroquois in particular, were going from bad to worse. Johnson
Plammed to hold a conference at Fort Johnson later in the year to appralse

the Five Nations of the Detroit council and to ferret out the Seneca conspir=-
ators, Prior to that meeting, however, hi:z time was taken up in listening to,
and trylog to answer, a constant stream of complaints and allegations from
various parts of the Longhouse. As early as January, the Oneida, speaking on
behalf of the Confaderacy, announced that the English must immediately stop all
further settlement of the Mohawk Valley. The speaker offered as the major
Teason the fact that "we begin already to be greatly confined, not having sufe
..

1“809 for example: DMajor Henry Gladwin to Amherst, Fort Willianm
Sy Felwuary 4, 1762; and Gladwin to Amherst, Fori William Augustus,
5, 1in Johnson Faparg, X, pp. 380-81.

usiludwi%o Amherst, Fert William Awsustus, Febrvary 24, in Johnson
] ’. .

Johnson to (laus, Castle Cumberland, February ¥, in Jonnson Fapers,



ficlenl left us foxr ouxr hunling." lie went on te explain that "We have had

our Lande fron the beginudng of the World, and we love ther as we do our lives,
therefore we hope you'll put e stop te any etienpt of that rature of ithe fue
w167

ture. At the szame time, the lohawke launched an atiack en the ilock
fanily of Canejoherie for & variety of decelis and misrepresentations cone
cerning lerd sales and rents iuvolving the Cauejoharie village.

The old complaint abovt a shoritage of ammunitien wes also hesrd aex.in.ue
In thiz context, however, another rearon emerged for Iroguois concern abeut
the powtler supply and thelr feellrgs of apprehension ebout British intentionc.
During this period at least come of the Five Nations, principally Senecas and
Cayugas, had renewed thelr traditional conflict with the southern tribes, pave

ticularly the Cherclkee and Catawbes. Palding wes an essential way for young

nen to prove both thelr valor and thelr ebilities as lenders within their com=
mrities. Inter-tribsl ware aleo enabled The Iroguols %o project emnities out-
ward, *hus lessening the opportenities for%frietion at howe, Firally, consider-
ing the Wloed sport nature of Indian warfa;'e ae vell as the importsnce of the
revenze mechaniem, it was vital thet raids be conducted o make up losszes and
revenge the deaths of sachems and waxriors lost in earlier attacks, By the
niddle of the eighteenth century, these coals could net adequately be accome
Plished withont the use of muskets, Witheut a resdy supply of 2mmarition, the
Iroqnots were nlaced at = declded disadvantage relative to theix enemies. This,
10 furn, must have led to feelings of doubt abeut Pritish intentions anl the

that the Mive Watlons mizht fall vietin te an TnzlisheCherokee conzpiragy.

m"Journal of Irdian Affalrs®, Fort Johnson, Jamary 23«25, 1742, in
X, p. 360.
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It chould be further noted that the Iroquols were Juzt as susceptible to
runcrs of Bnglish "plots" ac the English were to similar behavior by Senecas
and Wyandots.

The general corference +hat John=zon had called convened on the 21st of
April at Johnson Hall. No sooner had the traditional preliminaries been
dispensed with than Johnson launched into a renewed altack on the Genesee
Senecas for stirving vup dlscontent among the western nations. If the Iroquols
still retained any illugions that the geod old days still lingered, Johnson's
vemarks must have shattered them, !is comments and tone were handly mothere

ly and the tivade ended with a stearn warning of maselve retaliation should
the Troouols dare attack thelr Hnglish mﬂ.‘ﬁ;;l'imrs."69 His comments were ime-
nediately supported by his loyal chorus from Gananjoharie whose sachem, Abraham,
denanded that the western Irogquols coniimue to uphold and honor the Covanant .
Chaln and that the sachems maintain a strong control over thelr young m.r”
The “eneses spaaker replied by offering an explanation of circumstances
 mrrounding the plot, Ia hrief, he explained that the idea cams from the iy=
andot, 'iith the Seneca delegation going west merely to find out if ths ¥Wyandot
ware in fact willing to earry out the plan. Any actual Seneea compliecity he
blamed an the unilateral actions of Tahaladoris whe, 1t was said, promised aid
in the name of the Senaca} something he was not empowered to do. Cuyasutha
Supported this claim, saying that he was a “stranger" to any such pledze of
- .1'71 Tie exchange only meceaded in clouding the matter and increase

169"India.n Proceediras®, Johnson Hall, April 21-23, in Johnsou Papers,
PP 692-93.

lmm-o PR. 694=95,
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ing, rather than decreasing suspicions,

The more interesting thing about the exchange, however, was the fact that
the Genesee speaker was not a sachem or Pine Tree Chief, but a warrior. That
a warrior should speak in council in time of peace was highly umisual, since
it violated the traditional separation of war and peace functions. The speak-
er explained the situation by saying that the sachems had been delayed by bad
roads, But beyond this, he explained that "We are in fact the People of Con=-
sequence for managing Affairs, our Sachems being a parcell of 0ld People who
say much, but who mean & act very little, so that We have both the power &
ability to settle matters . « +"/2 In this passage may lie part of the ex-
planation for the uncertain, aggressive behavior of many Irequois at this time.
Apparently, at least among the Seneca, the end of the war, bringing with it an
end to opportunities for winning valor and status, was causing the young men
much concern. In addition, the contimued arrogance of the English, coupled with
the threats to the tribal land base, must have been causing considerable fric-
tion within Seneca society. Thomm.nmtooumotthohuudug
people, were unhappy at being restrained by the sachems, whose job it was to
Preserve social order and peace. The statement suggests that seme warriors
balieved the elders were either unable to take charge of the situation, or
worse, were deliberately cooperating with the English, perhaps in order to main-
taln their own prestige and power. In short, the statement of the Seneca war-

Tiors from Genesee may have been a reflection of a growing crisis within Ir-
Squeis soclety areated by the changes in frontier conditions and English policy.
That arisis may in turn be reduced to a question of alternatives: whether it
WS better to accommodate or resist. Certainly the traditional power struc-

S ——
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ture within the Genesee community was being altered, as warriors now claimed
their right to =it in, and conduct, councils; something that dees not fit
the traditional pattern of Irequois pelities.

In addition to this evidence of intra~tribal conflict, there was an
exchange between the Onondaga and Mohawk that suggests a rift between these
peoples. The Onondagas expressed their concern that the Mohawk had "never
attended our Conferences, altho' yeu knew we had twe places of meeting, Onon-
daga & Fort Johnson, we hope for the future you will, agreeable to Antient
Custom, attend them more clesely and that you will not fall being present at
that which we are shortly te have at Chemussio."” The Mohawk reply was short
and to the points they did not attend because thoyhuduvmbmimm.nj
It may be that the Mohawks' eagerness to remain faithful to the Covenant
Chain had caused them to be ignered by the upper nations, or rather, suspect-
ed of being too much in Johnson's interest. The exchange certainly reflect-
ed a concern for unity and loyalty on the part of all the Iroqueis, perhaps
in recognition of the fact that only as a united people could they hope to
withstand English aggressiveness. It also conjured up feelings of jealousy be-
tween the Mohawks and the other Iroquois, feelings that carried over from the
tine of the 1754 Albany conference. Whether such jealousies were purely Ir-
oquolis in origin cannot readilyth determined, but that they were aggravated
by the present state of Irequois-English relations seems certain,

Coupled with these exchanges, the conference included many complaints
from the several participants concerning land, trade, and conflicts with Eng-
- Ushmen on the frentier. The Onondagas brought up the sore subject of the
Comnecticut settlement on the Susquehanna, and asked that it immediately stop.

—
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This issue, it was explained, was vital to Iroquois survival.l”* The Seneca
warriors, speaking through the Onondaga, complained abeut the flow of liquor
through their country, and announced their "resolution not to admit of, or use
any more, as we discover it to be destructive to all our people . « ."/°
The Oneida sachem Conoghquieson made complaint about the contimied occupation
of forts within Iroguola and the attendent friction between local garrisons
and the surrounding villages. As a military man, he could see no advantage
to contimuing the occupation of the forts, since the French threat was gone.
Further, he reminded Johnson of promises made to remove the forts upon the
mdofthom.]'%

Finally, the sachems presented Johnson with the war belt given to them
prior to the Niagara campaign. By that belt, Johnson had promised them a
falr trade, security, and fair dealings over land., So far the belt appear-
ed to be Just so many beads, devoid of any real meaning. It was time for
Brother Johnson to uphold his end of the Covenant Chain,}77

The council ended on the 28th of April. The Seneca buried the war axe
and promised to uphold the Covenant. Johna‘nprﬂladhduiwiththch—
mediate problems of liquor, trade, and the misbehavior of the troops. Beyond
that, little was sald. That Johnson was suffering no illusions as to what he
had accomplished is revealed in a letter to Cadwallader Colden. While men-
toning that the Seneca had given shtisfactory explanations of their past

17&“.‘0. P. wso
17&“"0 P. 700.
1761“‘-. P 707.

Y71va., pp. 707-708.



conduct, Johnson spoke of the "uneasy” feeling among the Iroquois, especially
over the English inability to stop settlement of the Susgquehanna Valley and
the sudden shortage of powder.’C Some time later, Johnson issued an official
report of the meeting to the Board of Trade., In that letter he spoke of the
Iroqueis jealousy of the growing power of the English and that the Indians
were becoming more jealous of their freedem. He further explained that the
Five Nations saw the garrisons as forces to "serve as checks upon, and at
last surround them."*7? He concluded by warning of an Indian war if steps
were not soon taken to correct abuses and btring the various tribes under more
ﬁnoontrd.m
The conference revealed the pressures that the Confederacy was being sube-
Jected to as English policy changed. OContimued land fraud, the sudden and
unexplained reversal of the old policy governing gifts and ammunition, the
courting of the western tribes by Johnson all served to cause internal friction
and to increase fears that their one-time allies were now plotting to over-
throw the Five Nations. At the same time, the sachems and Pine Tree Chiefs
contimied to follow the time honored methods of council and continued to
trust the English desire and ability to rectify problems and contime as
brothers. This pattern suggests that while some groups within the Confed-
M.ustmuymmnmnrnm.mmtmmuum-'
1ish policy might mean, a large part of the Five Nations was slow in reacting

R 178Jot.mnn to Colden, Fort Johnson, May 15, in Johnson Papers, III,
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to changing circumstances, relying on the old diplomacy, and contiming to
employ their assumed diplomatic and military power and usefulness as a lever
with the British.

The rest of 1762 was marked by exchanges and incidents that served to
reinforce the feelings of betrayal and uneasiness that the Iroquois had ex=
pressed to Johnsen in April. Further, the behavior ef the Five Nations, as
well as the Ohio and western Indians, indicated that tempers were running
short and that Johnson's explanations and threats were beginning to fall on
deaf ears.

The Mohawk Valley was in a state of alarm in August when the commander
of Fort Stanwix reported what at first appeared to be an attempt on his post
by the Oneida. As detalls came in, most of them supplied by the Indians in-
volved, the incldent came into perspective. The attack on Stanwix was in fact
an attack on a whiskey trading sutler who had apparently been giving or sell-
ing liquer te the Oneida warrioers. The sachems and women, acting in the only
manner left to them, sacked the sutler's stere and destroyed the liquor. Neth-
ing could have more emphatically underlined the desire of the Iroqueis to stop
the flow of rum through their villages. Johnson's response to this incident
is also worth noting., Instead of a warning or mild rebuke as in the old days,
he now demanded complete restitution of the destroyed property en pain of pun-
ishment. by royal troops..ol

No seoner had the Stanwix affair been made up than the Susquehanna Iro-

Wols, or Aquagas, came to Johnson with the strong demand that the English
m&m&rm&yum"m&n&"ﬂtﬂmwmw
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and that the nglish begin to fulfill thelr repeated promises to the Iro-
qnois.mz Shortly after this, a council was held at Johnson Hall, at the
Iroquois' request, te settle the Fort Stanwix incident. Elements of all
the Five Nations were present to pledge again their support of the Covenant.
The tone of this exchange is interesting in that the Iroquois messages im-
plied a strong fear of English rotdutioa.ma This fear did net, hewever,
prevent the sachems from again needling Johnson for a lack of geood will.
While apologizing for not promptly fulfilling their promises, primary of
vwhich was the immediate exchange of white prisoners held since the war, the
Iroquois said that such was the case with a people who could not record such
agreements. The English, on the other hand, with their written records,
could more easily see the promises they had made and, loglcally, could act
mqulddytofulﬁnth-.m The council ended on much the same note as
previous meetings. In addition to the gifts and pledges of brotherhood,

there were reminders of bad treatment by troops in the Mehawk country, and ef
1llegal settlements on the Susquehanna, all of which Johnson promised to in-
vestigate. ®

As 1762 drew to a close, indications of what would become common the follow-
ing year began to appear. George Croghan, in a report filed from Fort Pitt on

the diplomatic mission of Alexander McKee, noted evidence of a new effort by

the Shawnee, Delaware, and Seneca to overthrow British power in the west. The

—
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reasons offered by lMcKee were the Indlans' dread of English power and thelr
fear of being annihilated and their lands taken from them,’® These feelings,
in turn, were brought about by the m‘ of ammunition and, perhaps, the
renewed warfare with the southexn Ind:h.ns.m6 Further, McKee suggested that
the Iroquois and Ohio tribes were not returning theilr prisoners az 2 way of
guaranteeing contimed English good wann, 287 Croghan ended his report by not-
ing how fortunate it was that, through Johnson's effert at Detroit, the Iro-
quols and western nations were still very suspiclous of ca.ah other, and that

concerted action seemed M.m

Just two weeks before Groghan's rather ominous Teport, an incident occured
that, taken in the context of current Iroguois-inglish rol;tlons. seems to have
been unavoidable. Johnson reported te Amherst that informstion had been re-
celved of the murder of William Newkirk, a trader, by some Seneca, supposedly
MOMovulues.m Little is known from the records of Nekirk or of the
events that led to his death. Hewever, given the tension within the Seneca
nation, and the kind of behavior the Irogquolis had come to assoclate with men
such as Wewkirk, his murder may not be 0 difficult to rationalize. For what-
"&r&an.&aduthmkdthfhﬂoﬂlimofwinmmm
fall of Wiagara three years earlier. That it was English bleood says much for

’.96:35mto:om.on. Fort Pitt, December 10, in Johnsen Papers, III,
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how much the relationship between the English and the Five Nations had dete-
riorated over the past two yesrs.

The murder of Newkixk and one other English trader, supposedly by Semecas
from the Kanestio village near the Ohio, led to a prelonged exchange between
the lroquois and English., This exchange offers some insight both into IEng-
lish perceptions of their relations with the Five Nations, and what English
actions meant to the Iroqueis.

The murders could not have occurred at a mere inoppertune time in view of
current Iroqueis-inglish relations. The circulation of the Seneca war belts
was still fresh in English minds and led te increased feelings of distrust
which were enmhanced by the murders. On the other hand, the continued eccupation
of the western pests and the reduction of gifts and ammunition contributed to
fealings of jealousy and suspiclion among the Five Nutions.lm In addition,
the liohawk were becoming more and more alarmed at the continuing attempts made
on their lands by speculators like Ury Klock. Jehnson was concerned with the

possibility of vielence as it became evident that the sachems were finding it
difficult to contrel and placate their young nrzta-.lm
To these problems, Johnson added another when he announced in council that
Amherst would settle for nothing less than the surrender of the Kanestio mur-
derers for trial in an English court. This request, which seemed reasonable
to English authorities, took the Iroquois by surprise and created a crisis as
English intentions became clear. The Irequois sachems, particularly those from

—
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Onondaga, attempted to stall Johnson's request by asking that time be given
for them to reason with the Seneca and attempt teo work out a compromlse.

In March, the sachems returned and reperted that they had been unsuccess=-
ful in their attempt to find the murderers. In compensation for this, they
suggested that the Semeca make payment for the deaths, agreeable to the old
customs. It was assumed that the English, as holders of the Jovenant Chain
would, conformable to tradition, accept this custom and not press the issue.

The initlal shock came vwhen, in reply, Johnson returned the belt assoclated

#ith this cuggestion and demanded that the murderers be turned in immediately.l??
Johnson's refusal was a symbolic announcement that times had changed. For the
English, the Covenant Chain no longer represented a diplomatic relationship

based on equality. In the future, the Iroquois would have to accept an in-
ferior status, and yleld to English authority and custom.

The assembled sachems appeeled to Johnson to do as he had always asked them
to do: uphold the Covenant and its body of customs and reciprocal obligations.
They underlined this request by stating that "it is not in our Power to de~
liver up the Murderers, having no hwe for that purpse."l” Johnson, in a

threatening manner, again refused the offer of the condolence and demanded the

- Teturn of the murderars.
ro:; the Five Nations, Johnson's sudden, unwarranted demand must have come
28 a complete surprise. He was asking, in effect, that the Iroquois accept a
- hew, radically altered, version of the Covenantj one that would place the Iro-
@ols and their scclety at a marked disadvantage in dealing with the English,

| —

192
4 "An Indian Council®, Johnson Hall, March 16-19, in Johnson Papers
L p. 626-30, 630-30. " :

193111(., P. 629,



The request alse had important political ramifications. In order to meet
Johnson's demands and avoid the possibility of retaliation, the sachems had to
attempt something for which there was no precedent in Irequoisz custom. The
limlted power of a sachem effectively prevented the kind of police action the
inglish were demanding, Only with the agreement of the people of Kanestio
could the village, or Oordm.gudxm deliver up the mirderers, assuming
these could even be located. In a§ doing, the sachems would be in violation:
ofthelndemdmofthomiowm. in the case of the Seneca, vere al-
ready losing respect for txaditiom euthority. The temsions that Johnson's
request fer Justice created were a\fﬁd.cnt to divide villages, natiens, and
even the Confederacy itself. That it added to the jealousy many Iroquois were
already feeling toward the Bnglish cannot be deubted.

On several occasions following the indtial confrontation, the Iroquois

again tried to get Johnson to honer the eld Covenant. As before, Johnson's

end Amherst's positions remained unchangeds the murderers must be given up.
Privately, Amherst announced that he would no longer honor the Cevenant, but
demanded Iroquois obedience to the reality of British centrol on the frentier.
Further, he told Johnson that, now that +the French war was over, he would
sharply reduce the supplies of gifts and provisions formerly given te the In-
dans, 19

Finally, in lay, the Five Nations made one final appeal. The speakers
imediatelv took the moral high ground in chastising the English for breaking
*he Govenant. An Oneida sachem, Teyyavarunte, apologized for the necessity of
baving to remind the English of their anclent ohligatiens, but felt such words

‘”Anhu-t to Johnson, New York, April 3, in Johnson Papers, X, pp. 648-49,
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That the Iroquois saw the Covenant Chain as much more than a political ex-
pediency is evidenced by the speaker's entreaty that the English hold fast to
the agreement lest the Great Spirit punish them for vielating such a sacred
oath. % Reinforcing moral argument with something the English could mere
readily understand, the speaker hinted that further viclation of tho Covenant
mmldb.luuufdrm.lw To Amherst, they expressed their concern for the
murders but explained that they “could not prevail en our Nations to deviate
from ye Custom, & rules of our Ancestors, neither was it so0 much insisted on
untﬁm."198

In their final arguments, the Iroquois sachems reminded Johnson of their
own consistent support of the agreements entered inte veluntarily by both sides.
In a statement worth queting at length, the speaker saids

We have had many of our people killed by y® Bretheren since y® first

Settlement of yT people here & never sought fer any revenge or sate

isfaction (although in our power) after y® party offd€ had condoeled

ye death of the slain agreeable to our custem. for reason, we

cant help being of opinion, you must have some other cause for push=-

ing us so much in this affair & that, as we have reason to think is

for our lands . . . we can hardly believe he George III/ would

desire it. Wothe«mssgnrothumnv ook back te the 0ld

Aarmnt&uudobytt.l
With that stern reminder that agreements and abuses cut both ways, the Irequois

departed, allowing Johnson time to consider whether it was worth pursuing the

195upn Indian Conference”, Johnson Hall, May 20-28, in Johnson Papers,
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natter.

Lven while the cenfrontatien over the Newkirk murder was building, the
Iroquois and western nations were facing another unwelcome and unexpected
situation. The articles ef peace between ingland and Frence, signed late
in 1762, had recently arrived in the colonies. Among Johnson's duties was
informing the various Indian nations of the treaty and its nmeaning to them.
In particular, he was faced with the necessity of announcing that the lands
south of the Creat Lakes, formarly part of French Canada, were now part of
Bnglish Noxth America. Thic news came as a speclial blow to the hopes of the
Ohlo Indian=. Ceorge Croghan, at Feort Pitt, reported that the Delawares,
Shawnee, and Mingo were very unhappy at his recent announcement of the treaty
provisions., He told Johnsen that the Indlans were of the epinion that the
lands would be returned te irance, tlms re-establishing the status quo and
ensuring the continued indopendence of the Indlans,200

In view of nearly three years of abuse and a radically and rapidly chang-

ing system of diplematic and political relationships on the frontier, it is
)n‘hapsmmxrmsilztht.1nth08prlx0£1763.unylnd!padwutoro-
alst. In faci, resistance sesmed to be, for many, the only alternative re-
action to what had heen eccuring en the frentier. To submit meant destruction
of culture, loss of land, and perhaps loss of life. No middle ground was
avallable, The English demanded hat the Indians become vassals in an eighte
- ®enth certrry version of the old feudal system, with Johnson as the local baron

and George ITT 2= the kﬂ.mg-upar:or.m1 This system was anathema for a people

|
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who still regarded themselves as independent of any authority other than that
which came from themselves. In additlion, for many Indians, English actions,
particularly the stopplng of ammunition and control of trade, hinted of move
sinistor plans which would lead to their total destruction. The only recourse
for warriors and many sachems alike was war,

The remuliing struggle, hints of which began appearing in dispatches re=
celved by Amherst as early as May, ultimately involved more than a dozen tribes
znd led to massive destruction of military installations and settlements on
the Ohlo-Great Lakes frontisr. So complete and successful were the initial
assaults, that Amherst found himself unable to effectively resist since all
the posts west of Forts Pitt and Detroit had fallen. The war also illustrate
ed the wide gap betwsen Amherst's warlike rhetoric and the realities of his

situation. The British military was illeprepared to undertake operstions in

1763. lost regiments were in scattered garrisons and so badly depleted by

deaths and desertions that it was all Amherst could do to raise five hundred

nalarise-ridden Scots for service in Pennsylvania,

Iroquois perticipation was rot as lumediate as that of the western tribes,

nor were all Ivoquols equally involved. Most of the disaffected warriors were
~ Western Seneca and Cayugas. The veasons for thelr hostility seem tied to the
- Englich encreachment on the Ohie, where the Semeca had particulsr interests,
84 to the seneral abuse suffered since the end of the French war. X2 In ade
Utlon, the sudden shift in Britich behavier, as evidenced by the demand for
the Ranestic mirderars, seems to have played a major part in the Semeca decision
%0 resist, It must be moted also that the Semeca and Cayuga participation vas

m‘ﬂhnun to Colden, Johuson Hall, July 13, in Johnson Papers, IV,
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not total. The eastern Seneca villages remained at peace and evidence suggests
that only emall parties of Cayugas became actively engaged. At one of lds
nunerous meetings that summer, Johnson inquired of the Iroguois the ressons
for the Seneca defection and the general uprising. He was surprised to learn
that "the desire of the General to bring surders to punishment, with a design
to prevent a general quarrel, & serve as an exanple to others. -.o@ be in the
least considered as a pretext for the inciting the Senecas to act as they have
done."®3 In addition to this, the Iroauols listed the "dearness of powder

& goods" and "ill treatment, and went of any Suppliesz from the garrizons" as
Mmmnntdrmufuthomdvaumt.m Finally, as if the
English were not faced with enough problems, the sachems noted that one end of

the Govenant Chain, the Seneca, had already fallen and that the other end, the
Mohewic, might do likewise if land freuds contimied much longer,203

That the English had ample reason to be concerned about the action= of the
Seneca hecame vividly appavent when, on September li4th, warriors from Genesee
and Kanestio struck an sxmed convey on the Niagars portage roed. In 2 guick,
totally successful sssault, the warriors amﬁldhtod two companies of light
infentry end destroyed wagons, horses,cand supplies. A relief column from Fort

~ Niagars was dealt with in similer faahion.m6

B . 23npn yndsan Conference”, German Flatts, July 18«20, in Johnson Papers,
Xy po 751, 4
0L

”». ”“_J;;l.maon to Amherst, Johnson Hall, July 24, in Johnson Papers, X,

msxud-v P. 755.

mssae the following correspondence for detalls of this attack: Jean
te de Couagne to Johnson, Niagara, September 16; Colonel William

2 to Johneon, Niagars, 3eptember 177 and Captain Ceorce Etherington
J8tnson, Niagara, september 17, in Johnsen Papers, X, pp. 815; 816-17;



102

For Johnson, the issue was plains the Senecas had to be pacified and
the western nations brought ©o terase I view of the limited wilitary re=
sources available to Amherst, the Superintendent turmed to the still qulet,
though not completely happy, lower Irogueis for militarcy and diplomatic
assistance. le asked the sachens of the lower three nations to apply reasen
with the Deneca or else Amherst would have no cholce tut to retaliate. In
view of the Devil's Hele affalr, it is doubtful whether ilhe Seneca would have
been impressed by such threats. The sachems agreed, however, to use their
offices Lo promote peace. Iin Jeptember, the chiefs returned with delegates
from all the Seneca villages except Kanestle and Genesee, in ovder to repert
on their mission. The Onondags, speaking for the Seneca present at the meet-
ing, outlined the reasons for the fighting and thelr inability to pacify the

lﬂ two western villages. dJohnsen, unimpressed, again pressed them Lo bring the

Sencca to terms. e also strongly requested that the Iroquois hold to the
Covenant and give military aid agalnst the western nations, sinee the Iroqueis
mst feel obliged to defend thelr English brethren. 7This was the sane Johnsen
who, six months before, was prepared to abaudon the Covenant and drive the Iro-
Quois into civil m.m.’
The military aid was not fortheoming that year ui, in December, the

Genesee Seneca did come down to negotiate for an end to the fighting. They

&4 not come to wrroudem.m The delegates, led by the venerable Silver Heels,
&mnounced their intention of endirg hostilities and placed the Mlame for the

- War squarely on the Ohio Indlans., He went on +to say that the warriors of the

27nJournal of Trdian Affairs”, Johneon Hall, September 1-23, in Johne
X, pp. 828-38,

208
"Journal of Indian Congress", Johnsen Hall, December 2-5, in Johnson
xl mo 961-62.
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villages were acting alone and without the sanction of the councils. Johnsen
put. them off, saylng that he could teke no independent zcition, but must awelt
Anherst's instmc‘blons.m
Magotiations between the Iroquois and Johnson contlmued inte the Spring of
176%. The western Semeca made severel appearances at Johmson Hzll in an attempt
%o begln negotlatlions aimed at ending the fighting and reeestablishing good
cclations dth the Brglish, 20 Johmeon noted additional ressons for the Sencos
hostility of the previous year. Among them were the differences in treatment
accorded them by the inglish and Fraench and a loss of income derived from their
employment by the French as cmrriers on the Nlagsre portage. While this is the
only reference to such employment, it dees offer an interesting elternative exe

planation of Seneca warest. It iz quite possiltle that, in the heyday of ihe
French occupation of the west, the poriage misiness might have provided sube
stantial lncomes for many Seneca faudlies., A sudden less of this income in the
form of trade goods, ammunition, and food may have caured an e nomic aisis
- and mich real suffering. The btlame for this could easily be -atihedou'
- of the Bnzlish govermment vhosze occupation of the region had cansed the dis-
ruption.

While sporadic contacts contimmed with the Seneca, Johnson sought Ivoe
Guols warriors to accompany the planned expeditions of that year against the
and Ohdo nations. It is interesting to note, however, that he speut
of hie time and energy courting what mey be termed "fringe groupe", raiher

291114,

E m“ Conagne to Johnson, Nisgeva, Jaruary %, in Jehnson Papers, XI,
h Also sees “Journal of Indian Affairs”, Johnson Hall, Jamuary 2«31,
s XI, PPe Mso



than the Iroquois proper who, until late Spring, vemained above the conflict.
These groups were mainly Oneida and Tuscavora living on the upper Susque=
hanna, The documents suggeat that most, if not all, were converts to Christie-
anity. Johnson certainly appealed to thelr religlous zeal when asking them to
take up the hatchet. These groups clearly saw themselves as separate from the
Five Nations proper and disassoclated themselves from other "pagan" peoplos.m
Their speeches to Johngon reflected a zealous regard for the faith, suggeste=
ing that they may have been recent converts. Johnson undoubtedly hoped to gain
from the evangelistic feelings of these people by associating proper Christian
conduct with loyalty to the crown. In this he was successful, and the accule
turated peoples of Aquaga and other upper Susquehanna settlements went out on
raids led by officers of the Indian Department. That much of the old way still

persisted among these people is evidenced by their contimued performance of

the condolence and the formal tresty protocel.” ? On the ether hand, they were
being served by their ovm minister, Issac, an Oneida from Aquaga, His cree
dentials are uncertain, but in council with Johnson he left 1little doubt as to
his totel comnmitment to the new falth. This may heve been both a spiritual
commitnent and a realization that, as a minister, he could command the respect
and obedience of his pot:q:il.e.z":"3

I With the less religiously inclined Iroquois proper, Johnson employed
Im methods of gaining aid, with varying success. One, which he used often,

m"-hmm. of Indian Affairs”, Johnson Hall, Jamuary 2-31, in John-
ALy PDe 27=35.

A4,

a’;;x_z“ gndian Conference™, Johnson Hall, February 1, in Johuson Papers,
. .
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was to make an appeal directly to the warriors, thus aveiding the tribal

dscision-making process and weskening the sutherity of the sachems, ™'

He
also requested that an Onelda war party be cent out to tzke scalps in order
to replace the loss of Johnson's persenal friend, Kanodock. To emphasize
the point, he offered "a large Warrior's Belt of 3,300 wampum to excite them

to0 war. ,,215

Something of Johnson's ulterior motive in all of this can be
found in a report submitted to the new American commander, Thomas Gage. John-
son mentioned "makeing up a large Party to go against Kanestlo, which is a
mmerous nest of villiams, composed chiefly of Senecac, Shawanese, & a few
Delawares, when the Indians are once entered, it will inevitably become their
own quarrel, and effectually break the union w! alone we have to dread,"216

In late March, the western Seneca, numbering several hundred sachems and
warriors, came to Johnson Hall to negotiate again with Johnson. The Superin-
tendent hactily dispatched a message to Gage asking that any planned retaliat-
ion againsi the Seneca be postponed until the negotiztions could be concluded.
Esxly in April a formal council, witnessed by elements of all the Five Nations,
convened, during which the western Seneca and the hostile Cayugas formally bur-
ied the hatchet and agreed to resume peaceful relations with the English. Jehn-
son accepted on the condition that the Kanestio murderers be given up and that
the Seneca allow the English free use of a strip of land five miles wide on both

sldes of the Niagara River. To this the Seneca agreed. They then announced

——

a"'.tmmofmmmm- J 2-31, in Johnson Papers, XI
. 235, a", Jamary 2-31, » XI,

asrudu Pe 32,

asJOhn;:n to gsomtd Thomas Gage, Johnson Hall, February 3, in John-
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thelr willingness to go to war with Johnson against the Ohio Indians.l’ The
Seneca peace agreement gave Johnson the opportunity to circulate belts to the
western tribes announcing his willingness to meet them that summer at Niagara
to negotiate peace. Otherwise, he warned, Gage would strike them down with a
force that would now include a reunited Iroquois Confederacy.

The reversal of policy on the part of the Seneca and western nations, frem
hostility to peace, has often been explained by historians as the Indians' re-
cognition of defeat at the hands of a superior power. Quite to the contrary,
nothing in the April treaty, or at Niagara, hints of surrender. The fact is
that by the Spring of 1764, the war was deteriorating inte s stalemate.>"

While they had destroyed several small forts, the Indians had not deprived the

English of a foothold at places like m. Oswego, Detroit, and Fert Pitt.

On the British side, these forts were of little use in view of the fact that

the army was in a decrepit state and unable to mount any offensives except at

great cost. Indeed, in order to equip Colonel Bradstreet's army at Niagara in

May, Gage had to strip all of his inland posts and enlist several hundred Can-

adians whose loyalty he questioned. In such a situation, with no prospects of
! imnediate victory, and with no fear of immediate retaliation, the Senecas and
Lakes tribes decided to end the expense and bloodshed of the war and agree to
| what amounted to a status quo settlement. Historians have pointed to the Seneca
loss of the Niagara portage as proof of Johnsen's hard retribution on a vanquish-
®d people. It should be noted, however, that the treaty termed this as "free

r—

A%u\n Indtan Gonference*, Johnsen Hall, March 24-April 23, in Johnsen

Bapers, XI, pp. 139-41.

See alsos Gary Nash, Red,
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use” of the land, not ownership, something Johnson did not dare bring np.“’:l9
The Seneca, as they had demonstrated so well the previous year, still maintain-
dmwwwumnmmomctwrdtmnm. As to
the return of the murderers, which had been such a sore point for months, the
agreement went only so far as to "expect" the Seneca to comply. Neo hostages
weare taken to ensure compliance. The documents are net clear as to whether the
murderers weze in fact ever given up.zm ‘r!ltthcyicroh doubtful., Given
the nature of Iroquois society and local govermment, only the murderers them-
selves couninvo guaranteed compliance. If they refused to submit, there was
1little that could be done.

At Niagara, between July 17th and August 4th, Johnson held a series of
councils with representatives of the Five Nations and the western tribes design-
ed to bring an end to the year-long war. The gathering was most impressive,
uaumml.m'zum;numwmn-. The climax to the council
came on July 31lst when Johnson offered, and the western nations accepted, the
Covenant Chain. Soon after, Colonel Bradstreet's army departed for the relief
of Detroit. While Pontiac and several bands of warriers from the Illinois and
the Ohio Valley continued to resist, the Indians' attempt to force British
evacuation of the west was over,

The 1763 uprising and the Niagara treaty that ended it marked a watershed
ia Iroquois relations with the English. Force had failed to remove the English

from the country and, even though the Iroquois and the western nations were

P

29sn Indian Conference®, Johnson Hall, March 2i-April 23, in Johnsen
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damaged little during the conflict, it became increasingly apparent that such
attempts ocould accomplish little. After 1764, the Iroquois chose to accommodate
to the English in the hope of maintaining thelr independence and aveiding blood-
shed. The full elaboration of this approach can be seen in the events surreund-
ing the Fort Stanwix Treaty of 1768. In an effort to lessen the pressures eof
English settlement, and to avoid another war, the Iroquois, aciing on the now
largely mythical premise of dominance over the Ohie Country, ceded that land to
England. Only by acting as the negotiators for other tribes and accommodating
to English demands for land and lronucr; security could the Five Nations maine
tain a faverable status with the Briti (ooloahl governments., The legacy of
the Stanwix treaty was Lord Dunmore's .‘ulﬂb.uﬂumo.m.lmlnd-
avares ultimately refused to be dispossessed by people to whom they owed no
mmwm.m

This same spirit of accommodation and aveidance of conflict can be seen
in Iroquois diplomacy in the early years of the Revolution. Accepting early
requests that they remain neutral and allew the rebels and king to settle
matters alone, the Five Natlons d.ocl.u-ode an official neutrality reminis-
cent of the first half of the century. The climax came whemn, in 1777, British
and American leaders were no longer satisfied with neutrality, but began asking
for military aid. Torn between their responsibility to the Covenant Chain and
their desire to remain neutral, the Confederacy began to fall apart. Unable to
mm:ymmammm«rqmmmauwmwu-
Rands, threats, and entreaties, the ancient council fire at Onondaga, age-old

———

m-’-mlns-. "Indians' Revolution”, p. 334; Wallace, Death and Rebirth
s PPe M'ZSQ



symbol of unity, was covered over, Coupled with this was a major internal
crisis stemming from the sudden loss of several Confederacy sachens, resulte
ing in 2 loss of leadership at a critical moment. By the end of 1777, the Iro=-
guois were experiencing a civil war of Mohawk against Oneida, and Seneca against

Tuscarora, the like of which had not been scen since the days of the prophet

Doga.mwl.da._m

'
v
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CHAPTER V

UNREST IN THE LONGHOUSE:
1748 - 1764

The Iroquois people, during the middle decades of the eighteenth cen=-
tury, experienced internal stress and conflict that parallelled, and was
to some extent influenced by, the crises faced in relations with the Eng-
1lish. At the same time, the internal issues that faced the Five Nations,
or elements of them, conditioned the types of responses made to these arises
and, therefore, helped shape the pattern of Iroquois-English relations during
these years. In order to fully understand those responses, or lack of thenm,
the nature of Iroquols soclety and culture at mid-century must be investigated
in some detail., This is important since, in a tribal soclety, the political
functions of a people cannot be diverced from the cultural context as easily
as it can in a more complex, western soclety. Further, if the processes by

which certain Iroquois reached decisions concerning their relations with the
Englich are to be seen as more than merely reactions to English actions, csome-
thing must be sald of the issues and people who shaped the interral affairs of
the Five Nations.

Dealing with the internal politics and problems of the Five Nations pres-
‘mmummuu. In the first place, there is a tendency to speak of
- *he "Iroquois® or the "League” as theugh the Iroquois thought and acted as one
ETup. This was no more true for the Five Nations than for any Huropean seclety
&% the same time, Histerians tend te speak of Indian people acting as "tribes”,



and have given this 1ll-defined organization a life of its own. Recent ethno-
graphic and ethnohistorical study has demonstrated, however, that the tribe,
as used or abused by novelists and historians, seldom existed as anything more
than a geographical or vague cultural o:qlrossion.m These studles suggest
that in erder to identify and understand the people and issues that affected
Indian political patterns, one must move beyond the tribe to the village and
band levels., This seems te be particularly valuable advice in the case of the
Iroquois., While speakers were most often identified in treaty mimutes as
"Mohawk", "Onelda", or "Seneca", they speke as much on behalf of particular
interest groups or villages as for the "tribe" as a whole, even though they
often inveked the name of the tribe for diplomatic reasens. Finally, there 1is
the prohlem of evidence. At certain times, usually correspending to major
issues concerning Iroquois-English relations, there is an abundance of informa-
tion in council and treaty minutes concerning Iroquois leaders, conflicts, and
concerns. At other times, however, such information is lacking altogether or

‘. , is spotty at best. Therefore, it is difficult to make generaliszations concern~-

ing the Iroquois as a cellection of several nations and villages.
. The effects of such problems can be lessened by appreaching Iroqueis af-

falrs, both internal and externmal, in terms of specific issues and themes, and
the interaction of several distinct greups in conflict or cooperation over
those issues. By examining the Iroquois decision-making process and the problems
&nd ir.sues that shaped that process on an interest group basis, the pitfalls as-

F

E n’ﬂt the problems of using the "tribe" as an organizational scheme in

¥riting Indian histery, sees lWallace, "Political Organization and Land Temure
:: the Northeastern Indians, 1600-18%0", Metcalf, "Who Should Fule at Home",
fer, "The Political Context of a New Indian Histery“.
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sociated with the "League"™ or the "tribe" can largely be avoided. In such an
approach, the village, faction, or sex group becomes dominant. Such groups
were very real among the Iroquois and helped shape the political process, just
as similar groups did in English and French socleties. The League and the con=-
cept of the tribe can be accepted for what they appear to have been: cultural
synbols which served, imperfectly, to weld people together and to reduce in-
ternal conflict. A localized approach to Iroaquois politics can also serve to
put a leader such as Hendrick Peter or Tanacharison in his proper pesition rel-
ative to his followers and other, competing, men and grmps.zzb
That the Iroguels were experiencing some kind of intermal cenflict or

dislocation can be inferred from statements made by both Iroquois speakers

T and English observers concerning the behavier and attitudes of Iroquois people.

Further, this internal problem seems to have eut across the Five Nations,
touching, to some extent, parts or all of the several nations. The most pro-
nounced evidence of internal unrest are the abundant references in official
docunents to the use of liguor among the Five Nations. There are many refe
erences to Ivequois leaders being too drunk to ANegotiate at councils, of be-
ing, becanse of ligquor, unable to accompany military expeditions, and of
sachens and women demanding and pleading that the rum trade be stopped. lany
- Of these references appear in documents from the war years and the years ime
mediately following the conquest of Canada. While ligquor had long been present
anongz the Five Nations and, indeed, had often been used as a diplomatic lub-

“90r & detailed explanation of the interest group approach to native

can history by a pionesr of this method, sees Bruce Trigger, "Brecht
story”, Sthnohigtory 22 (1975), 51=56. Robert Berkhofer takes a

t different approach by emphasizing factionalism and political cone
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ricant at treaty councils, there seems to have been major concern about its
effects in the middle decades of the ocntury.zz5
Requests that the English do something to stop the rum trade among the
Iroquois were frequently made at councils. By 1755 rum, and its influence on
the Five Nations, had become a major issue in relations with the English. In
that year the Irequois listed it, along with land frauds, as theilr foremost
grievance with the colonies. These complaints continued at intervals through-
out the period until, in 1762, something of a climax was reached., Oneida women,
apparently fearful of the adverse effects of liquor on their peeple, attacked
a military sutler and destroyed his supply of z'ul..226
The mumber and strength of the complaints indicates that some Iroquois,
usually village elders and women, recognized that drinking was becoming a sig-
nificant social problem. While the evidence ic not entirely specifiec, refer-
: ences in couneil minutes and reports seem to bezx this out. Warren Johnson, un-
doubtedly reporting what he had heard from his uncle, Sir William, mentioned
that the Iroquois "often kill one another in Drunken fits."22! At another point

in his somewhat disconnected narrative, he mentioned that "the Indians drink
Rum mﬂq.'m At a council with the Irequois in December, 1758, Conoche
quieson, the "Chief Sachem" of the Oneida, requested that the liquor traffic be
stopped because “it not only disturbs us in our Meetings & Consultations where

| e

22%Many examples of the use of liquor in the negotiating process can
- be found in Lawrence H. Leder, ed., "The Livingston Indian Records, 1666=
Il".

Pennsylvania Histery 23 (1956), passin.

226
"An Tudian Conference", Johnson Hall, August 11-12, in Johnson Papers,
% pp. 180-83, G ieaicda ' ; s

m"Journal of Warrven Johnson", in Johnson Papers, AIIL, p. 186.
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the drunken Psople come in guarwrelling & very often have Weapeus in thelr
nands, it 1t 1ikewlse carrys off many of our People both old & young.">22
The impulse to drink must have been very great, however. At the saue nset-
ing, John=on observed, in answer to the abeove request, that several sachems
sald that 1f the liquer trade was stepped, their lives weuld be in danger.>-°
The nature of the evidence eited does not permit even an approximation of
the quantities of liquor comsumed or the mmber of Iroqueis invelved. However,
when compared to an earlier peried, it appears that the Iroqueis of the mid~-
elghteenth century were experiencing a liquor problem sufficient to cause
alevn among village leaders,”> It will be suggested here that the seemingly
incresced use of ligquer was a manifestation of internal change and dislocation
emong the Irvoquois and that rum was being used elther as a means to assart or
bolster lost or assumed status, or as a way of avelding turmoil and issues.
There are other refersnces in the exchanges between Irogquels and English-
men that suggest intermal unrest. The few emunmerations made of the Iroquels
villages and people during the postewar period reveal that the Five Natiens
vere undergoing a process of atomizatien. The treaty minutes and enumerations

contain many references to “Schoharles", "Aquagas", “"Oswegatchies", and "Minges".
Further, perticularly in the case of the Mehawk, villages were given separate
1dsntities that lead one to assume, without further investigation, that they

¥ere independent entities, with no connection at all to the cultural unit "Mohawk".

pr—

m;:mnzl of Indian Affairs", Fort Johnson, December 10, in Johnsen
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23137 comparison, the Livingsten Indizn Records are relatively free of
8y complatnts concerning the use of ligquer.
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Johnson's emumeration of 1763 reveals that the Iroqueis were living in a large
mmber of villages, scattered over an area stretching from Albany to the upper
Allegheny and into the Susquehanna Valley. !Mhile the evidence zays litile of
the status of these scatiered communities in relation to the five Nations proper,
there is little doubt that English officials treated them as Liadependent com-
minities, without regard to parent villages or nations.

These splinter groups had a variety of reasons for existing, and some
appear to have developed as a way of coping with internal pressures or con=
flicts. The Mingos appear to have evolved out of bands of western Iroquols who
migrated to the upper Ohio for purposes of hunting or trade. On the other hand,
the Aquagas of the upper Susquehanna seem to have had a far different motive
for breaking with their parent groups, the Oneida and Tuscarora. Johnson not-
ed in 1757 that "they are a flourishing & encreasing People, as many of our
friend Indians amongst the Six Nations who are disgusted with the ruleing pol-

\ itics of their Feople leave their Castles and go & settle at om.*m
Thelr disgust with the "ruleing pelitics" may be explained by the fact that a
large mmmber of the Aquaga settlers were Christian converts, led Ly their own

native minister. Thelr outspoken support of the new faith and ardent desire to
protect it may have led them to migrate from their pagan assoclates at Oneida

in mich the same way as the Caughnawaga Mohawks did a century earlier.’”’ Sim-
flarly, the Oswegatchies, also Oneidas, appear to have moved te the mission of
that name near Montreal to be nearer their French missionary.

—

' - #32j0hnsen to Lord Loudoun, Albany, September 3, 1757, in Johnson Papers,
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In addition to this scattering of the Five Wations, there were inecldents
of firiction betuween the sevaral natienz. At Albany in 1754, the Mohawks of
both villages complained bittexly to Johnson of the evil rumors and derogatory
remarks made abont them by other Iroquols. On two separate occaslons, Jahn-
son was warned hy Mohawk informants against traveling to Onondaga on business
becauce they feared that the upver nations m& not be trusted. Further, in
some pleces of correspondence, Johnson referred to the Five NHations as the
"upper” and "lower" Iroquols as 1f, in his owm mind, the two groups represeli=
ed dishtinet interests and had to be dealt with acecordingly. In mosht cases the
friction centered on the Mohawk and appears connected to that group's special
relationship with the English govermment of New York, When the Mohask come
plained at not having been invited to several Jonfederacy councils, the reason
mey have been the lack of cartainty on the pexrt of the upper four nations that

| the Nohawk could be trusted with Iroquols business and confidences.>>

Finally, there 1s a reference made by Sir William Johnson, in 1772, to
witcheraft among the Ivequols. The reference was made in reply to inguires about
the Five Nations made by Arthur Lee of Virginia., The reply was in the natuve
of a general summary of Iroquols polities, lifestyles, and custems, without
specific references or dates. Therefore, it is impossible from this single
reference to determine whether witcheralft played any significant role in Iro-
Quols 1ife during the middle of the century., It must, however, have existed
in some form, at least a few years prior to Johnson's mention of it, Witch-
eraft and 2 stronz belief in supernatural powers, good and bad, had been a corner-
———
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stone of traditional Iroquois bellef systems.?> In this respect, Johnson's
observation nmay have been an i=olated incident or mexely his rendering of trae
ditional rites and bellefs. On the other hand, the prevalence of witchcraft
may have bean symptomatic of internal twauma or dissatisfaction. Among the
Iroquols, persons accused or found gullty of witcheraft could Le killed with
impunity with the complete sanction of the village invelved., In a politieal
conflict over basic questions of power and autherity within the Iroquois come
munities, a charge of witcheraft might well have sexved the purposes of one
party or another. |
Several things wﬂdlnnmtortho scattering of people, the use

and increased concern over the use of liquer, and the friction ameng and between
the Five Nations. The Irequois were contimuing to feel the effects of sustain-
ed contact with Guropeans. Jehnson 1n 1772 that "those nearest to Us
[;‘vg] in a great measure lost their ami.int eustﬁs or confounded them with
ours."®® Guropean culture did net affect all Irequois equally or similtanesus-
1y, and this may account for misunderstandings between those who had adopted

~ Englich custems and economic patterns and those to whom such customs were still
alien and unwelcome. The evidence of change in material culture is more abun=
dant than of changes in attitudes and bellefs among the Five Nations. Warren

- Johnson observed that some Irogueis wore "check shirts & seme Ruffles of the
_ same & also Indlan shoes stockings & night cape.">>! He alse mentionsd sleep=

—

2350n the subject of witcheraft among the Iroquois, see: Wallace, Death

_ 236Jibh:txson %o Arthur Lee, Johnson Hall, March 26, 1772, in Johugou Papers,
”’nx. P« 950,
237

. "Journal of Warren Johnson", p. 191.



ing in a “straw bed" at 0ld Brant's in Canajoharie, and that many of the Iro=-
quois there owned sld.ghs.m Abraham, brothar of Hendvick Peter and one of
the sachems of Canajoeharie, reported that he had been attacked in Jamary ef
1758 by soldiers while putting his horses in his stable after a sleighride
from Johneon's home, 27

On the other hand, the Iroquois still maintained meny of thelr traditional
practices. JHven thoze who had contaet with mizsionaries and who had, by their
own atatements, converted, still performed the condelence ceremony. The con=
dolence, use of wampum, 2nd other forms of public address were used without
exception at meetinss with BEnglish officlals. Seme old weapons and skills per-
glsted in the face of Duropean trade and technelogy. Warren Johmson noted that
the Indians were good archers and “can kill anything with Bew & Arr.ws."m

I ¥hile materizl culture contimued to change, ‘g0 did the population. Cone

temporary observers agreed that the Irequols, while still a potent foree on the

frontier, were declining in mnmbers. On the eve of the American Revolution, Sir
Guy Johnsen placed Ireoquois fighting strength at abeut 2,000 non.m
give a total population in 1774 of between 8,000 and 10,000 people. These fig-

This would

ures agree with those submitted by Sir William Johnsen in the 17605.2"2 While

2B1ma., pp. 192, 190.

239 Journal of Indian Affairs®, Fort Johnso
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no accurate population figures exist prler to 1763, Warren Johnson noted that
vhen Sir William came to America in 1739 the Mohawk alone numbered 1,400 fight-
ing men. In 1774 they mumbered somewhat less than 300, if the separate community
of Schoharle is included,?” Allowing for inaccuracies in both sets of Figures,
it appears that the lichawk suffered a dramatic decline in population in a rele
atively short span of time. The Seneca, on the other hand, contimued to maine-
tain an impressive number of men, representing over half of all Iroquois nane
povar in 1774%. The differences in munbers between the two nations suggests

that population stability or decline was in part influenced by the proximity of

the Indians to Buropean communities., That the lohawk teok a much more active
role in the affalre of the linglish colonies than did the Seneca or other Iroe
quois may also account for the differences in population figures.

This decline can also be atiributed te three other causes that may well
have affected the attltudes and policies of the Iroguois. Of major significance
was the Great War for Empire. The Mohawk protested on occasion that the war was

 draining them of their young men, and other Iroquois had similar feslings.”'’
This war, like any other, caused disruption of normal living patterns, loss of
life, and an abrupt increase in feelings of dread and msoaimxty. Thig dise-
Tuption may well have manifested itself in drunkenness, migration to safer areas,
conflict between those willing to fight and those who wished to stay une

ved,

The war placed Iroquolis warriors in direct contact with large numbers of Eng-

m3"J0urnal of Warren Johnson", p. 194,
- 'hwarend John Ogilvie and Sybrant Van Schaick to Johnson, Cetober 1,

in Johnson Papers, IL, ppe 125=26.
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lish soldiers and civillane, thus increasing the threat of epidemic dlsease,
Furopean armies in the eighteenth century were notoriously filthy orgamizations,
and those on New York's frontier were no exceptions. The records speak, albeit
vaguely, of at least two epidemics ameng the Five Mations between 1757 and 1763,
The first was an attack of amallpox that struck in the Summer of 1757. John=
son referred to having several Indlans with the disease at his home at Fort
Johnson.2*5 At the seme time, Johnson was met by requests from the Iroquols
that current council business be taken care of quickly becanse, as Iittle Abra=-
ham exnlained, "of the helpless Condition we left our Families in at home, many
of whon had the Small Pox very bad at the time of our HMarching,"2#6

F Werren Johnson recorded that in the Summer of 1741 the Iroguois had been

visited by an “epldemical distemper", the symptoms of which were "2 Pain in
their Side, attended with a fever of which they generally die in 4 Days. w2h?
81r ¥illlam, then on his way to Detreit, recerded the arrival in his canp of
lilckus of Canajoharie., This Mohank reported that severzl people of his village
had recently died of a "malignant fever" and that the family of 0ld Brant was
perticularly stricken by 1£.2% A stmilar 111ness struck the Semeca village
of Canassadaga in the same year.

Coupled with disease and werfare, food cshortages were also present during
the period. Myndert Wemp's report of shortages ameng the Seneca has already

F—

%5 ohnson to Peter and Klizabeth Wraxall, Fort Johnson, July 17, in
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bean referred to.” In 1757, 3o)mm nentionad having supplied the Cana joharies
wth previsions "w! they ere verry scaree of"2® In the same yeer, some Cayugas
applied for food, a plough, and "2 Person to Plough our Lend as it ig so stiff
& worn that 1% will not otherwlse yleld any Grop.2> At a meeting in late Dee
cemberr 1758, the Oneidas asked for subsistence for themsclves and the Canajoharies,
elnce early frosts had ell but destroyed thelr corn crop.>>2 These choriages,
coning as they did in the middle of a wer, could be & reflection of the general
disruption caunsed by the fighting and the perlodic abeence of the warriors,
vho carried the added responsibility of cleering new fields for crops.

While verfare, dicease, and economic crises could have accounted for some
ef the gynptoms of unrest and doundty within the Five Wations, thelr effects

were, for the most part, localized, affecting eceveral villages, or perhaps a
larger body of the Iroquols. The unrest, however, seems to heve been genersl,
affecting most of the Iroqueds on all levels, from warrior groups te the Five
FNations as a whole.

I+ will be suggested here that the general unrest manifested by Iroquois
behavior diring and following the war resulted from what can be defined as a
political struzgle. Tvidence suggo;ts that the Troquois, by midecentury, were
in the midst of 2 crisis of authority. This crisis stemmed in part from the

m’:omrnal of Indian Proceedings", April 29, 1756, in Documents Relative,
VII, pp. 100-101.
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natural frietion inherent in the Iroecuois political structure. Hewever, it
appears to have been intensified hy the pressures placed on the Five Nations
from the outside, in the form of two major crises imvelving wvelations with

the English colonies. These crises ferced the Iroquois te re-examine thelr
traditional policles and role vis-a=vis the English, and to adjust to the
reality that the mumber of options available to them in dealing with new polite
ical clrcumstances was becoming severely limited after 1754 and especially
after 1760,

The internmal oarisis thus created seems to have taken two directions. On
one hand, there was a basic conflict over goals and pelicies, as Iroquels of
all levels and affiliations sought to create positive responses in the face of
threats to their security and culture from without. At the same time, there
was increased dissatisfaction with the contemporary leadership group, represent-
ed by the village sachems and Pine Tree Chiefs. These men, normally associated
with the traditional policy toward the English, were being called to acecount as

that policy became increasingly untemable. Thus, while the Iroquois were ate
tempting to restructure their policlies, they were also attempting to redefine
the concept of leader at a time when new ideas and creative responses seemed

imperative.

The crisis, as it developed, became very complex and invelved a number of
groups and individuals representing special interests. The most visible con-
flict arose between the sachems, representing traditional authority and leader-
ship, and the warriors, who demanded a different response to English pressures.
- In addition, however, other points of friction developed. The Ohie Valley ire-
~®ols, led by Tanacharisen and Scareuady, embarked on an independent course in
""’-‘uuthﬂngnsh colonies and the French on the Ohio. They did this in the
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face of the Onondaga council vhich wished to maintain the pesition, by 1754
largely fictional, of dominance over those whom they consistently termed
"hunters", and thus unfit to conduct serious business. The Mehawk, especlally
those of Canajoharie, found themselves at odds with the western Iroguols.

This stemmed in part from the cooperative attitude displayed by the lichawks to=-
yard the colonies an attltude that western Iroquols often felt was o0 com
operative. Adding to this already complicated struggle wes the confusion that
must have resulted frem the loss during this period of several important men,
Between 1749 and 1764, the Iroguols lost the services and negotiating abilities

of a mumber of sachems and men of ability, mohasﬂxeommm
runte and Jgarouady of the Mingo. These men, elder statesmen, had, in their time,
developed friendships and the respect of English officials and followings among
their own peoples The loss of these men was in most cases 1rrepanb10.z53

The struggle between warriors and sachems was & manifestation of a conflict
that had its voots in traditiomal Iroquols culture. By the nature of the polite
ical system, with its division of powers between war leaders and civil chiefs,
tension and competiilion were common. me'uarrioms were, by definition, concerne
ﬁ primarily with the affairs of war, protection of the community, and the
iﬁm&tyof the land, Warfare, by presenting young men with the means of earn-
Ang prestige at home, was an lmportant concern of the ”ymnsm"ofthevﬂhgoe.
sachens, ever since the giving of the Great Law by Deganawida, were concern-
d with the preservation of order and peace. The dominance of ome group naturally

$3rhe 115t of najer leaders whe died during the peried includes Canasategd
A 1750, liendrick Peter in 1755, Tanacharison in 1755, Abraham of Canajoharie
57y Kindarunte, who was murdered in 1738, and Red Head of the Onondagas,

' @Pparently died of & stroke in 1764,



led to the suppression of the interests of the other. Normally the warriors
conld not participate in council, 2 duty reserved exclusively for the sachems
and elder women of the villages, In time of war, when a consensus to fight had
been reached; the war leaders came to the fore, while the sachems, bowing to the
will of the young men, stood aside. Many sachems took part in batitles zs common
warriors. Once peace had been restored, however, the warriors were expected to
remove themselves from the political arena.

hat appears to mfe happened during the course of the elshteenth century
7as & basic shift in leadership from sachems to wer leaders, The changing tech

nology of warfare seems to have contributed to thiss Sir ¥illiam Johnson noted
that the military and civil prestige of the sachems had declined because "since
the introduction of fire arms they no longer ficht in close Bodies, tut every

Man is his ovn Cenerale=]l am inclined to think this circumstance has contributed
to lessen the power of the (Rﬂ.ef."zsb The venewal of werfare after 1748 and

the shift in Inglish frontier policy 2lso served to alter the context of the con-
flict between the two groups. The war and the new Englich policy served to raise
fundamental questions of how best to cope with the changing situation and still
maintein the culturel integrity of the Iroquois peoples ‘The vém:ioma represente
edy, in large part, those who supported an active, even aggroeqéw attenpt to over=
‘throw Lnglish encroachments on the land and to withetand English attempts to overe
throw Iroguois power. The sachems, meny of whom had close connections with Eng=
lish officlals, and all of whom were pledged to support a policy of conciliatien
Peace, were looked upon as at least ineffective in withstanding the English

2Hgonnson to Arthur Lee, Johnson Nall, March 28, 1772, in
XII, pe 952+ See alsos Fenton, “The Iroquois in HistoX¥'s De 148,
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and, at worst, cooperating with them. The war sexved as a catalyst for this con=
flict by emhancing the power and prestlge of the warriors. Imboldened Ly milie
tary power, "chief warxrlers" took an lncreaslugly aggressive sland against the
traditional policies and leadership of the sacheins.

It ghould be noted that, while there are hints of this conflict among mest
of the Five Nations, it seems Lo have been mosi intenge among the weszlern nations
who were as yet little touched by the forces of change resuliing from countact
with the English. These people, less acculturated than were the lohawk and
Oneida to the east, were delermined to preserve their land and culture. For
this reason it is understandable that the western Seneca should have allied them=
selves with the Lakes tribes and ignored the traditional Iroquols policies to=-
ward the English. In point of fact, the Senecas' interests were betiter sexved

oy Joinins‘the resistance on the part of the western tribes than by following
the lead of the Mohawks,

dvidence of this internal struggle over goals and directions began to sure
face during tho ware The surviving evidence of this conflict sexrves not enly
t0 verify that it existed, but also to suggest the issues at the heart of the
struggle.

The renewal of the Anglo-french conflict in America provided an opportunity
for Iroquels men to engage in one of their primaxy cultural roles. Lven before
Campaiguing began on the lew York frontier, Johnson noted that the “young men
are all growing very warm."2>° This apparent eagerness on the part of csome Iro-
Quols warriers to fight was skillfully played upon by Johnson and other colonial
Officials, Healizing the inherent friction between civil chiefs and warriors,

:5:;:hmn to Loudoun, Fort Johnsen, August 5, 1756, in Jehnson Papers,
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Johnsen deliberately directed his council speeches to the latter and held uvp
war belts and offered the hatchet to the young men, taking little or no regard
of the sachems who were largely responsible for the contimmed neutrality of the
Five I‘ia.tions.256

in & sense, the heightened conflict between the two contending groups was
induced by Imglish officials who were eager to get warriors into the field end
equally eager to turn the Iroquois from thelr avowed pollicy of neutrality. Cwade-
ually, the policy of courting the warriors worked. PRy enhancing their position
in council, and by offering them rewards and chances for glory, Johnson helped

create a de facto declsionemaking body within the politicel structure of many
of the Iregquolis villages. The Iroquols living closest to the Inglich and the
ccenes of batile were the first to show the effectz, At a council held in the
Spring of 1755, the Mohewk sachems announced that, henceforth, they would =it
back and do as the young men thought propexr, In the one-goling struggle for con-
twol, the warriors were now domimant.”>! This acqriescence on the part of the
elvil leaders was done to preserve intermal order and aveid the secession of
large mumbere of disaffected people. This surrender of authority vas symbollszed
by the Mohawk leader Hendrick whe, as a common warrior, followed his young men
to his death at Lake George later that year.

As the war contimued, the dlssatisfaction that the warriors felt toward
the volicies and leadership of the sachems begar to take on a standard, revesle
ing tone, In 1756¢, at a meeting with seversl Indian groups, the Seneca warrier

T

256".7:».:1?1:;11!. of Indian Affalrs"”, Fort Johnson, May l5=June 21, 1755, in
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Kindarunte asked Johnson to summarcize an earlier conference held with his peo-
ple. The veason glven was that the “"Sachems sometimes keep <them /lhe uun::l.oa:s?
in the Dark by misrepresentations. w25 dhat kind of misrepresentations he ree
ferred to are not mentloned, but the reference does suggest that perhaps the
civil chiefs were using whatever means, including subterfuge, vo keep the ware
riors from becoming invelved in the war. Jelhnson encouraged such ill feelings
by suggesting that the warriors net listen to the "sllly reasons” offered by

the sachems for remaining at peace, and pressed them to tske the field with
british t:roops.259 When he gpoke harshly to a group of Onondagas and Cayugas

about thelr slowness in Joining the army, he was teld thai the fault lay with
the civil leaders who, by "thelr backwardness" had prevented the young men from
leaving earlier.”® This kind of exchange became a standard part of the war
time councils as the Iroquois continued to struggle wilh the problems present=
ed by the war and a commitment to peace.

As the war ended and Uritish policy relative vo the Five Natlons began to
change, the pronouncements of the warviors became more assertive and thelw
attacks on the sachems more severe. 7This shift in :t.ono. coinciding as il did
With the changes in ILroquoleeinglish relations, stemmed frem the altempis with-
iu the Confederacy to adjust 0 new policles and to develop responses and pro=

~ 8rams to meet the changes. Distrust of the French as a military threat had given
~ Way %0 a distrust of the English as deuble~dealing allies bent oun taking the land

—
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and destroying the people of Iroquoia, In this on=going atiempt to create a

new poliey after 1760, the warrlors, as protectors of the land and its people,
bacane increasingly militant. They belleved thaf, in view of t!;le present threat,
the best option was resistance. Juch resistance would mean the veplacement of
the sachems with war lesdarss Distrust of the civil chiefs stemmed in paxt

from the fact that many of them were clo.g.aly tied to BEnglish ofﬁdals and

some were instrumentol 1a the M1fillnems of Mrglish polley.? sir william
Johnson had been involved in the appoiniment of several men to sachemships dure
ing the previous decade., It would be fair to say that he itried to ensure the

elevation of men whose interests lay with the English. Such men, in order to
maintain or enhance their relatively limited powers or prestige at home, could
be expected to follow Johnson's lead on major issues. In general, the decade
from 1755 to 1765 saw a marked decline in the prestige of local chiefs. At
least part of this was due to Dritish meddling in the internal affalrs of the
Confederacy. Something of the magnitude of this decline in sachem authority
can be seen in the diplometic exchanges {.n the immediate postewar period. Agaln,
the tengion and resulting shifis ir power are most evident among the western Ire-
~ quois, vho felt most threatened by Fuglish policles.

At a major conference with the Five Nations in 1762, Johnson was confronte
ed by a Cenesee warrior who announced that he would procede o speak for his
- Village, 1le offered as the reason the unfortunate delay of the civil delegation.
S real wotive, however, was revealed when he went on to say that "ve, are in
fact the People of Conseqience for managing Affairs, our Sachems being generally
& Parcell of 01d People who =may mich, but who mean & Act very 1little, =o that we

26115 particular, Hendrick and Nickus, both of Canajoharie, and the Onon-
fed Head, were very helpful in forwarding Johnson's plans.



have both the power and ability to settle nttams.'m This theme surfaced again
at a later neeting the same year. At that time, the Seneca warriors then prese
ent, spouklng through the Onondagas, sald that the sa.ehens "did_ not _a.ct right &
that they only talked . « « that the Senecag said they had no wise men to lead
them & this was a cause for war.* 0> The feeling thet the sachems could not pro-
vide effective leadership during 2 time of crisis must have led the warriors to
assume authority illegally in the hope of Ming with the problems at bhand, In
fact, throughout the period from 1760 to the end of the western uprising, the
Senecas, whenever attending a council with Jopnm. were represented by their

) "chief warriors”. Under such circumstances, Qt is understandable that the Sen=

eca would have vesponded to English threats and force in a like manuer. At a

tine when effective leadership was scarce ptiong linited, force seemed the
one way of defending the Seneca people an aggressive, unfeeling colon-
ial power.

3
The factionalise evident at the village lwel between warriors and sachems

was parallelled by considerable friction between villages and what, for the sake

~ of convenience, can be terned tribes. The reasons for this inter-Confederacy con=

flict also included the war and its aftermath. It might also have had roots in

traditional culture much as did the power struggle at the village level. ULthnoe

‘graphic information does not permit any definitive statement on the relationships,

' or otherwise, between the Five llations. As an ethnic confedevacy, the Iro=

League allowed its member nations and villages the greatest possible late

in making policies and establishing living patterns. This, added o the dis-

262wpn Tnaian Uonference", Johnson Hall, 1762, in Johnson Papers, IIi,
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tance between the eastern and western doors of the Longhouse, may have spawned
conpetition or even hostility between villages, or trides, as interests clashe
ed, Whatever the clrcumstances, localism was the rule and the Confederacy never
echieved the kind of harmony ard unity of purpese attributed 1o it by Franels
Pexrhman or George T. Hunt.

The inter=trlbal frictlon actually invelved two distinct conflicts. COne
evolved from the differences belween the Vohavk and the so=called upper nations
in their dealings with, and attitudes toward, the Inglish. The other developed
as the Iroguolis on the Chio, the Mingo, attempied to assert thelr independence
apart from the Confederacy, or at least asgert thelr equalily as = part of it.

In the latter case, the Mingo, faced with an invasion of thelr lands, cought ways
of dealing with the threat. Iradition dictated ihat they ask for ald through the
Onondege. council and follow the lead of the Five Nations in the matier. This
lead, however, proved Lo be ineffective in dealing with a nilitary invagion and
 the threat of war. By acting and indepeundent part, Tanacharison and other Chio
leaders, in cooperation with the Shawnee and Delaware, could negotiate directly
with Pnglish and French agents and work out an accommodation suitable %o all pare
tles, That this did not actuslly happen should not obscure the fact that Chie
leaders and thelr people did actively mseek to create a policy best sulted 4o their
- oum needs. In so doing, however, they flew in the face of Iroquois %tradition and
Castom, Those Iroquois living on the Ohlc were, by definition "lunters", unfit
- %o take part in council without the services of thelr elders in New York, They
Were, as seen from Onondaga, merely frontiersmen of a sort, occupying and making
8904 the Mive lations' longstanding claim to the Ohio Valley., Throuzhout the
frisls of 1748 to 1754 in the Obio Country, the Five Nations maintained their posi-
that the Mingo bands could not nesotiate directly with the rival Europeans.
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This positlon had bdecowme, Uiwrough the state of affaivs in the Valley and the Ire-
quois' own lack oi initiative there, untenable. During the yeurs following the
wary the Ohlio Irvogqueois conlinued to assert their independence until, as the Mingo,
Lthey took on vhe airs of, and were accorded the recognition due, a separaie nation
of the Gonfederaay.

Yhe fziction belween the Mohawks and their brothers to the west stemmed in
large part from the closeness of the iformer to the English and the vesultant dis-
trust accorded them by many Iroguois who feared or distrusted the knglish and their
designs on the frontler., The jealousy of the upper nations toward the VMohawk ap-
parently pre=daled the war, although the military conflict with its attendent
disasters and uncertaintles must have shavpened the dispute. In 1754 at Albany,
the liohawks deliberately came in late =0 as 1o allay any suspicion that, having
arrived early, they had had a hand in planning the agenda and fixing the policies
%o be followsds?™" The following year, Johnsou noted thai the French had “werke
od up a jealousy in the upper lations sgainst the liohawks."2C With the bitter
words of the Albany meeting less than a year old, it is deubiful that the French
had to work very hard to sitir up ill feelings.

During the war, the Mohawk, especially those from (anajoharie, were steady
supporters of English policies and contributed Ly far the largesl number of war-
riors until late in the conflict. Some of the bad feelings toward them resulte

ed from the fact that French agents were active among the Five Nations, especially

o
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among the western Seneca. Friction also resulted from the desire on the part of
many Iroqueis, including the Onondaga and Cayuga, to remain neutral in the con-
flict. To them Mohawk participation on the English side jeopardized that neutral-
ity and threatened to bring the war into Iroqueia. In what was perhaps the strong-
est threat employed by the Five Nations against a member of the Confederacy, the
upper nations sent a belt to the Mohawk and threatened to "kick them from them and

have mo meve 10 say 1o then® if they centimsed to partisizate in the war,2%6

The
Mohawk, on the other hand, became increasingly unhappy at what they saw as a lack
of support from the other nations. This was particularly true after the casualties
from the Lake George battle began to ceme in,2%7

The upper nations of the Confederacy may well have had some cause for their
suspicion of the Mohawk. Throughout the war, Johnson's clese associates at Cana-
Joharie provided him with an unending stream of infermation, of mixed quality, con-
cerning the attitudes and policies of the other Iroquoeis. If such reports are
taken at face value, the upper nations were constantly en the verge of either go-
ing over to the French or attacking the English garrisons. At one point, early
in 1757, Jelles Fonda, an officer in the Indian Department, was warned by the Cana-
Joharies not to proceed to the west as it “was not safe to go among the Six Natiens,
and that he wou'd stand a chance to loose his Sealp among them."2%® Ponda made
the trip anyway and came back intact, One possible explanation of the Mohawks'

behavior was a fear that, if Johnson managed to establish close relations with the

2“;:«;1@::3‘6' Banyar to Johnson, New York, September 24, 1755, in Johnson
8, II, P. .

267%10110. Ceremony, October 1, 1755, in Johnson Papers, II, p. 127,
268peport of Captain Thomas Butler's trip to Onendaga, Jamuary, 1757, in

dohnson Papers, II, p. 667.



133

western Irequois, their favorable position would be jeopardized.

This inter-tribal conflict lessened as the war ended. By then, all Iro-
quois, especlally the Mohawk, were feeling the pressures of English expansion
and the threats imposed by England's new western policy. In that regard, Eng-
land's post-war policy served to reunite the bickering Iroqueis.

Having examined the historical context of the problems confronting the Iro-
quois and their decision-making process at mid-century, it would be well to
study that process in specific cases. Such a study can reveal what relations
q&ththolngnshmtto the Five Nations in a politiecal senze. The European
conflict over control of the Ohio Valley from 1748 to 1754 offers one such case.

The post=-war change in English frontier policy and the changing nature of the
Iroquois’ place in frontier diplomacy provides another. In each instance, the
Five Nations were confronted with immediate, significant crises that ultimately
affected their relations with each other, other Indians, and the British govern-

nent.




CHAPTHR VI

THE IROQUOLS AND THE OHNIO VALLEY:
Al ANALYSIS

In 2 letier designed %o apprise the newly sxrived governor of lew York of
the present situation on the frontier, ¥illian Johnson noted thai, in the face

of Prench aggression in the west, the Iroquols had contimued to "Act a timid &
neutral Fart.*2? nis statement, while 1t acowately sumarised the Luglish
view of Iroguols poliey up to 1754, did not aceurately reflect or accoust for
mqms'mﬂwumnmmmtuuwumunmm

The French military oceupation of the Ohio Velley in 1753 presented the local
| Indians and their nglish txading pariners sdth a threat that had ecowomic, polite
ical, as vell as internatioral implications. This invmsion likewise created a
Bliiate for the Pive Iatisns, Ao the sniilil owaers O (e reghiin, thé Toogsts
were faced wlth the prospect of & war that would threaten their security st home
88 vell ns their control over vhat was still an isportant hunting reglon and polit-
2cal buffer pone, Why them, in the face of o military threat and the possibility
territorial locs and warfare, did the Five lations not take a morve aggrossive
in the Ohio Country? Why @id they appear to “Act a tinid Part"? Certainly
® English governments of Mew York, Femnsylvania, and Virsinia expected that the
s would immediately aot to drive the Fremch away, The answer to this ques-
8 1des 1n the nature of Iroguols relations with the native poople on the Ohio

"’l:;m- Jehngon to George Wlinton, Harch 32, 1754, in Johnson Papers,



135

and the English colonial governments. It is also to be found in the state of
inter-Confederacy affairs between 1748 and 1764,

While the Irogquois had maintained a longestanding position of dominance
over the OChio Valley, that dominance was, in many respects, ambignous. The Five
Natlons hed, early in the seventeenth century, driven the original occupants of
the Valley away and had, sinoethsp. maintained their ownership of it by right
of conquost. During the succeeding cemtury, migrant bends from the southvest,
the Delaware Valley, and from Iro@;ou had moved into the area. While these bands
maintained their own local i.dentits.es. they appear to have placed thamselves under
Iroguois dominion or protection. %ma nature of this relationship muet be clearly

understood from the Indians®, not Buropean's, point of view. Apparently, in re-

turn for Iroguois protection and the use of the land, the local bands submitted

to a technical position of fealtiy . ch included thelr inability to act the part
of owmers of the land or as councilors. Both of these privileges were reserved
for the Five llations, UWhat mast be emphasized is that the Iroquols did not dome
lrate these people as a conguerer dominates the conquered, Ragther, the dominance
was in the foim of reciprocal chbligations. 1In this regerd, the dominauce of the
Iroquois over the Valley was due as much to the local Indians' willingness to be
controlled as 1t was to any Iroguois ability to enforce thelr comtrol,< Y

Beyond this reciprocal relationship, any Iroguois pretentions to dominate
the Valley were largely a function of the Covenant Chain, Indeed, it would appear
that the idea of total Iroquois control over the region and its people was develop-
8d by interested inglish govermments, notably Pennsylvania, in an effort to gain

feasure of influence over the area and its rich land and resources. Iy supporte

oYy, PPe 9=1l; Jennings, "The
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ing and enlarging Iroquois claims to the Ohio Country, the inglish hoped to ine
flunence the resident Indians and develop a clainm to the land to counter any
French pretentions to dominate the region.

The value of the Ohio Valley to the Iroquois must also be taken into consider=
ation in evalnating their actions after 1748. Aside from its obvious worth as a
hunting domain, the Valley served as a btuffer between hostile tribes and Huropeans
and the Five Nations proper. One of Tanacharison's primary duties was to maintain
this buffer and defend the rezion aéa.tnst any outside threat. Through the Valley
passed the Warriors® Path that led to the southern tribes with whom the Iroquois

were periodically at war. Further, the Valley gave access to the more important
hunting lands in Kentucky which, as the "Dark and Bloody Ground", was also the
scene of interetribal conflicts. It does not seem, however, that the Iroquois
possessed any plan to settle or in any way encorporate the Ohlo Country into their
lands in Vew York. The hunting bands of Iroquois, as has been suggested, settled
in the region without official sanction and continued there because of the greater
economic or securlity opportunities offered on the Ohio, Therefore, if the Valey
had any great importance to the Five lations, it was as & barrier to outside ag-
gression and as a potential source of supply, not as an integral part of Iroqueia.
Indeed, the real crisis for the Ivoquols, in texms of the Ohio Country, lay
less in the threat of dispossession than in the changes that the French activity
in the region made in Irogquolis=English relations. The lack of response on the part
the Five Vations may well have been due to thelr unwillingness, or inability,
deal with these changing circumstances.
The intense competition between Brgland and France for control of the Ohio
and ite lucrative trade demanded that each side txy to gain the support of
Indians in that region. The English, relying on the Covenant Chain a=
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greement with the Five Hations, expected that body teo actively stop the French
expansion and also to keep the local Indians falthful and under control. When
ﬂul:ogyoismnmdumdlllngtowoqﬁm@anacﬂvomlointhonsion.
the Mgiish. first in Pennsylvania, then in Virginia, significantly changed their
long=standing policles and began to negotiate with and directly aid the Indians
on the Ohio. William A. Hunter has adequately summarized the situation by note
ing that "the growing significance of that region made direct negotiations with
the Onondaga council in fact the slower and mere devious procesdure."2/*

The French also altered the traditional pattexrn of relationships in the Ohie
Country by seeking a military solution te the problem of a westward meving Eng=
lish fur trades one that threatened French dominion over the Great Lakes and the
Illinois region, Convinced that the Five llations could not, under the cire
mmnqas.mmnaponﬁulmtusqmuthorshmtbem“nuptm
idea of negotiations through Onondaga and toek unilateral steps to promote their
interests on the Ohio, In eo doing, they negated the play-off system by ignoring
tholmmdsdtogtthc.m

The question remains, however, why the Irequois behaved as they did teward
the Ohio Country and thus gave both English and French leaders cause té seek new,
and ultimately dangerous, selutions to the continuing rivalry on the frontier.
Randolph Downes, in his study of Indian-white relations on the Ohie, has suggested
that the Irogquols separated themselves from affairs in the Valley when it became
apparent to them that the English could not be relied upon for military and dip-
lomatic assistance.’> Thus, in erder to escape invelvement in a struggle that

ros—
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they assumed the English had little stomach for, the Iroquois abandoned the Valley
and its people W the Ffrench. While Iroquois percepiions of English power and
connitment to defend the region did play a part in influencing the Five liations in
their actions toward the Valley, Downes' arguement falls to consider other aspects
of the problem. In the first place, such an expladation would place an Iroqueis
decision on the Valley issue relatively late, avound 1753 or 1754, when English
ineptitude and disunity had allowed the French to take control of the region. It
will be argued, however, that the Irvoquois, throughout the period from 1748 to
175%, maintained a limited, rather ambiguous position toward the Ohio Country

that was marked by a desire to remain apart from the conflict growing there.
Further, Dowmnes views the Iroqueis treatment of the Ohio problem as a3 veaction to Eng=-

1lish initiatives, or in this case, lack of them. In addition, this reaction seems

to have included the abandomment of people to whom the Iroquois owed a measure of
| gecurity and political support. Again, the evidence does not bear this out. Hath-
ey the Five lations' response to the conflict brewing on the Chio was based in
part on traditional policies toward Buropean expansion and was influenced by a
#ide range of internal and external events and problems.
At the time that the French and English renewed thelr competition for contrel
;lf the Ohio Country, Irequois relations with the English colonial governments were
;,l& a low ebb, Remembering past British behavior during time of war, the Five
;.thna. with the exception of the Mohawk, had largely avoided invelvement in the
tly ended King Ceorge's War. This lack of involvement had led the English,
eularly those in Wew York, to view the Iroquois with suspicion, since they
that the Indians were leaning toward the French who had benefited from such
t¥. At the same time, those Iroquois who had close dealings with the Enge
BoVernment were thrown into consternation by the resignation of William Johnson
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as New York's Indian agent. His replacement by a panel of land-jobbers and
political faverites did 1little to ease Iroquols fears for the future.

Coupled with these local issues, the Confederacy faced preblems elsewhere.
The colony of Virginia, which had long coveted lands lying beyond the Blue Ridge,
began actively to promote the settlement of the Ohio lands recently ceded to the
Ohio Company. It was the Virginians who were most active in attempting to get
Indians, any Indians, to agree to land cessions. On this peint the Iroquois had
long remained adamants they wanted no settlement, neither Fnglish nor French, in
the Ohio Country,Z7*

From Connecticut came a threat even more severe. Speculators, reviving the
old "sea to sea" charter of the colony, laid claim to & large tract of land in the
upper Susquehanna Valley. This tract would place white settlement on the very
back deor of the Longhouse. The Irogquois knew full well that one settlement would
lead to others, lagal or not, and began a long, bitter campaign to have the Con=
necticut scheme stopped.

Finally, there was the presence on the Ohie of large munbers of English trad-
ers, most from Pennsylvania. While these men presented few major problems in their
conduct, their presence, at the invitation of, and with the sanction of, the Iro-
quois, meant that the Five Nations were at least partly responsible for their safety
under the terms of the Covemant agreement, To protect them might mean beceming in=
volved in a conflict with the French., Not protecting them would risk having the
trade disappear, something the Five Nations likewise hoped to avoid. One of Tana-
charison's additional headaches after 1750 was the necessity ef providing a climate
in which the English could trade freely with the Minge and other resident Indians.

—

ZPAnaren Montour's report, in Pennsylvania Colonial Records, IV, p. 635.




140

Added to these purely external matters were others qf an internal nature. At
the same time that the Ohio problem was growing, the Iroquois were renewing their
conflict with the Catawita of the Carolina back country. While this conflict never
involved all, or even most, of the Iroquois' manpower, it did serve to draw atten-
tion to the seuth, where issues of prisener exchanges, ralds, _rotalutozy attacks,
and alliances with other tribes became more important to: Il.ny than the possibility
of troubls on the Ohio. Further, the Catawba war caused friction between the Five
Hations and the Carolinas and Georgia, who were allied with the Iroquois®' enemy.
Thus, the Iroquois had also to contend with demands from the southern colonies that
livestock killed or run off by raiding parties be replaced and that the warriors
refrain from entering settled lands., '

Finally, at the moment that trouble began on the Ohio, the Irequois lost the
sarvices of at least two important men. The Onondaga orator, Canasetago, well
known for his leadership in counecil and his ability to out-argue and out-wit his
European adversaries, died in 175).275 His death had been preceded two years
earlier by that of Shickellamy, the Oneida half-king on the Susquehanna. While
not a sachem or an especlally skilled orator, Shickellamy served an equally im=-
portant function. He had, for many years, acted as the Iroquols representative to
the Indlans in eastern Pennsylvania. In this posttlon‘bo had, through his friend-
shlp with James Logan and Conrad Welser, become an important intermediary between
the colony and his own people. In a real sense, he was the living embodiment of
the Covenant Chain in Pemnsylvania, since he had helped bring the Quaker colony in-
to that relationship. His death deprived the Five Nations of a valuable source of
information on colenial affairs and English policies. That of Canasetago deprived

Pr—

275Per exanples of Canasetago's oratory skills, see Van Deren and Beyd, eds.,

l&g Treaties Printed by Benjamin Franklin, 1736-1762, pp. 15-101.
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them of a skilled verbal warrior. The avallable materlals do not permit an accurate
evaluation of what thelr loss meant. However, in view of the power and prestige
wielded by these two men, and their relationship to English councils and other
Indians, the loss must have been significant. These influences, then, added to
the normal pattern of Iroquois politics and decision-making as discussed earlier,
influenced and placed limits on the kind of response the Five Nations could make
to the conflict that developed on the Ohio after 1748,

That response, as Johnson mentioned in his report, was limited and low-keyed.
At no time did the Iroquois even suggest the use of force in order to clear the
Valley of the French and English antagonists, or to ensure the continued fidelity
of the resident Indians, Rather, thelr response took the form of intermittent,
and somevhat ambiguous, statements concerning the Valley's relationship to the Iro-
quois and the Confederacy's unhappiness at the European invasion of the region.

Prior to 1752, the Five Nations contented themselves with periedic, mild pro-
to;rbations against the growing European occupation of the Ohie Country, but stopped
short of asserting any special claims to either the land or its inhabitants. This
position changed somewhat in the aftermath of the Logstown Treaty of 1752. Andrew
Montour, acting as Pennsylvania's agent to the Iroquois, noted that the Confederacy
was very upset at the proceedings. The Iroquois strongly maintained their author-
ity over the region and referred to the Ohio Iroquois and other participants in the
treaty as "young giddy men & children", who had stepped out of line in negotiating
with Virginia.27® This position came from the Onondaga council, whom Montour had
visited at be time. It is impossible, from the evidence, toiassess how the various
nations of the Confederacy viewed the Ohio situation. Gartainiy the western Ire-

Quois would have taken a more serious view of the Virginia and French encroachments

—

276pnarew Montour's report, in Pennsylvania Colenial Records, IV, p. 635.
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than would the Mohawk, who were having serious problems of their own in the Mohawk
and Schoharie Valltys. Nonetheless, the statement dees indicate a shift from si-
lence to assertion on the part of the Five Nations.

This shift in stance over the Chio might well have been triggered by the re-
sults of the Logstown meeting. By the provisions of the treaty, Virginia, through
the Ohio Company, gained the right to establish a "strong house" somewhere on the
Ohio. To the Iroquois, shch an establishment may have repros;nted a step toward
colonization, something the Confederacy wished to avoid for diplomatic as well as
security reasons. That this treaty was nogo}iated by Tanacharison and his Ohlo
Iroquois may have angered the Seneca and : » who had particular claims to the
Valley. The Iroquois undoubtedly realized, further, that any English establishment
on the Ohio wonld necessarily be countered by the French, thus leading to an arms
race in a region the Iroquois wished to remain neutral.

This prenouncement by the Onondags council represented the strongest verbal
stand taken by the Five Nations concerning the Ohio Country. The only other action
taken by them in the Valley was a negative one. In the same year as the Logstown
council, the Twightwees applied for aid and diplomatic suppoert from the Iroquois
against the French., This the Five Nations, in council, refused to give.2!’ No
reason was given for this refusal, which amounted <o the abandonment of a member of
the Covenant Chain, It is suggested hereithat the divisions within the Confederacy,
as previously outlined, coupled with the consensual and local nature of decision=-
making, did not, at that time, permit the Iroquois to take steps to aid the Miami.
This in turn may have hinged on the desire of most Iroquois to avoid entering a con-
flict over land that did not seem important except in the sense that it be left un-

| e

» 4227761“" report to the Ohio Company, in Hnlkoun. ed., Mercer Papers,
. 3.




143

settled by Buropeans.

One other explanation appears in the sources to account for the Irogqueis ree
fusal to take any positive steps on the Ohio, Daniel Claus noted to Richard Peters
in 1755 that the Iroquois were uneasy because of rumors sent among them by French
agents. Those rumors suggested that the lnglish were, by thelr western policles,
consplring to "destroy all the Indians", including the Five Ra.ti.ons.m The Iro=
quois had come to fear that any Anglo=irench conflict on the Chio was actually a
sham, designed to trap the Confederacy and other Indians into a war that would ree
sult in the losgs of land, freedom, and perhaps life. In view of existing relations
with the colonies of New Yewk, Penngylvania, and Virginia, as well as the French
nilitary buildeup neaxr liagara, this fear was, to the Five Hations, well justified,

It was to allay these fears that the Albany conference had been convened the pre=
vious year at the instruction and insistence of the Board of Trade.

Finally, it will be argued here that the Iroguois response to the growing
crisis on the Ohio was, irom the Iroquois perspective, not as timid or neutral as
Johnson had suggesteds In fact, the Five Nations' reaction was in keeping with
long=standing policies and reflected the linits to which the Confederacy could go
in making a unified response to an external threat. In the past, threats, proe
nouncements, and claims of authority or rights had always succeeded in limiting
English and French advances against the Iroquois. This was true because of the

- central position held by the Five Nations in the diplomatic and military schemes of
 both powers. By 1754, however, those schemes had changed, =0 much in fact that the
Iroquois were no longer accounted an effective force on the Ohlo. Rather, both

inglish and irench officials began, in earmest, to court the favor of the local

27?.16);“1‘1 Glaus to Richard Peters, February 10, 1755, in Johnson Papers,
P' 3
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Indians, particularly the Delaware and Shawnee.

In addition, bearing in mind the nature of the political process among the
Iroquois, it would have been toc much to expect a concerted, definitive policy or
action related to the Ohio Country. In 2 soclety based on and contrelled by
locally autonomous village units, a Confederacy "policy” would have been ime-
possible, except insofer as all Iroquois felt some attachment to the Ohio land
as part of their collective heritage. This, however, would have been insufficient
to permit the Mohawk or Oneida from joining their western brethren in a military
campaign to clear the Valley of foreign invaders, Inter-Confederacy Jjealousies,
intra=tribal friction, consensus government, and the abiding suspiclion of English
motives, coupled with a long=-standing ambivilance over the status of the Confederacy
in the Ohlo Valley, would not have permlitted anything more than what the Iroquois
actually did. That their stand was ultimately ineffective should not denegrate
the native political process. The problem lay ultimately with the English who,
expecting more support than the Iroqueis could give, moved ahead with 2 plan to
occupy and defend the Ohio Country in order to deny that rich land to thelr Zuropean
rival,



CHAPTER VII

THE IROQUOIS IN THE POST - WAR PERIOD:
AN ANALYSIS

Bvents after 1760 led to a second crisis for the Five Nations that was, in
some respects, similar to the one faced earlier in the Ohio Country. In both cases,
the Iroquols were faced with a rapidly changing situation that tended to negate
traditional policies and actions. Doth situations invelved the relationship of
the Iroquois to the English relative to affairs on the frontier, And, as in the
case of the Ohio Valley, the post=war crisis resulted in a lessening of Iroquois
power, prestige, and authority as they related to both other Indians and the Eng-
lish governments in America.

While the twe crises were similar, the one faced by the Five Nations follow-
ing the Great War for Empire was far more severe. The end of the war unleashed a
tide of speculation and settlement along the frontier that had been kept in check
earlier by the threat of French retaliation. The English, now firmly in contrel
of New France, looked te the wectern regions of that colony az a source of wealth
and as a strategic center of England's new American empire. As a result, the Ire-
quois lost much of their former military significance as the Mohawk Valley became
less impertant as a center for British military and trading sctivity. Finally, the
¥ar had created much hardship and unhappiness among the Iroqueis. The Five Nations
Were experiencing a particularly difficult period in their internal affairs as well
23 with their relations with the English., Jealousy, bitterness between sachems
&nd warriors, loss of pepulation, and the realization that something in their re-

lationship with the English was changing, all cansed consternation and apprehension
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within the Longhouse.

As in the casze of the Ohlio Valley conflict a decade earlier, the post-war
crisis had less to do with losses of land than it did with a loss of Iroquols
power and ability to control their own future. This is not to say that concern
for the land base was not an important force in the politics of the post-war years.
Indeed, speculation and fraudulent land sales were 2 constant source of friction
between the eastern Iroquoiz and the ﬁew York and royal governments, Beyond this,
however, was the realization by some Irequois that the end of the war meent more
than a renewal of the traditional struggle to maintein the land 1ntt§}t. The presence
of British troops in the west, the sudden shortage of ammunition, ani! rumors that
Canada would be given permanently to England suggested a far greater crisis was at
hand. The issue for the Five Natlons, then, was how best to act once British in-
tentions on the frentier became clear.

Alternatives were few and problems many after 1760. It will be emphasized
here that each of the Iroquois nations attempted to find solutions to its own
immediate problems and that 2 “"League" response to the new :frontiea: sitnation was
not in evidence. The only unifying factor that might allow one to speak of an
Iroquois "policy" in the years following the war was the attempt by all Iroquois
to defend themselves against policles and actions by the English that were harmful
to themselves or their Indian allies in the west.

The range of alternative responses to the sudden and hostile changes in Eng-
lish frontier policy available to the Five Nations ranged from outright sutmission
to outright resistance. Between the two extremes, the Iroquois could attempt to
accommodate, as they had in the past, to the new circumstances in the hope of es-
tablishing a new balance of power, For these who saw the impossibility of success
in any of the above responses, thelr was the spiritual avenue, While there is no
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avidence of a splritval revitalization among the Five Nations before the poste
Revolutionary period, other Indians, especially these on the Ohlio, were experience
ing a epdritual rebirth immediately following the war., The source of thisz re-
vitalization movement was the Delaware prophet Neolin. iic message, consisting
of a mixture of native beliefs and Christlanity, aimed at restoring the good life
for the Ohio Indians. This could be accomplished by a return Lo a purely native
oiltnre and a close adhercnee to the message of the Creator., The reanlt of this,
according to believersz, would be a total eultural and spiritusl rebirth of the Ine
dians and a recreation of life prier to the white invasion.

Neolin's nessage stirred the imaginations and feelings of many Indians in the
west, and seems to have influenced the Ctlawa leader Pontiac in his attempt to rid
the Great lLakes of British troops. While the availahle evidence does not permit
an asgessment of the impact of Weclin's message on the Five Nations, it can he
assumed that some Ivequols, axperiencing the adverse effects of the English western

invasion and Buropean material culture, may have listened to and followed his teach-

1ngs.279

The responses made by each of the Five Nations was the remilt of both internal
caltwral and political imperatives and the influence of Mnglish policy and behavier,
Geographical location also played an important part in detsrmining how the Iroquols
would deal with tho post-var crisis. The castern Iroguols, to include the Mohavk
and Oneida, wers, by 1760, 1ivins within the settled regions of New York. At Cana~-
Joharie, Fort Hunter, Stone Arabla, and the Oneida Carry, grovwing mumbers of Enge
lish settlers and soldlers were living side by side with the Irequols in an uneasy
relationship.

—

mrwamﬁmmmgofmm, cee Wallace, Death and Rebirth
PPe 117-‘21-
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This close assoclation with the English had worked some hardship for the Mohawk
A shoriage oi food due to natural conditions was aggravated by the accidental er
deliberate destructiveness of the king's troops. In one such incident, the leaders
of both Meohawk villages complained that droves of catile being sent to the upper

pmmmmm.mnmp.'&

The Oneida problems with military suilers
has already been dealt with at length.

Of all the iroquois, the two eastern mnations were +vhe most acculturated and
had had the longest association with the English. Further, in political and mil-
itary affairs, these people, especially the liohawk, had developed strong attach-
ments to the colonial and royal govermments. Village leaders, such as Hendrick
Peter or Old Brant, came to rely as much on the support of men like Sir William
Johnson as on the ald and support of their own people. Having learned over a cen-
tury or more to adjust and deal successfully with European society, the eastern
Irequeis contimied to do se throughout the post-war period. Thelr numbers, the
close proximity of troeps and large mumbers of settlers, and their personal attach-
nent to men in the linglish commmnity precluded the use of force in oerder to stop

| English encroachment or changes in policy, Further, the Kohawk and Oneida were
| more accustomed to <the presence of British troops than were the western nations
. of the Confederacy,

This is not to say that the eastern Iroquois simply rolled over and played
dead in the face of British policy changes that threatened their security and way
of 1ife, Rather, they attempted to use thelr commections te the colonial and
royal gevernments, notably Johnson, to gain redress of grievances, Foremost among

these was the contimed encroachment by settlers and speculators on Iroquois lands.

——

R, mmoJohnm to Gage, Fort Johnson, April 8, 1760, in Johnson Papers, III,
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The Mohawic in particular were all but surrounded by the new English settlements.
The Mohawk approach t0 this land problem was largely legplistic. While hinting
at their dissatizfaction and the consequences of continmed abuse, they protested
primarily through the use of the council, petitions, and deedss using Bngliszh
nethods to combat English practices.

In one of the first exchanges in this post-war dispute over land, the Mohawks
of both villages sent a roquest to Jehmson for 2 survey of the lands along the
fohawk Rivar. The purpose was %o establish a definitive boundary betwsen the fng=
11sh settlars and Indlans, ™ Seversl weeks latar, the Canajoharies again met
with Johmson, this time about the fraudulent sale of Iroguois lands by speculators
such as Ury Klock, The gpealiter on that occasion, 0ld Brant, 4ld not press the
matter too flwmly, appsrently expecting that, as 2 nmatter of course, thelr friend
and supporter, Johnson, would take care of the mttem.aa At this same meetling,
Brant adked that a missionsry and schoolmaster be sent %o them, to match the ones
already at work in the Fort hmter village.

Finelly, in 1743, at yetf. another meeting ahout land frauds, the lohawks pro=
dused a daed to verify thelr claims to lands being taken up by residents of Scho=
nactady., After a cantury of such negotizations, the Mohawks had comz to appreclate
the =zpecial power of the written word in Huropean soclety.

Such councll meetings and lezal confrontations represant the effective limits
of Mohawk and Onaida responszes to the problems of land and settlement. The Oneida
attack on the Fart Stanwixz sutler caused a stir among Dritish military officials
Precizely heecanse it was the one significant, violent, exception %o the pattern

o

28 yonneon to Cadwallader Colden, Fort Johnson, December 29, 1760, in John-
80 Paperg, 11L, p. 292.

#2njournal of Indian Affairs”, Canajoharie, Fetruary 17-13, 1761, in Johnsen
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of eastern Irogquois response to Englich policies.

In view of the situation faced by the eastern Iroquels, this relatively
limited response iz quite understandable. Armed resistance would have been im-
possible by 1760, especially since the lohawk Valley was then teeming with Enge-
lish troops. The sudden reduction of ammunition sales made such a policy doubly
difficult. Further, the Mohawk, in particular, were suffering from internal dis-
agreements that stemmed from the land problem itself. Johnson noted in 1763 that
nineteen Canajoharies arrived who "for two years before had deserted their Castle,
and lived at, and about Ury Klock'sz, on account of a dispute with the Chiefs of
that Castle, concerning the lands, the latter live, and plant on , . "2
It must also be remembered that the lMohawk, due to their cool relations with the
western Iroquois, could not expect aid, diplomatic or military, from these people
in any armed dispute with the English., Finally, it must be borme in mind that the
Mohawk and Oneida were the most acculturated of the Five Nations. Their settle-
ments and lifestyle most closely imitated that of their English neighbors. They
had grown rich in material goods, including plows, sleighs, ironware, cloth, and
money, through that close assoclation. Their response to English settlement and
frontier policy in general must be measured in terms of their contact with the
British community. A more aggressive stand might well have Jeopardized the life-
style to which the=ze people had grown accustomed.

The western Iroquois, particularly the Seneca, chose a far different response
to the post-war changes in relations with the English. As has already been seen,

- that response was far more aggressive, including at least one, possibly more, at-

tempts to overthrow English power in the west prier to 1763. What must be con-

rr—

283wpn Indian Conference”, Johnson Hall, October 20, 1763, in Johnson
s X3 Do 900,
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sidered here, however, are the issues and circumstances that caused the Seneca and
_ Cayuga to resist F&Agnsh policy rather than accommodate to it or develop another
response. '

In any discussion of Iroquois actions and policles during this period, one
must consider the role of English postewar programs and Iroquois perceptions of
what these meant. That British attitudes toward the Five lations were changing
after 1760 cannot be denied. The English victory in 1760, coupled with the con-
quest of the Creat Lakes west, made the Iroquois a less critieal factor in British
military and diplomatic Mng. The tone of Johnson's messages to the Five
Hations between 1760 and 1763 reflect a growing feeling that the Confederacy could
now be treated with no more special consideration than had been given to other In-
dians long associated with the colonies. The war had also impressed upon the Eng-
lish military the potential danger of a well-armed, well-led Indian force to the
back settlementsz. Dased on this experience, General Amherst sought to disarm the
Indians by placing severe restrictions on the supplies of powder and lead that mov-
ed into the west. To ﬁzrﬁlc paod.fy the tribes and further the complete occupation
of the frontier region, the British also decided to maintain, at least for the mo=
nent, a large mumber of garrisons at strategic locations throughout the Great Lakes
and Ohio Valley. These garrisons would serve also to regulate the Indian trade
which, after 1760, was to be conducted at a few designated posts and not, as under
the French, in an open, unrestricted manner.

While such policies made sense to Englishmen whose primary concern was the

- occupation and integration of the west into a new, sprawling empire, these same
Policies took on an entirely different meaning when viewed from the longhouse. To
the western Irvoquois in particular, thase policies appeared to threaten the traditio:
al patterns of 1ife, trade, and the security of the Five Nations. Further, they




seemed to confirm something that many Irogquois had contimued to believe since the
Ohio Valley conflict: that every British action, regardless of how innocent it
seened, was part of a master plan to dispossess and destroy the Iroquois people.
What made English actions and programs after 1760 seem particularly dangerous
to the Seneca and Cayuga was the fact that, in the first place, the English had
made many promises and statements of policy that now, after the war, were not be-
ing adhered to. Among these were guarantees of a free and fair trade and the evac-
uation of all military posts in the west once the fighting had ended. In the
second place, the Iroquois never considered the possibility that Canada might
change mstcs at the end of this war. In all previous conflicts the status quo
had been restored at the end of the fighting. The Five Nations and, for that
matter, other Indians on the frontier, had no reason to assume that conditions
would be any different at the end of the latest conflict. A major part of the Iro-
quois postewar crisis stemmed from an inability to conceive of the struggle in
North America in terms other than those that had prevailed for over fifty years.
This was of particular importance to the western Iroquois who, with their westward
orientation, felt most threatened by the continued presence of British garrisons
at Niagara, Detroit, and Fort Pitt. The unfulfilled or broken i‘ngl_ish promises
and the sudden, inconceivable change in the power structure on the frontier served
tomntheSmmdeofthedmgorotoonunuodﬁcccptanceef&)guah

words and acuons.m

2B4a eorge Croghan, at Fort Pitt, noted in 1761 that the Iroquolis were
"very uneasy" about Amherst's policiesy see Croghan to Johnson, Fort Pitt,
July 25, 1761, in Johnson Papers, X, p. 316. A year later, Croghan noted that
the Delaware and Seneca "say it's full time for them to prepare to defend thenme
selves & their Country from Us, who they are convinced design to make war on
them , . ,"} see Croghan to Colonel Henry Bouquet, Fort Pitt, December 10, 1762,

in Johnson Papers, X, p. 597.
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The perceptions of what English policy meant to them was just one element
that led the Seneca and Cayuga to make attacks on the British at Venango, Devil's
Hole, and elsewhere in 1763, The other element was the nature of politics and
leadership among these people. While the western Iroquois were experiencing and
trying to cope with an extermal crisis, they were also experiencing an intexnal
crisis of great signifiecance. As has been noted earlier, +the heart of that crisis
lay in a dispute over goals and power between two basic political factions in Iro-
quois societys warriors and sachens.

That dispute, while having its origins in Iroquois society and political
practices, was aggravated by English policies. The sachems, dedicated to the
principles of peace as thelr office demanded, sought a nen-violent selution to
the continued problems associated with English military activities and western ex=-
pansion, The warriors, battle-oriented, saw <the best solution not in accommodation
but in aggressive resistance to this external threat. From the warriorz' point of
view, the English had come to represent a serious threat to the land and its peo-
ple and their culture. Traditionally, these were to be protected by +the "young
nen" through military action. Further, it was the warriors who were most hurt by
British fromtier policy, especially as it related to the sale of ammunition. The
Iroquois, particularly the western nations, had just renewed their old conflict with
the Indians of the Carolinas. To be told that ammunition would no longer be forth-
coming was almost more than the warriors could bear. It seemed just one more ex-
ample of English treachery, this time involving the use of the southern tribes as
a diversion while the English delivered the death blow in New York. This same rea-
soning may well have been stirred by British solicitation of the Great Lakes Indians,
many of whom had been occasional enemies of the Five Hations. On more than one oc-
casion, the Iroquais tried to disuade the English from developing a relationship
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with these people, but te no ava.il.zes

These perceptions of the postewar situation appear to have been accurate
enough. In 1763, in a report to the American military command, Johnson offered
four causes of the present Indian uprising, as given to him by the Iroquoiss
the war belts sent to the western Indians by the Frenchjy the "dearness of powder
& goods™; "ill treatment, and want of any Supplies from the garrisens"; and their
dislike of "our keeping many of the small posts which had been promised formerly
to be dostroyed“.z% Any one or a combination of these provocations would have
been sufficient to lead the Seneca to war with England. At home, the sachenms
were being discredited as ineffective leaders and as men in the British interest.
The Seneca, faced with serious external threats, sought to redefine leadership to
fit the occasion. In warrior leaders they found men willing to oppose the Enge
lish and protect the Seneca people. The Seneca and, to 2 lesser degree the Cayuga,
did not mexvely follow the lead of the Ottawa leader Pontiae. They allied them-
selves with the warring tribes for specific reasons rooted in the Iroquois ex=-
perience with the English both before, during, and after the French war,

The Seneca solution to the crisis did not, however, fully succeed. While the
1763 uprising did temporarily rid the west of military posts, and while the Eng-
lish, unable to take decisive military action, willingly agreed to a compromise
settlement, the war did not drive the English completely out of the west. Rec-
ognizing this fact, and their own limited resources, the western Seneca, with the

2850n Indien informant at Niagara told one of Johnson's agents that "it is
not oproper for the traders to go so far up the Lakes among strange Indians",
since trouble could result., See De Couagne to Johnson, Nisgara, May 26, 1763,

in Johnson Papers, Xy ppe G84=85.

286Joh.noon to Amherst, Johnson Hall, July 24, 1763, in Johnson Papers,

Xy Poe 754=55.
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prompting of their eastern brethren, negotiated a status quo agreement with the
British military. This uprising marked a watershed in Irequois-English relations.
After 1764, the Iroquois settled into a period of negotiations and accommodation,
Friction was never entirely removed from their dealings with the English and, on
many occasions, frontier commanders were seldm certain of the true sentiments of
the Five Wations. Indeed, in 1774 the Seneca, Cayuga, and Mingos again took up
arms in an effort to drive Virginia frontiersmen frem lands south and west of the
Ohio, in what became known as Lord Dunmore's War. In the ten year interrum, the
Iroquois, in an effort to preserve themselves intact against ever-increasing mune
bers of Englishmen, negotiated and gave ground when necessary. The most famous in-
stance of this was the Treaty of Fort Stanwix in 1768. At that meeting, the Five
Nations, in order to lessen the possibility of another war on the Ohio frontier,
caded the territory south of that river and east to the Appalachians to the crown
in exchange for a defined, and hopefully enforced, boundary between English and
Indian settlements., At that meeting, tho Five lations gave away the very lands and
disinherited the very Indians they had earlier agreed to protect. Further, the
Stanwix treaty represented the biggest ion of Iroquois territory at any time prior
to the Revolution. That land had been lost to the Iroquois' ancient ally, Eng-
land, By the time the Iroquois sat in council at Fort Stanwix, the Covenant Chain
and much that it represented had ceased to have much meaning to elther Iroquois or
Englishman,



CHAPTER VIII

IROWOIS POLITICS AND RELATIONS WITH THE ENGLISH,
1748 « 1764 SOME CONCLUSIONS

A study of Iroquois-English relations during the middle decades of the
eighteenth century makes clear a number of points concerning both Iroquois
politics and power and their relations with the colonies. These points help
clarify the nature of Iroquoia political processes and internal dynamics at
the time as well as the break-down of the Confederacy during and after the
Revolution. |

One of the more striking aspects of Iroquois-English relations after 1748
is that that relationship, typ)kified by the Covenant Chain and the pelicles
that supported it, were undergoing rapid, significant changes. While these
changes appear, on the surface, related to the equally rapid and significant
changes taking place in frontier relations between England and Frances in actu-
ality, the perception=z and attitudes that Iroquois and Englishmen held toward
each other were fundamental in influencing the direction of their relationship.
From the time of King George's War through the western uprising, the analysis
of one side's behavior and poiicd.os by the other had much to do with the rese
ponses that each made to the major crises of the period. Whether English pere
ceptions of Iroquois intentions and power on the Ohio or Great Lakes, or Iro-
quois assumptions about English goals and policles were in fact correct is less
important than that each side acted as if they were. The cumulative effects of
these actions and judgements was severe internal disruption and political change

for the Ivoquois, and a substantial loss of their former influence and power.
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By 1764, the Five Nations were living in a world that they could no longer con-
trol and one in which the patterns of internal politics and leadership had been
significantly altered.

Throughout the period, changes in British policy worked against the Iro=
quois and their ability to maintain control over their velations uitt; the col=-
onies. Recognizing in Iroquois inaction on the Chio an inability to deal ef=-
fectively with the growing crisis there, English officials determined to seek
direct influence in the region by negotiating directly with the local Indians.
Such a policy abrogated the time~honored concept of Five Nations dominance over
the so-called "hunters" of the Ohio Country. This dominance had, for nearly a
century, enabled the Iroquols to exercise great influence in English and French
councils by their ability to manipulate other Indians or police disputed regions.
Once the English discovered the advantages of direct negotiations with these Ine
dians, however, the significance of the Iroquois in British plans began to de=-
cline, Of even greater importance was the conguest of Canada in 1760. To the
English, such an event presented a grand opportunity to re-establish colonial
and Indian affairs on a more sound, more centralized, basis. With complete cone
trol over the west assured by the 1763 Treaty of Paris, the British government
in Anerica could proceed to reduce the colonies, and the Indians, to a systematic
level of obedience and order. In the schemes of Sir Jeffrey Amherst and Sir Wil-
lianm Johnson, the Irogquois, like other Indians, would be subordinated as merely
a part of the new empire.

¥hat the English saw as the unwillingness or inability of the Iroquois to
properly support the concepts of the Covenant Chain was in reality a manifesta=-
tion of changes then taking place within Iroquois soclety. These changes, in the
areas of politics and leadership, were the result of both inherently Iroguoian proe-
cesses and of Iroquols perceptions of English actions and intentions. Fearing
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that a new Anglo=-French war would lead to their destruction as a people, the
Five Netions tried, within the limits imposed on them by their political system,
to limit French and English actions on the Ohio. Thelr lack of success was due
primarily to the fact that the Buropean powers were no longer willing to abide
by the old rules of the diplomatic game on the frontier. This sudden alteration
in diplomatic realities on the frontier and the war it produced began to ag=-
gravate pree-existing friction within Irequeis soclety. That aggravation climax-
ed in the period from 1760 to 1764, as many Ivoquois determined to seek new solue
tions to the diplomatic revolution that had accompanied the defeat of France in
1760, That revolution robbed the Iroquois of the play-off system and severely
limited the options available to them in dealing with an expansive, increasingly
dangerous, Engnsh empire.

The internal political conflict that embroiled the Five Nations during and
after the Great War for Empire contained many elements that had persisted since
pre-contact times. The age=o0ld struggle between warrior groups and sachems, and
the jealousies between villages and nations were very much in evidence. Vhat
made this situation different, however, was that the new English policies, and
the new definition of the Covenant Chain that England was attempting to force on
the Iroquois, were creating problems such as the Five lations had not heretofore
experienced., 014 solutions could only deal imperfectly with new threats. As a
result, many Iroquois began to rethink the concepts of leadership and prevail-
ing responses to English policlies in an effort to construct a workable gystem
to replace the now defunct play-off system. The degree to which groups of Iro-
quois cttempted to alter thelr political system and policies toward England was
dictated primarily by the distance between them and the English and the degree
of acculturation of the Iroquois involved. Thus the Mohawk, with over a cene

tury of contact experience behind them, and living close to English settlements,
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developed responses that differed greatly from those created by the western
Seneca.

This internal political conflict over goals and leadership reveals somee
thing else of significance about the Iroquois. The responses of the 'ive Nations
to both internal and external crises were universally localized and marked by
considerable factionalism. While speakers in council continued to evoke the
concept of the League, that concept served primarily as a diplomatic mask to
cover the growing disunity within the Confederacy. Indeed, »whan conpared to
earlier periods in relations with the English, this disunity and localism appear
to have been the norm, not the exception. In this regard, the League appears
to have been a cultural, not political, expression. At no time during the peried
under discussion does there appear to have been a unified Iroqueis policy or
response to problems of politics at home or relations with England., In the face
of both internal and external crises, the Iroquois tended to develop responses
that reflected the imperatives of the village or interest group invelved, not
the Five llations as a whole. This goes far toward explaining the essentially
linited actions taken by the Iroquois on the Ohlio, and the variety of responses
to England's new frontier policy. It also helps explain why, after 1777, the Cone-
federacy, which hag'been traditionally viewed by historlans as a monolithic
organization, seems to have collapsed. Actually, the division of the Confederacy
into warring factions is not umisual when viewed in the context of Iroguois
internal affairs since the 1740s. Further, the reduction in Iroquois power on
the frontier and the limited options available to them after 1760 made a fractur-
ing even more likely. Unable to successfully recreate the old play-off system,
and faced with two warring groups determined to have the complete support of the
Five Nations, the Iroquois did the only thing possible under the circumstancess
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each nation or village went the way best suited for it. The fracturing of the
Confederacy was made more complete due to the loss of leaders and the effects
of severe internal eonflicts over policies and control of the decisione-making
process that the post=1760 period had unleashed,

By 1777, the Iroquois were already in a state of decline in terms of their
ability to control events and their own future. Problems with the English on
the frontier had led to internal unrest and distrust by many people of their
traditional leaders. Britain's new frontier policy reduced the necessity of
courting the favor of the Five lations and the need to support them against oute
side threats. The Iroquois ability to cope with changing circumstances was limite
ed both by the destruction of their own diplomatic system and their inability to
conceive that changes in that system were in fact possible. Forced into a period
of bargaining from an inferior position, the Iroquois contimued intaet until the
fevolution because they were still of use to the Lnglish and because they were
willing to compromise, albeit at the expense of other Indians, in order to fore-
stall English expansion into Iroquoia. The end came when the Five lations une
successfully attempted once again to use the play-off system, this time with Eng-
land and her rebellious colonies. The failure of that attempt led to civil war
and dispessession. The Revolution did not bring about the collapse of the Cone
federacy, it merely culminated a process that had been in effect for the previous

forty years.
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